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Historical Financial Trends
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Our Vision 2017 Quick Overview

To be the UK's premier

automotive retail group as £2 - 3 bn
recognised by our colleagues, Revenue
customers, business partners

and shareholders. To achieve
our vision we will create a £ 2 9 1 m
[ |

people centric culture, as .
Underlying Profit Before Tax

well as operate as retailers who

deliver retailing excellence

and are regarded as an 97 5 4 5 sy
_ iz

employer of choice. b 3%

New and Used Units Sold )

101 %
3,923
MM

Colieagues

AUTOMOTIVE
RETAIL EMPLOYER
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Marshall Motor Holdings is the seventh largest UK
motor dealer group. Since 2008 the Group has
restructured its dealership portfolio, operating 101
full retail franchised dealerships and representing
23 brand parlners across 26 counties,

In addition, the Group operates a number of
aftersales and used car eperaticns.
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Chairman’s Statement

Peter Johnson
Chairman

"We have taken significant steps o
prepare the Group for the future”

Introduction

| am delighted to present cur Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (the "Year™). Whilst
the market backdrop for the Year was a more challenging
one, the Group has strongly outperformed the UK car
market and we are pleased 1o be reporiing another record
set of results at both revenue and underiying profit before
tax (‘'underlying PBT'}*. We have also taken significant
steps to prepare the Group for the future.

Strategy

Since our PO three years ago, the Group has, in line with
its stated strategy, delivered material growth both
organically and through the acguisitions of SG Smith in
November 2015 and Ridgeway in May 2016.

In 2017 we focused on preparing for the next stage of the
Group's development and growth. The sirategic disposal
of our leasing business Marshall Leasing Limited {Marshall
Leasing’) in November 2017, for gross consideration of
£42.5m (before costs and expenses), combined with
ongoing portfolic management and the closwe of a
number of sub-scale, loss-making sites, has reduced our
cost-base, significantly strengthened our balance sheet
and enabled us to focus exclusively on our retail
businesses. As a result, we are well positioned {o continue
to deliver our future growth aspirations.

Rasulis
The Group has enjoyed another record year, delivering
19.5% revenue growth and 14 4% underlying PBT growdh.

Our net debt was effectively eliminated following the
disposal of Marshall Leasing and was £2.2m at
31 December 2017 (2016: E£119.0m). The Group's
significantly strengthened balance sheet remains
underpinned by £116.3m of freehold/long leasehold

property.

* underlying profit before 1ax is presenled extluding non-undetiying lems
(as sal oul in Nole 7)

Dividend

The Group's stated dividend policy is to maintain a
progressive dividend policy where dividends are coverad
between 4 to 5 times hy underlying eamnings. The Board
is, therefore, pleased to recommend a final dividend of
4.25p per share which, with the interim dividend of 2.15p
per share, gives a total dividend for the Year of 6.40p per
share (2016: 5.50p, up 16.4%).

if approved by shareholders at our AGM on 22 May 2018,
the final dividend will be paid on 25 May 2018 o
shareholders who are on the Company's register at close
of business on 27 April 2018.

AGM

Our annual general meeting will be held on 22 May 2018
and ! lock forward to meeting all shareholders who are able
to attend.

Cutiock

The Board nates the latest Society of Motor Manufacturers
and Traders (‘SMMT’) UK new car market forecasts for a
deciine of 5.6% in 2018. As a consequence the Board
therefore remains cautious aboul the UK car market in
2018 as it returns to a more normalised level. Our trading
performance in the current financial year to date is in line
with our expectations and our outloak for the full year
remains unchanged.

The Group has a strong brand mix, altractive geographic
territories and excellenl brand partner relationships and is
well placed to continue to outperform the UK new car
market. The siralegic disposal of Marshall Leasing aflows
the Group to focus on its core motor relail business.

Finally, | would like to thank the Board, the executive team,
our brand partners, business suppliers and colleagues
throughout the Group for their support during ancther
successful year.

Peter Johhson

Chairman
13 March 2018
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Operating Review

Daksh Gupta
Chief Executive
Offices

“The Group has delivered another
record result at both revenue and
undertying PBT"

“We have continued to outperform
the new and used UK retail
markets”

Overview

Since our IPO in April 2015, the Group has delivered
material and sustained improvements in its financial and
operational performance, Qur 2017 results continue this
excellent track record, benefitting from both continued
organic growth and the first full year contribution from the
Ridgeway acquisition which is now fully integrated.

During the Year, the Group also continued being proactive
in portfolio management, announcing the acquisition of
Leeds Volvo in June 2017, the disposal of Marshall
Leasing Limited in September 2017 and the closure of six
sub-scale, loss-making businesses in November 2017,

2017 was another successiul year for the Group:

+ Revenue up 19.5% to £2,3bn {2016: £1.9bn) with the
Group alsoe achieving like-for-like** revenue growth of
3.5%.

* Underlying PBT up 14.4% fo £29.1m (2016; £25.4m).

« Significant growth in underlying PBT in our retail
segment, up 20.8% 1o £34 5m (2016: £28.9m), driven by
a caombination of contribution from the Ridgeway
acquisition and continued organic growth.

o Like-for-like new unit vehicle sales to relail
customers outperformed the UK market.

o Excellent perfformance in used unit vehicle sales
with like-for-like unit sales outperforming the UK
market.

o Aftersales like-for-like revenue continued to grow,
up 2.3%.

** lika-for-like businesses are defined as those which Iraded under the
Group's ownership throughoul bolh the enlire year under review and
the coresponding comparalive year

* The disposal of Marshall L easing has enabled us to focus
exclusively on our UK motor retail operations as well as
further strengthening the Group’s balance sheet.

Qur continued outperfarmance of the UK new car retait
market in the Year was paricularly pleasing. In 2017 UK
new car registrations were 2.54m {including dealer and seif-
registrations), 5.7% lower than in 2016. Registrations {o
retail customers in 2017 were 6.8% lower than in 2016.
Against this market backdrop, we have conlinued to
outperform the retail market with our iike-for-like unit sales
to new retail customers in the Year 2.6% lower than in 2016.

The SMMT reported a used vehicle market decline of
1.1% in the Year, however, at 8.11m units this was still
the second highest market on record. Despite this
averall decline, the Group recorded a like-for-like growth
in used unit sates of 5.2%.

Strategy

The Group's strategic vision is to becorne the UK's premier
automotive Group and this remains central to everything
we do. Our five stralegic pillars which underpin that vision
are: class leading relums; putting our customers first;
delivering retailing excellence for the benefit of our
customers; being people-centric by focusing on employee
engagement; and pursuing strategic growth both
organically and through targeted acquisitions in line with
the Group's strategy.

Class leading returns

The Group's strategy of building a balanced brand
partfolio, in attractive geographic locations and with an
increased premium franchise mix, has assisted the
continuation of our strong track record in the face of a more
challenging market. Total new vehicle revenue grew by
18.6% (1.0% like-for-like} and total used vehicle revenue
grew 21.1% (7.0% like-for-like).

The completion of the integration of Ridgeway has also
enabled the Group lo access further benefits of scale
across a number of areas of the business including
improved commercial terms with suppliers and vehicle
stock management.

An important element of the Group's success continues to
be our strong and growing relationships with our brand
partners, many of which are reacting to a more challenging
market with a number of positive actions.

Aftersales continues 1o be a key focus of the Group and
our strong performance in recent years continued during
the Year, with tolal revenue growth of 20.0% (2.3% like-for-
like). We confinue to focus on maintaining high levels of
customer retention and repeat businass through the use
of service plans as well as investing in technical and
preduct training for our technicians.
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Customer first

The Group continues to enjoy high levels of customer
advocacy. In 2017, 42% of customers surveyed whe
visited our showrooms indicated that they were either
previous customers or were recommended to us.

The launch of the domain marshall.co.uk enabled us to
market ali Group stock, including those of 5G Smith and
Ridgeway, on one website for the first time, giving
customers increased choice with ¢.6,000 used vehicles
available online. In 2017, visits to our websile increased
materially and in December 2017 marshall.co.uk was the
fifth most visited franchised dealer group website in the UK
(Sotirce: Hitwise).

Retailing excellence
We continue to recognise the ever increasing importance
af investment in technology, aimed towards expanding the
Group's cusiomer base and improving our own internal
operaling efficiencies. We have continued to investin these
areas during the Year.

In addition to our website presence, we continue o drive
social media as a means of connecting with our customers.
As a resuM of this, | am delighted that during the Year we
received six awards including Most Influential Franchised
Dealer (Car Dealer Awards), Best Digital Initiative
(Automotive Management) and Best use of Social Media
(Automotive Management).

Our tablet-based enquiry management system has now
been successfully implemented across all sites and
provides both a seamless customer experience as well as
assisfing compliance in the marketing and saie of regulated
anciltary products.

Development of our intlernat systems also continued, with
extensive upgrades {0 our financial reporting system which
is now fully implemented across every site. This has
provided a number of enhanced features which have
improved the speed and quality of management information.

People-centric

The Group was pleased to have been ranked 22nd of the
Top 30 large emplayers based on The Great Piace lo Work
Institute’s 2016 survey.

We are also proud that during the Year we have, for the
eighth consecutive year been recognised by the Great
Place to Work Institute as a ‘great place to work' based on
colleagues surveyed during 2017. This is particularly
pleasing as the 2017 survey included over 1,200
calieagues from the former Ridgeway businesses for the
first ime and as such reinforces the importance of our
structured approach to the integration of new businesses
as part of our acquisition strategy. We loak forward to
receiving our final ranking for this survey.

We are now in the
second year of our
initiative to attract

new talent to the
industry and improve
the retention of sales
executives. As
previously reported, this
initiative includes providing

a guarantee of earnings
during the first year of
employment, alongside retention
bonuses and ongoing training and

support. Whilst we have further work to do

in this area, the resulls of this iniliative have
exceeded our expectations with a significant reduction in
sales executive colleague turnover. We are also pleased
that i has attracted talent from a wide variety of industry
backgrounds, not just the automotive industry, which we
expect to add strength and depth to our leams as wel as
improving our overall customer service.

Faollowing the succass of this programme, we are
expanding it to other job roles and these initiatives will
assisl us in identifying the future leaders of our business.

Categsry el

GREAT
PLACE
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-«)*\ \*
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Strategic growth
The Group's strategy is to grow scale with existing brand
partners in new geographical tenritories, as demonstraied
by the acquisitions of both SG Smith in 2015 and
Ridgeway in 2016.

During the Year we added thvee new franchises to our
portfolio in two lacations. n June 2017 we compleled the
purchase of Leeds Volvo followed by the opening in
December 2017 of a new Jaguar Land Rover dealership
in Newbury, a previously unrepresented territory for these
brands.
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Retail segment

Overview

During the Year, the retail segment conlributed an
underlying PBT before unallocated costs of £34.9m, a
growth of 20.8% from 2016.

Following the acquisition of Leeds Volvo, the opening of
Newbury Jaguar Land Rover and the recenlly announced
closures, the retail segment now cansists of 101 franchises
representing 23 brand partners trading in 26 counties.
In addition, the Group operates 5 trade parts specfalists,
3 used car centres, § standalone body shops and
1 pre-delivery inspection (PDI) centre. The Group operates
a balanced portfolio of volume, premium and allernate
premium brands including all of the top § premium brands.

The Group's divetse porlfolio means # represents
manufacturer brands accounting for 81.7% of all new
vehicle sales in the UK. This scale and diversified spread
of representation helps mitigate the effect of the cyclical
nalure of individual brand performance.

Acquisitions and disposals

During the Year, the Group acquired the business and
assels of Leeds Volvo for £0.1m. This acquisition further
strengthened the Group's position as the largest franchise
partner of Volvo Car UK by number of sites and was in line
with our stated stralegy to grow scale with existing brand
partners and extend our geographic footprint into new
regions. Our focus will remain on ensuring a strong
strategic and financial case for any opportunity. We have
further headroom o grow with all brand partners in what
we beliave, with market uncertainty ahead, will continue to
be a consolidating market.

n November 2017 the Board made the decision to close
five sub-scale, loss-making franchise dealerships and one
used car centre. Three of the franchise dealerships were
within close proximity to existing Group dealerships of the
same franchise which has enabled the Group to relain
some of the existing customer base, these were Honda
Mountsorrel, Nissan Boston and Vauxhall Welwyn Garden
Cily.

Two of the impacted businesses shared a sub-scale site
in Oxford with a high fixed cost base which was not
sustainable in the longer term. These were the Maserati
franchise and one of the Group's used car centres. The
final closure announced was Citroen Cambridge, being the
Group's oniy representation point with this particutar brand
partner.

In addition to the removal of these ioss-making franchises
and the cash realisation of associated working capital, the
closures will aliow management to give greater focus to
our remaining franchises.

Investment in new retail locations

During the Year, the Group conlinued its significant
investment in new refail locations with two key site
openings:

* In August 2017, we completed and opened a new Audi
dealership in Marsh Barton, Exeter, one of Europe's
largest motor retail parks. This investment has
significantly increased both used car and aftersales
capacity with 70 used vehicle display spaces and
14 aftersales bays. Total investment (including freehold
land) was £7.8m.

*» in December 2017, we opened our Newhury Jaguar
Land Rover dealership in a previously unrepresented
territory. Total investment (including long leasehold land)
was £10.9m.

Investment in existing businesses

The Group continues to invest in upgrading existing
businesses to enhance the customer experience, satisfy
brand requirements and increase sales and aftersales
capacilies. Upgrade and refurbishment investment during
the Year included:

» Salisbury  BMW/MINI: custorrer  experience
refurbishment and used vehicle sales extension.
+Bedford Land Raver. commencement of

redevelopment.

* Mercedes-Benz Bolton and Portsmouth: customer
experience upgrade, sales and aftersales.

« Grantham Nissan: customer experience upgrade.
* Peugeot — all sites: customer experience upgrades.

» Cambridge Volvo: relocation ta long leasehold premises
and upgrade to new Voivo standards,

+ Seat — all sites: customer experience upgrade.

« Newbury SKODA: relocalion to an existing freehold site.
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Twelve months ended 31 December 2017

Revenue Gross Profit
£m mix” £m mix
New Car 1.1¢6.5 S22 I
Used Car  =2e47
Aftersales 243 °
Internal 17 )

Total 2.231.7 100,09 258.0 100.0%
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New vehicles

One of the Group's key strengths is its balanced portiolio
of vokime, alternate premium and premium brands, This
balance is imporiant due to the cyclical nature of individual
brands. This has helped the Group outperform the overall
new car market in 2017 with premium and alternate

Growth
Total

Retail Units
Fleet Units
Total Units

Total Units

During the Year, the Group's retail new car unit sales
increased by 12.3%, benefitting from the full year impact
of the Ridgeway acquisition. Like-for-fike new retail units
declined by 2.6% which was a strong performance against
an averall UK new retail market decline of €.8%.

Like-for-like unit sales to fleet customers declined by 13.9%
versus an overal market decline of 4.7%, This
performance was, as expected, largely driven by a
commercial decision we took during the Year to withdraw
from certain low margin fieet business.

As has been widely reporled, sales of diesel vehicles have
been adversely impacled by consumer reaction around
emissions and uncertain future government policy. Diesel
registrations fell 17.1% during the Year (including
manufacturer registrations) across the UK market wilh
diesel registrations accounting for 42.0% of new car
registrations during the Year, down from 47.7% in 2016,

Used vehicles

Growth
Total LFL

171% 5

2017
44,237

2016
37,787

Duyring the Year, the Group's used car unit sales increased
by 17.1% (like-for-like 5.2%). This Is a particularly pleasing
performance when compared to an overall market decline
of 1.1% as reported by the SMMT.

The Group continues to focus on improving its online
presence lo drive used vehicle sales. This objective has
heen particularly successful as a result of the Group's
increased geographic footprint and enlarged stock pool
following the acquisitions of SG Smith and Ridgeway.

premium brands (which now account for over three
quarters of the Group's franchise portfolio) performing
more strongly than the overall market.

The cholce and availability of finance products for
consumers, Inciuding personal contract purchase ("PCP”),
continues to play an importani role in the new car market.
PCPs remain a popular method of financing new vehicle
purchases providing the certainty of a guaranteed future
value for the vehicle at the end of the contract. During the
Year, ¢.83% of customers purchasing new cars from the
Group on finance chose to do so using a PCP product. At
31 December 2017 the Group had 67,458 active PCP
customers. PCPs are also beneficial to the Group as they
create a defined point of renewalpurchase/
replacement and we actively manage the renewal process
to ensure customers are retained with the Group.

Used car revenues showed growth of 21.1% (iike-for-lke
7.0%) driven by a strengthening premium brand mix with
higher average sefling prices. Gross margin at 6.9% was
marginally below 2016.

We continue o control our stock appropriately to meet
demand and our 56 day slocking policy encourages
accelerated stock turn, leading to higher sales volumes
and reduced residual value risk.

As we have seen over recent years in the new car market,
PCP as a method of financing a vehicle purchase has
increased in the used car market. During the Year, ¢.58.0%
of the Group’s used vehicles purchased on finance were
purchased using a PCP product versus ¢.55.0% in 2016,
frequently with service plans included. This also provides
further aftersales opportunities,
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STRATEGIC REPORT
Aftersales
Growth

Tofal LFL

2U00000

2016

2026

2017

During the Year, the Group's aftersales revenues increased
by 20.0% (like-for-like 2.3%).

in addition to our retall centre based aftersales facilities,
the Group now operates five standalone bodyshops, five
trade parts centres and one PD! centre. Aftersales
contributes 44.2% of total retall gross profit and therefore
makes a significant financial contribution to the Group
which is important in the context of a more cyclical new car
market.

Aftersales business is driven by the Group in a variety
of ways:

» strong growth in new and used vehicle sales over recent
years has Increased the Group’s customer-base, many

Leasing segment

On 21 September 2017 the Group announced the strategic
disposal of Marshall Leasing o N.i.L.B. Group Limited
(rading as Northridge Finance) for gross cash
consideration of £42.5m. The disposal completed on
24 November 2017.

The leasing and fleet management market continues ta
consolidate and the Board considered that scale was
becoming increasingly important to underpin the capital
Intensive nature of the business model. The disposal

of whom return to our dealerships for the ongoing care
and maintenance of thelr vehicles;

« used vehicle sales, and in particular those purchased on
PCPs with senvice plans, also drive future aftersales
business with used wvehicles requiring additional
aftersales sarvices (e.g. MOT tests);

+ wa offer service plans to customers of both new and used
vehicles which allow customers to plan and budget for
sarvice costs and also drives repeat visits to our
dealerships and helps us develops longer term customer
relationships. At 31 Becember 2017 the Group had over
77,000 live sesvice plans;

* custorner service is cruciat in ensuring customer retention
and we moenitor customer feedback throughout the
business on a weekly basis and customer satisfaction is
built into all of our operational pay plans.

As a result of these factors, gross margin at 46.9%
improved in the Year, up from 45.6% in 2016,

allows the Group to focus exclusively on its UK motor retail
operations, a segment which the Board believes continues
1o offer attractive opportunities for future growth,

As part of the transaction, the Group entered into an
operating agreement with Northridge Finance for the
ongoing supply of new vehicles. We are pleased to have
this opportunity as we anticipate that under new ownership,
Marshall i.easing will continue to grow its leasing fleet,
providing an increased opportunity 1o the Group.

Summary

The Group has praduced another record set of results at
both revenue and underlying PBT, building on our strong
historical performance. In the face of a more challenging
new car market, the Group has continued to show
progress in like-forlike performance, has integrated recent
acquisitions, restructured the balance sheet following the
disposal of Marshall Leasing and closed six subscale, loss
making businasses. This leaves the Group well positioned
for the future.

in whatis now my 10th year with the Group, | would like to
take this opportunity to thank our colleagues, Board
members, brand and business partners for their hard work
and support and | look forward to continuing to work
together in 2018.

Daksh Gupta
Chief Executive Officer
13 March 2018
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Financial Review

Mark Raban
Chief Financial
Officer

"Net assets 247p per share, up 31%”
“Net debt £2.2m, reduced by £116.8m"

Group results

Revenue £2 . 3bn

Group revenue increased by 19.5% to £2,268.9m (2016:
£1,899.4m) benefiting from the first full year contribution
from Ridgeway which was acquired in May 2016. In
addition to contributions from acquisitions, | am delighted
to report that like-for-like retail revenue atso showed growth
of 3.5%. Like-for-like revenues in new vehicle sales to retail
customers, used vehicle sales and aftersales all recorded
growth during the Year.

Total gross margin at 11.7% was 8 basis points above the
same period last year {2016: 11.6%). The Group
experienced underlying margin pressure in the
discontinued leasing segment but this was more than
offset by margin growth in the continuing retail segment.
Against the background of a more challenging market, |
am pleased to report further margin growth in both new
vehicles and aflersales.

Tolal operating expenses of £240.7m were 25.8% higher
than the same period last year, primarily driven by the
impact of acquisitions and non-underlying items. As
anticipated, our retail segment operating overheads on a
like-for-like basis grew by 5.4% as the Group faced
incremental structural cost pressures in a number of areas
such as business rates and transaction processing costs.

Total underlying PBT at £29.1m (2016: £25.4m) was
14.4% ahead of the previous year.

The Group's continuing operations showed an underlying
PBT growth of 23.7% which represented another record
year. The discontinued leasing segment defivered a PBT
of £3.7m in the 11 month period to completion of the
disposal in November 2017 (full year 2016: £4.9m).

The unallocated segment consists principally of
administrative and asset management funclions.
Underlying central operating costs of £9.6m (including

interest) were, as expected, £1.1m higher than in 20186.
This was largely driven by additional infrastructure
investment and the full year impact of increased
financefinterest costs foliowing the acquisition of Ridgeway
{see finance costs section below),

Non underlying items
Non

underlying
items

The disposal of the leasing segment generated a one-off
gain of £36.9m after all transaction costs and provision far
the settlemant of certain historic pension liabilities.

In addition, the Group incurred net non-underlying costs of
£12.8m (2016: £3.2m). These included a £6.8m charge
related tc the closure of five franchised dealerships and one
used car ceptre announced in November 2017 (including
£2.1m non-cash asset impairment charges), Alsc included
in non-underlying items is a £6.0m post-retirament benefits
charge, representing an estimale of the Group's costs to
cease participation in a defined benefit pension scheme; one
of several outcomes being considered by the Group as part
of a wider strategic review of pension arrangements in the
light of the disposal of Marshall Leasing. See Note 34
‘Pensions’ for further details.

These non-underlying items are presented separately on
the face of the income statement and are excluded from
underlying PBT.

Finance costs

Finance £6.96
costs £8.1m 20.9m

2004

Finance costs of £8.1m were, as expected, £1.2m higher
than in 2016, driven by increased full year costs associaled
with drawings under the Group’s reveiving credit facility {(in
connection with the Ridgeway acquisition) and increased
stock funding charges. These additionat costs include
amortisation of arrangement fees and non-ulilisation
charges. We expect finance costs to reduce in 2018
following the disposal of Marshall Leasing.

Taxation

Underlyi 0
Undertying 18 19,

Being sensitive to the impact of gains and charges
associated with acquisitions, disposals and reslructuring, at
7.1% (2016: 19.9%), the effeclive tax rate (ETR) on total
reported eamings benefited materially from the one-off, non-
taxable gain relating to the disposal of Marshall Leasing.

The underlying ETR was 18.1% (2016: 20.3%). The rate
benefited from non-recurring, prior year adjusiments, in
2018 in the underlying ETR is expecied lo 7etun to
historical levels.
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Full details of the Group's tax governance framework can
be found in the Group's tax strategy which is available on
the Group's website at:

hittp:/Mrww.mmhplc.comifinvestors/corporate-governance.

Acquisitions

£0.1m

Continuing the Group's strategy of expansion with existing
brand pariners in new geographic territories, during the
Year the Group completed the acquisition of Leeds Volvo
for £0.1m, further strengthening its position as the largest
franchise pariner of Volve Car UK by number of sites.

Disposal of discontinued operation
Gross  £42 5m Fni
proceeds ) -

On 21 September 2017 the Group announced the strategic
disposal of Marshalf Leasing to N.I.I.B. Group Limited
{which trades as Northridge Finance), a wholly owned
subsidiary of Bank of ireland (UK) plc. Following regulatory
approval from the Financial Conduct Authority, the
transaction completed on 24 November 2017.

Total spend

As well as further strengthening the Group's balance shest,
the disposal allows the Group to focus on its core motor
retall business and to continue the Group's successful
strategy of driving both organic growth and increasing its
UK geographic footprint through targeted acquisitions with
existing brand pariners.

The gross cash consideration for the disposal was £42.5m
before costs and expenses which has been used initially
to reduce levels of indebtedness. The net assets of
Marshall Leasing on disposal were £2.3m.

The Group incurred £1.8m of transaction costs in relation
to the disposal, including the seitlement of long term
management incentives for certain senior employses of
Marshall Leasing.

Net debt
S119.0m

£2.2m
it
The Group's balance sheet Is strong and has sighificant
capagcity to support continued growth. The Group had total
net assets of £191.2m (2016: £145.7m) which equates to
247p per share as at 31 December 2017 (2016: 188p per
share).

Net debt

The Group incurred £24.4m of retail capital expenditure
during the Year (2016: £28.8m). | am pleased to report that
two major fresholdflong leasehold developments opened
on time and on budget during the second half of the Year.
These were Audi Exeter and a new Jaguar Land Rover

deaiership at a new franchise point in Newbury. 2018 will
be the final year of our three-year £75m retail capital
expenditure programme.

Total inventory at 31 December 2017 was £401.3m
(2016: £380.0m) of which £380.8m was subject to vehicle
funding arrangements (2016: £364.7m).

At 31 Dacember 2017, the Group had net debt of £2.2m
(2016: £119.0m). In addition 1o the significant positive cash
flow from the disposal of Marshall Leasing, the Group
continued to focus on all aspects of working capital control,
driving a positive cash flow from reduced levels of working
capital during the Year. The significant reduction in net debt
leaves the Group well positioned to pursue further growth
opportunities and {0 respond appropriately to more
challenging market conditions.

Importantly, the disposal of Marshall Leasing has materiatly
reduced the Group’s exposure to vehicle residual value
risks during a peried of more challenging market
conditions.

Our £120m three year banking facility was put in place
during May 2016 for general corporate purposes including
acquisitions and working capital requirements. This facility
was undrawn at 31 December 2017. During the Year, the
Group exercised an option to extend the facility for a further
year to 2020. The Group has a further option in May 2018
to extend the fadility for a further twelve menths.

Dividends

Dividends

per share 6'40p

The Board is delighted to recommend a final dividend of
4.25p (2016: 3.70p) per share which, together with the
interim dividend of 2.15p (2016: 1.80p) per share, gives a
total dividend for the Year of 8.40p (2016: 5.50p).

It appraved by shareholders, the dividend will be paid on
25 May 2018 to shareholders who are on the Company's
register at close of business on 27 April 2018.

The Board intends to maintain a progressive dividend
policy whereby dividends are covered between 4 to 5 times
undetlying eamings and paid in an approximate one-third
(interim dividend) and two-thirds (final dividend) split. The
retained eamings of the Company at 31 Decamber 2017
of £70.1m (2016: £19.7m) are considered sufficient for the
payment of future dividends in line with the Group's

M) R

Mark Raban
Chief Financial Officer
13 March 2018
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group faces a range of risks and uncertainties. The processes that the Board has eslablished to safeguard both
shareholder value and the assets of the Group are described in the Corporate Governance report.

Set cut below are the principal risks and uncertainties the Directors believe could have the most significant adverse
impact on the Group's business, together with the principal controls in place to mitigate those risks. The risk trend
column indicates the Board's view on whether, from a Group perspective taking into account mitigating actions, these
risks have increased, remained relatively stable or decreased over the past 12 months, The risks and uncertainties
described below are not intended to be an exhaustive list.

STRATEGY
AND
BUSINESS
RELATIONSHIPS

PEOPLE O(" '
® .. ECONOMIC .
AAAR politoaL

Miarskiall

s Motar Holdings ple

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties

ENVIRONMENTAL
’ o AND:
| 'HEALTH & SAFETY

!
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Risk Area

Potential Impact

Mitigation/Controls Risk Trend

STRATEGY AND BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS

Failure to adopt the
right business
strategy and/or
failure to implement
strategy
successiully

Manufacturer
Relationships

Fallure to Integrate
acquisitions
successfully

Disruption to
franchise business
model

The Group misses ils financial
targets or is unable to invest in
its businesses

Reduction In confidence of key
stakeholders {shareholders,
brand pariners, lenders,
employees}

Poor investment decisions/
failure 1o achieve largeted
invesiment retumns

Failure, or downtumn in
performance, of manufacturer
pariners impacting vehicle sales
and profilability of those
franchises

Fallure to maintain good relations
with manufacturers impacting
revenue and profitability

Loss of a franchise leading to a
reduction in revenue and
profitability and the rsk of vacant
properties and/or onerous leases

Poor manufacturer relationships

impacting acquisition and/or
grawth apporiunities

Loss of key personnel/cusiomers

Brand partner relationshlp
damage

Reduced financial performance
of acquired businesses

Fallure to achieve targeled
synergies

Damage to manufacturer and/or
customer relationships

Allernative business models
impacting franchised dealer
model

Direct sales channels
circumventing franchised dealers
Revenues and profils may fall
due to competitor action
‘Mobility as a service’ lsading to
reduced private vehicle
ownership

Electric and alternative fuel
vehicles leading to a decline in
sales for traditional vehicle
mantifacturers and/or reduced
demand for aftersales services

Annual strategy review by the Board I
Monthly reporting and monitoring of key financial L
information and performance

Detailed business planning and due diligence prior lo
potentia j

Review of capital expenditure plans 1o ensure our

relurn on capital objectives are achievable

Capilal investment appraisal process wilh Board

review of major investments

Diversity of franchises mitigates the cyclical nature

of, and an over reliance on individual vehicle brands

Focus on efficient use of working capital

Ongoing portfolic management focused on | |
strengthening key franchise ralationships/divestiment NS
of non-core businesses

Diverse franchise representation avoids over reliance

on any single manufaclurer

Close contact and regutar review with manufacturers
({through CEQ, Operaltions, Commerclal and
Franchise Directors) to ensure our respsective goais
are communicated, understood and aligned

Detailed business planning and due diligence an
polential acquisitions

Integration plan developed prior to acquisition and
implemented i a Uimely manner thereafter

Group-wide single dealer management platform and
Phoenlx management system implemented
immediately after acquisition

Implementation of Group policies and procedures.

Internal Audit verification of successhd
implementation of Group processes post-acquisition

Ongolng development of customer experience to
ensure the Group maintains a competitive advantage
IT developments to maintain competitive advantage
(e.g. development of website/Phoenix management
syslem)

Maintaining close relationships with manufacturer
partners fo ensure each party's mutual aims are
achieved

Partnering with brands who are responding
eflectively lo the cleaner technology agenda
Connecled car fechnology reinforces link between
customers and manufaclurers through franchised
dealers

Annual strategy review
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Risk Area Potential Impact

Mitigation/Controls Risk Trend

ECONOMIC AND POLITICAL

Increased inflation and faling consumer
confidence leading lo lower vehicle

fes/margins and a reduction in
revenue and profitability

Reduction in used vehicla values
Impacling stock values

Weakaning sterfing impacting new
vehicle prices and sales

Manufacturers’ focus on Lhe UK
auvtomotive retail market may dedine
leading to reduced oufput and sales

Deterioration in
economic conditlons/

{including deterioration
driven by UK decislon
to leave the EU)

Interest rale rises impacling availability
and affordability of vehicle finance
leading lo reduced vehicle sales

Increased costs of serviding the
Group's borrowings

Rise In interest rates

Increased operating and non-
controllable cosls {e.g. employment
costs, Apprenlice Levy, business rate
changes, IT and marketing costs)
impacting profitability

Increased QOperating
Costs

Monitoring of economic condilions with appropriate
actions

Stock management & monitoring (56 day stocking
policy) with appropriately prudent financlal provisions

Mainlaining ciose relationships with manufacturers

Monitoring of interesl rates

Malerial reduction In Group's debt following sale of
Marshall Leasing

Stock control and working capital policy

Increased costs monitored and forecast in budgets.

Cost reduciion initialives tc offset siruciural cost
Increases

FINANCE AND TREASURY

Liquidity & credit Credit avallability/withdrawal of
financing faciliies Impacting trading

abliity

Breach of covenants or inability lo meel
dett obligations

Increased stock funding cos!s

Fluctuations in used vehicla values
adverssly impacling the value of the
Group's vehicle inventory

Vehlcle resldual values
volatllity

‘Working capital management 3 cash flow monitoring
Commilted RCF and vehicle stocking facilities
Maintalning strong relationships with funders

Disposal of Marshall Leasing reduced Group
Indebledness

Stock managerent & manitoring (56 day stocking
policy)
Risk reduced foliowing disposal of Marshall Leasing

LEGAL AND REGULATORY

Non-compliance with key legal and
regulatory codes (FCA, VOSA, ICO,
eic.) feading lo fines, litigation,
authorisation suspension and/or
reputational damage

Lagal & Regulatory
Changes and
Campllance

Regitatory Intervention inlo the market
{e.9. FCA motor finance review) may
impact operations

Regulatory changes lollowing the UK's
depariure from the EU which may
adversely impact the relail automative
market

Group policies and procedures o minimise risk of
non-compfiance

Training and development of employees

FCA retail and oversight committees o monitor
compllance

New Head of Compfiance appointed
Internat Audit depariment strengthensd

Monitoring of regulatory announcements/market
tudies lo potential ch and modifying
operations to adapt to any implemented changes

Maintaining close refationships with manufacturer
partners to assess indicators of change o thelr
operaling methods and/or UK market focus
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Risk Area Potential Impact

© ENVIRONMENTAL AND HEALTH & SAFETY

Fallure to ensure colleagues and
cuslomers safe places of wark
jeading to accidents, liigation,
fines and regulatory intervention

Non-compiance with
environmental laws &
regulations leading to fines,
penalties and compensation and
clean-up cosis and disruption to
operations

Environmental and
Health & Safety

Fallure of key IT Loss of key information systems,

systams downlime and business
interruption
Cyber Security Potential to corrupt, affect or

destroy key systems and data
(emaeil, DMS & customer
records), denial of service
attacks and business interruption
leading to lost revenus

Mitigation/Controis Risk Trend

Group health & safety policies and procedures to

promote safe places of work [
EHAS audit programme across Group.
Regular inspection of planl and equipment

New and expanded Health & Safety team monitors
compliance and promotes a health and safety helps
culture

Wasle management procedures and employee
lradning

Envircnmental due diligence for new site acquisitions
with appropriale environmental insurance in place
for higher risk sites

In-house IT leam monitors systems and implements
upgrade programmes
Contingency and disaster recovery plans in place

IT steering commitles and IT risk register maintained
to monitor risk

Ongoing invesiment in IT infrastructure maintenance
and upgrade

Unified threat management - Firewal installed

Clear profocols/policies in place regarding use and
access to the Group’s IT systems

Anti-virus software installed on all computers to
reduce risk of viral infections

PEOPLE

Failure to attract,
develop, motivate
and retain key
employees

Loss of key personnel and
skilted workers (e.g. tachnicians)
impacling operational
performance, and relationships
with key brand partnets and
suppliers

Appropriate remuneration packages which reward
performance and long term Incentiva plans for senior
employees

Guaranieed eamings scheme for new sales staff to
assist recruitment and retention

Promotion of "Great Place to Work™ culiure
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Board of Directors

. Daksh Gupta | Chief Executive Officer

Daksh has over 25 years’ experience in the auvtomolive retail
sector and joined the Company in 2008 as ils Chief Execulive
Officer. Daksh was a franchise director for Inchcape for seven
years where he was responsible for the Volkswagen, Audi and
Mercedes-Benz brands. Daksh also served as Chief Operating
Officer of Accident Exchange Group plc and prior la joining the
Group was Group Managing Director for Ridgeway Group, Daksh
was a director of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited until 2
April 2015 and is vice chairman of the UK autemolive industry
charity, BEN.

. Francesca Ecsery | Non-Executive Director

Francesca has over 20 years’ directorship experience in bolh blue
chip companies and stan-ups in the digital, retail, fast-moving
consumer geeds (FMCG) and leisure industries. She is a Harvard
MBA, fNuent in five languages and has special expertise in
multi-platform  consumer marketing, branding and commercial
sirategies. Francesca is also non-executive direclor of listed
companies Foreign & Colonial Investment Trust plc and Share plc
and also of Lopistk Holdings Limited. She was a non-execulive
director of Gpod Energy Group Plc unlil December 2017. Her
previous executive experience includes McKinsey, Pepsi Co,
ThornEM!, Thomas Cook, STA Travel and many other consumer
brands. Francesca was appointed lo the Board in March 2015.

3. Christopher Sawyer | Non-Executive Director

5.

From 1991 to 2006, Chrislopher led Dellron Electronics plc which
was quoted in 1996 and sold to ABACUS Electronics Plc in 2006.
In 2007, Chrislopher became chainman of the Lorien Limiled
group. Between 2006 and 2013, he was chairman of the parent
of Bearmach Limited, a global distributor of Land Rover parts.
Christopher has been a non-execulive director of Marshall of
Cambridge (Haldings) Limited since 2008 and currently chairs és
audil committee. Christopher was appointed to he Board an
2 Apiil 2015 as & nominated director of Marshall of Cambridge
{Holdings) Limited.

Stephen Jones | Company Secretary

Stephen is a pracising Solicilor and spent eight years as a
corporate lawyer at Eversheds LLP. He also spent eight years as
Group Counsel and Company Secrelary at Automotive and
tnsurance Solutions Group Plc. Siephen joined the Company in
March 2015.

Peter Johnson | Non-Executive Chairman

and Chair of the Nominations Committee

Peler has over 40 years’ experience in the automolive sector,
spending 30 years in senior roles It retai! and distribution with the
Rover Group, Marshall and Inchcape pic where he was Chief
Execulive between 1999 and 2005. Peter served on the Buna plc
board from 2006 {0 2015 as ils senior independent direclor and
Chairman of its Remuneration Commiltee. He also chaired Rank
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plc from 2007 to 2012 and served on the Wates Group Limiled
board from 2003 to 2013. Peter was a non-executive Direclor of
Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited until 2 April 2015. Peter
is the current Chairman of the Retail Motor Industry Federation
and president of the UK automotive industry charity, BEN.

. Alan Ferguson | Senlor Independent Director

and Chair of the Audit Committee

Alan is & non-execulive direclor of Johnson Matlthey PLC, Croda
International Ple and, until April 2018 when he will retire from the
Board, The Weir Group Plc. He chairs the audit committees of
each of these companies and is the Senior Independent Director
of Johnson Mallhey. Alan was chief financia! officer and a director
of Lonmin Plc unlil December 2010, prior to which he was group
finance director of the BOC Group plc. Alan spent 22 years in a
variety of roles al Inchcape ple, including six years as ils group
finance director from 1999. Alan is a chartered accountant and
sils on the Business Policy Pane! of the Institute of Charlered

Accountants of Scotland. Alan was appointed to the Board in
March 2015.

. Mark Raban | Chlef Financial Officer

Mark has 25 years' of general retail experience, including three as
the finance director of Inchcape Retail Limited. He spent three
years as Chief Financial Officer for the UK and Ireland at Borders
Group and was the interim financial direclor al Selfridges Retail
Limited. Mark has aiso held senior finance roles at public
companies such as Safeway and Burton. Mark was appointed as
Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 2 April 2015,
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8. Christopher Walkinshaw | Non-Executive Director

Christopher joined Marshall of Cambridge {Heldings) Limited in
1983 and has worked in all of lhe principal Marshall busiriésses,
including Marshall Aerospace, Marshall Land Systems and, from
1894 to 2011, Marshall Motor Heldings. Christopher joined the
senior team in Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Ltd in 2011 and
has responsibility for external relations and communications.
Christépher is Ghairman ef Fe Regional Employers Engagemierit
Group for lhe Easl Arglian Raserve Forces' arid Gadets'
Assaciation, Chairman of Ne. 104 (City of Cambridge) Squadren
Air Cadets, a director of the Cambridgeshire Chambers of
Commerce, a Truslee of the Addenbrooke’s Charilable Trust and
a Member of Anglian Learning. Ghrislopher was appointed to the
Beard on. 12 July 2016 as ‘a nominated director of Marshall of
Cambridge (Holdings) Limited.

. Sarah Dickins | Non-Executive Director

and Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Sarah has over 20 years' HR experience across a broad range of
seclors including retail, utilities and financial services. She spant
16 years at Asda, five of those years as an operating board
member responsible for people operations and customer service
for 150,000 colleagues. Sarah joined Provident Financial Group
in 2012 as Execulive Peopie Direclor before becoming Group
People Director at Bourne Leisure Limited in 2015. Sarah was
appointed to the Board in March 2015.
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Directors’ Report

The Direclors present their annual report an the affairs of the Group, together with the financial statements and independent
auditor's report, for the year ended 31 December 2017 (the “Year").

Principal Activities

The principat activity of the Company is that of a holding company. The principal activily of its subsidiary undertakings is
the sale and servicing of passenger cars and commercial vehicle and associated activities. Until the disposal of Marshall
Leasing Limited in November 2017, the Group was also engaged in the business of leasing vehicles.

Resuits and Dividends

The results for the Year are set out in the Group incorne statement. The Direclors recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 4.25p per ordinary share to be pald on 25 May 2018 lo shareholders who are on the Company's register at
clase of business on 27 April 2018.

Business Review and Future Developments
The review of the business and likely future developments is included within the Strategic Reporl. This also includes details

of acquisitions, disposals and growth plans for the fulure.

Going Concern

After making appropriate enquiries, the Direclors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources
to continue in opesational existence for the foreseeable future and for at least one year from the date of these financial
statements. For these reasons, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of these financial

statements.

Directors
Details of the current directors are set out on pages 28 to 29. The directors who served during the Year and subsequentiy

are detailed below.

Current Directors - Non-Execulive Direclors
Peter Johnson

Alan Ferguson

Sarah Dickins

Francesca Ecsery

Christopher Sawyer

Christopher Walkinshaw

Executive Directors
Daksh Gupta
Mark Raban

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Gompany adopted on 12 March 2015 (the “Articles”), Daksh Gupta
will retire by rotation and offer himself for reappointment at the annual general meeting to be held on 22 May 2018
{the "AGM").

The interests of the Direciors and their immediate families in the share capital of the Company, along with details of
Directors share options and awards, are contained in the Direclors’ Remuneration Repori on pages 44 to 50.

Share Capital
The authorised and issued share capital of the Company, together with the details of shares issued during the Year are
shown in Note 30 to the financial statements. The issued share capital of the Company at 31 December 2017 was

77,392,862 ordinary shares of 64p each,

Substantial Shareholdings
As at 9 March 2018, the Company had been notified of interests in excess of 3 per cent in the Company's share capital

by the following shareholders:

Percentage of Existing
Name Number of Qrdinary Shares Ordinary Shayes Held
Matrshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited 50,390,625 65.11%
Union investments and Development Limited 7.005,839 9.05%
Schroders plc 3,907,275 5.05%
Polar Capital LLP 3,087,900 3.99%
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Share Option Schemes
Details of empiloyee share option schemes are set out In the Remuneration Committee Report and in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Charitable and Political Donations
During the Year, the Group made the following charitable donalions during the year: £14,000 (2016: £51,000).

No political contributions were made during the Year (2016: £nil).

Disabled Employees

The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the candidate’s particular
aptitude and abilities are consistent with adequately meeting the requirements of the job. Opportunities are available to
disabled employees for training, career devslopment and promotion. Whera existing employees become disabled, it is the
Group's policy to provide continuing employment wherever practicable in the same or an alternative position and to provide
appropriate training to achieve this aim.

Employee invoivement

During the Year the policy of providing employees with information about the Group has been continued through the
newsletters *"Marshall Matters’ and ‘Compliance Matters’, team briefings and through our global email network. Regular
mesetings are held between local management and employees to allow a free flow of information and ideas. We also
participate in the Great Place to Work Institute's employee engagement programme. Further details are set out in the
Comorate Social Responsibility Section of this Annual Report. ’

Anti-Bribery and Corruption

The Group has in place an anti-bribery and corruption policy, the aim of which is to ensure that colleagues understand
their obligations under anti-bribery legislation and includes authorisation and disclosure procedures around the provision
and receipt of corporate hospitality and gifts.

Disclosure of Information to Auditer

In so far as each of the persons who were Directors at the date of approving these financial statements is aware:

+ There is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

« Each director has taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the auditor is aware of that.

Auditor
A resolution to appoint Ernst & Young LLP as auditor will ba put to the members at the AGM.

AGM .
Notice of the AGM to be held on 22 May 2018 is set out at the end of this Annual Report. The resolutions proposed at the
AGM are summarised as follows:

Resolution 1 — Receiving the annual report and accounts for the year ending 31 December 2017

All quoted companies are required by law {o lay their annual accounts before a general meeting of the Company, {ogather
with the directors’ reports and auditors’ report on the accounts. At the AGM, the directors will present these documents to
the shareholders for the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

Resolution 2 — Declaration of dividend

This resclution concemns the Company's final dividend payment. The directors are recommending a final dividend of 4.25p
per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 which, If approved, will be payable on 25 May 2018
to the shareholders on the register of members on 27 April 2018

Resolution 3 — Re-appointment of Director
Daksh Gupta will retire by rotation and offer himself for reappointment at the AGM in accordance with the Articles

Rasolution 4 — Re-appointment of the Auditor

This resolution concerns the re-appointment of Emst & Young LLP as auditor until the conclusion of the next general
meeting at which accounts are laid

Resoiution 5 — Auditor's remuneration
This resolution authorises the Directors to fix the auditor’s remuneration

By order of the Board

Stephen Jones .
Company Secrel
13 March 2018
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Corporate and Social Responsibility

Community
Strving lo have a pasitive impact on
the: communitios nowhich we serve

o

MARSHALL MAKING A DIFFERENCE

Qur values are incredibly important to us as they determine
how we should all behave. We encourage colleagues i
help us make a difference and stand out from the crowd,

Whilst our focus is creating an environment where
colleagues enjoy coming to work and help us lo meet our
business objectives, we also believe it is imporiant to give
back to our communities and the environment in which we
live.

Group Giving

We have been actively involved in supporting and raising
awareness for the Motor and Allied Trades Benevelent
Fund {'BEN') — since 1984, BEN is the UK’s dedicated
charity for those who work, or have worked, in the
automotive and related industries, as well as their
dependants. In that time, we have raised around £800,000
which includes the generous donations our colleagues
make via payroll giving. In 2017 we raised £54,398 for BEN.

Qur Chairman, Peter Johnson, has been president of BEN
since October 2016 and CEO, Daksh Guplta, became a
trustee and Vice Chairman in October 2012,

For the second year running we have run ‘BEN Week’
which coincides with BEN's Industry Leaders Challenge.
This year, one of our Franchise Directors joined a leam of
Jaguar Land Rover colleagues 1o swim the English Channel
which raised £214,000. To supponrt this, during the week
leading up 1o the chalienge every Marshal) business did
something o raise money. Colleagues dressed up, ook
part in sporting challenges and other fun activilies to help
raise money for BEN. This was a tremendous teambuilding
aopportunity for colleagues and was alsc a way of
carmnecting with our customers.

Whilst supporting BEN remains close to our hearts, giving
colleagues the opportunity to get invelved with other goad
causes is equally important.

We have supported the Macmillan Colfee Mornings for
rany years which enables our businesses to gel involved
at a local level, bringing colleagues and customers together.
We have raised over £111,000 for Macmillan over this
peried,

We also suppatt national initiatives such as Red Nose Day;,
Children in Need, Wear it Pink for Breast Cancer and
Christmas Jumper Day for Save the Children. Each
dealership determines how they are going to support these
events. This generally involves having a lot of fun and
getting customers involved. For example, coming to work
in fancy dress or taking part in a sporting challenge.

L.ocal Giving

We encourage our colleagues to get involved with local
causes which support the communities in which they work.
By way of example, our Jaguar Land Rover Ipswich
dealership is supporting a local project called Huddl which
supports local people facing challenges with parenting.

'Services in the Community’ is one of the calegories
racognised as part of cur Marshall Achievement, Values
and Teamwork Awards.

People

. Hecugising bat
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Colteagues
Committed to altractiing, coveloping and

business fornward in hne with our values

MARSHALL PEOPLE

Our Values

We seek to ensure our values are at the forefront of
everything we do. We encourage colleagues to uphoid
these values and behave in a way that brings them to life
and supports our culture of being a great place to work,
delivering first class customer service.

Recruiting, retaining and developing our pecple

We have a clear Colleague Value Proposition to attract the
best talent and support our strategy to be an employment
destination. We use a range of tools and assessment
methods to ensure we racruit people who can deliver their
objeclives in line with our values and business strategy.

Every new colleague experiences a thorough induction
programme which incorporates our history, values, aims
and objectives as well as a structured programme of
training and coaching relevant to their role, the brand and
the team.

Qur dedicated team of HR professionals support the
business, aided by policies and practices to ensure we
provide the best suppon, benefits and career opportunities
to our colleagues.

Our bespoke Marshail Leamning & Development Academy
provides opportunities for our colleagues to realise their
potential and support their development to ensure they
have a fulfiling career with us.

Our Management Assessment Centres expiore whether
applicants are not only competent to do the rofe but also
demonstrate the right behaviours to lead their people and
uphold our values. Since introducing this process in 2014
management {urnover has failen.

In addition, all new Sales Executives attend our residential
Sales Orientation Programme before starling in their
dealership. This is a rounded programme which not only
includes the technicalities of the role but culturally what our
customers should experience when they interact with us.
This programme has significantlly reduced our sales
axecutive lurnover since launching in June 2016.

Recognising our people

Our vecognition programmes are designed to support our
colleague engagement agenda. These programmes
include overseas incentive trips, long service awards and
awards for demonstrating our values.

Our MAVTA programme (Marshall Achievement, Values
and Teamwork Awards) recognises colleagues who

demonsirate ouistanding achievements in Customer
Service, Teamwork, Innovation, Leadership, Services in the
Community, Business Excellence and Environmental.

Communicating with our people

We believe communication is the key to maintaining
colleague engagement and our employment brand. We
have an ethos of transparency and sharing news on a
regular basis including CEQ communicalions, weekly
bulletins, our Colleague magazine, intranet and regular
team meetings.

Diversity and our people

We are committed to encouraging diversity and ensuring
that discrimination has no place i our business. We want
every colleague to fee! respected and able to perform fo the
best of their ability. We do not make assumplions about a
person’s ability to carry out his or her duties based on ethnic
origin, gender, sexual orientation, marital status, religion or
other philosophical beliefs, age or disability.

We expect all our colleagues to act with integrity and
behave ethically in everything they do. To reinforce this, we
have the Marshall Code of Conduct which is supported by
an online programme which forms part of every new
colleague's induction.

Engading our pecple

Our employment policies and practices are consistent with
our values and culture, helping us to achieve our business
cbjectives through engaged people.

Since 2008 we have worked with the Greal Place 1o Work
Institute’s Best Workplaces programme. This has given us
the opportunity lo seek feedback from our colieagues each
year to measure levels of engagement and drive
continuous improvement.

Since 2010 we have achieved survey scores ahead of the
70% UK benchmark which determines a great place to
work, In 2017 we achieved an overall score of 78% which
included over 1,200 colleagues from the recently acquired
former Ridgeway businesses. In May 2017 we were proud
to be ranked as a Best Large UK Woarkplace for the third
year in succassion.

Category: Large

2017

Best Workplaces™
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MARSHALL EMBRACING SAFETY

In 2017, we have increased the visibility of our Health,
Safety & Environmental {(HSE) team across the business.
Targeted comimunications and visits to sites enable us to
adopt a consistent approach to health and safety for all
aclivities across our business.

Our HSE team aims o provide support and direction to all
sites by continually reviewing and improving our policies
and procedures, supporting and advising managers to
assist them in fulfilling their H&S responsibilities.

The team also provide access fo first aider, fire warden and
risk assessor training.

Qur first aiders and fire wardens are all volunteers who
underiake these roles in addition to their usual duties.
Monthly checks of first aid boxes, firefighting equipment and
emergency lighting, as well as weekly fire alarm tesls are
just some of the additional tasks these colleagues
undertake on our behalf.

Envirenmental
Embracing our envircnmental

responsibiitics

MARSHALL GOING GREEN
The Marshall LEAF (Lowering Energy to Aid the Fulure)
aims to lower the impact we have on the environment.

This initiative complements our obligations 1o report under
Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme (ESCS) which is
designed to lead to greater energy efficiency, cost savings
and carbon reduction.

We use the information from the ESOS surveys when
deveioping our new dealerships as well as refurbishmenls
of existing sites.

Al of our new-build dealerships have been built to
BREEAM "Very Geod" rating. BREEAM is the world's
leading environmental assessment method for buildings
and sels the standard for best practice in sustainable
building design, construction and operation and has
hecome one of the most comprehensive and widely
recognised measures of a building's environmental
performance.

AL Marshall we take our duty of care responsibilities very
seriously and as such work closely with our approved waste
contractor to provide a comprehensive collection and
processing service of our hazardous and non-hazardous
recyclable materials.

in addition, each of our siles has a trained risk assessor
who is responsible for ensuring that the site specific risk
assessments remain relevant and up to date for their site.

The HSE team also maonitor, report and investigate all
incidents and where trends are identified an HSE Alert is
created and shared with all colleagues.

Planned preventive maintenance is organised by the HSE
team working with our approved contractors to ensure all
relevant inspections and any identified remedial work is
undertaken on fime and cerificaled evidence is available.

Finally, having iistened lo feedback from our colleagues,
the HSE team has worked with our partner company, Defib
Machines, tc inslall and maintain Automated Defibrillator
Machines at 122 sites across our portfolia.

We also frack our Accident Frequency Rate {(AFR} on a
monthly and annual basis. The AFR is the measure of the
number of accidents per 1m hours worked. The Motor
Industry AFR is currently 14.2 (taken from HSE document
‘Injury frequency rates’). Our AFR far 2017 was 4.55.

In 2017 96.2% of our hazardous waste materiais, such as
engine oil, lead acid battertes, rags and absorbents were
recycled and recovered. This equates to over 1.2m kg of
waste which didn’t go to landfill.

in 2017, 68.2% of our dry mixed recycling waste materials,
such as paper, plastics, metals and cardboard, were
recycled and recovered. This equates to over 1.4m kg of
waste which didn't go to landfil.

We also work with cur Brand partners to ensure compliance
with The Producer Responsibility Obligations (Packaging
Waste) Regulations the aim of which is to reduce the
amount of packaging waste that ends up in landfill.

Additionaily, we work closely with water retailers and local
water authorities to ensure that where our operations
involve the discharge of waste waler (e.g. valeting), we
have obtfained the correct level of consent and that our
actions do not cause pollution via surface water drainage
and other water courses.

Finally, we work with the Environmental Protection Teams
at various councils acress England to ensure we have the
relevant permits in place, under the Environmental
Permitting (England & Wales Regulations 2007) al those of
our dealerships which have a Badyshaop, or where we have
independent Bodyshop operalions. This includes
undertaking regular monitoring to ensure we remain
compliant with the limits set within the permits.
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Corporate Governance

PRINCIPLES OF CORPCRATE GOVERNANCE

The Board recognises that applying sound governance principles in the running of the Group is essenltial. The Company is listed
on AIM and is therefore not required te comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, in recognising the value and
importance of high standards of corporate governance the Cornpany has, since its admission to AIM in April 2015, adopted the
QCA Corparate Governance Code for Small and Mid-Size Quoted Companies so far as it is praclicable having regard for the
size and nature of the Group.

An explanation of how these principles have been applied during the Year is set out below.

THE BOARD

The table below sets oul details of all directors who have served during the Year and their membership of Board Commiltees.
This includes details of each member's attendance at the twelve board meetings during the Year. There are separate atlendance
statements in respect of the Audit and Remuneralion Commitiees on pages 41 and 44.

Director Date appointed  Role Gommittees Board
(C = current chair) attendance
Peler Johnson 27 June 2014 Non-Executive Chairman Nomination Committee (C}) 12112
Alan Ferguson 11 March 2015 Senior Independent Director ~ Audit Committes (C) 12112
Remuneration Committee
Nomination Committee
Francesca Ecsery 25 March 2015 Independent Nen-Executive Audit Committee 1212

Remuneration Committee
Nominalion Committee

Sarah Dickins 11 March 2015 Independent Non-Executive  Audit Committee 11112
Remuneration Committee {C}
Nominations Committee

Christopher Sawyer” 2 April 2015 Non-Executive Audit Committee 12112
Remuneration Committee
Nomination Committee

Chyistopher 12 July 2016 Non-Executive nfa 1212

Walkinshaw*

Daksh Gupta 1 October 2008 Chief Executive Officer n/a 12112

Mark Raban 2 Apri 2015 Chief Financial Officer nfa 1212

* Christopher Sawyer and Christopher Wathinshaw are nominated directors of Marshall of Cambyidge (Holdings) Limited,

Board decisions are generally on matters of strategy (including acquisitions and disposals), policy, peaple, parformance, budgets
and significant capital expenditure. Each director receives information on matters to be discussed (including Board reports from
the Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary) in advance of each Board meeting to ensure that there is
a full debate at Board level and in particular so that the non-executive directors can contribute fully.

The Board has formally reserved specific matters for its determination and has approved terms of reference for all Board
Committees.

Al directors have access to independent professional advice, if they have the need o seek it. There is an induction process for
new directors and training is available when required.

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Senior independent Director

Peter Johnson is Non-Executive Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer is Daksh Gupta. There is a formal division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. The Senior Independent Director is Alan Ferguson,




Marshall Motor Holdings pic | Annual Report & Accounts 2017

Board Balance
The Company currently has eight directors, of which three are independent non-executives,

Under the terms of a Relationship Agreement ("Relalionship Agreement™} with Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited ("MCHL")
(details of which are set out below), MCHL is entitled to appoint two nominated directors fo the Board, so long as it holds 30%
or more of the Company's ordinary shares. MCHL appointed Christopher Sawyer as one of its nominated directors on 2 Aprit
2015 and appointed Christopher Walkinshaw as its second nominated director on 12 July 2016.

Performance Evaluation
The non-executive directors have met without the presence of the executive directors, during which the performance of executive
directors was assessed and without the presence of the Chairman (to assess the performance of the Chairman).

Re-election
In accordance with the Company’s Articles, Daksh Gupta will retire by rotation and offer himself for reappointrment at the AGM.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee which comprises Peter Johnson (Chair of the Commitiee),
Alan Ferguson, Sarah Dickins, Francesca Ecsery and Christopher Sawyer.

The Nomination Commitlee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, preparing a description
of the role and capabililies required for a particular appointment and identifying and nominaling candidates to fill Board positions
as and when they arise. It has not been considered necessary for the Nomination Commitiee lo meet during the Year.

Audit Committee
The Company has established an Audit Committee, which comprises Alan Ferguson (Chair of the Commitlee), Sarah Dickins,
Francesca Ecsery and Christopher Sawyer.

Further information on the Audit Committee is set out on pages 41 to 42.

Remuneration Committee
The Company has established a Remuneration Committee which comprises Sarah Dickins (Chair of lhe Committee) Alan
Ferguson, Francesca Ecsery and Christopher Sawyer.

Further infarmation on ihe Remuneration Committee is set out on pages 43 to 50.

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Group is commilted to maintaining good relations with all its sharehclders through the provision of Interim and Annual
Reports, other lrading statements and the Annual General Meeling. The Company also meets with its institutional shareholders
regularly.

In light of MCHI.'s aggregate shareholding in the Company, on Admission the Corpany entered into the Relationship Agreement
with MCHL in order to regulate the relationship between MCHL and the Company and enable the Company to act independently
of MCHL and its affiliales. Under the terms of this agreement MCHL has the right, for so long as it owns 30% or more of the
Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company, lo appoint two directors to the Board and one director to each of the committees
of the Board, including the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Commitiee. The Relationship Agreement will terminate in the
event that MCHL ceases to own 30% or more of the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

Further details of the Relationship Agreement can be found in the Company's AIM Admission Document which is available on
the Company's website at www.mmhplc.com.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Annual General Meeting provides an opportunily for all shareholders to be updated on the Group's progress and ask

questions of the Board.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board has ultimate responsibility for both the preparation of accounts and the monitoring of systems of internal financial
control. The Board seeks te present a fair, balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's position and its prospects
and present price-sensitive information in an appropriate way.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has ultimate respansibility for the Group's system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness, However, any
such system of internal control can provide only reasonable but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Board considers that the internal controls in place are appropriate for the size, complexity and risk profile of the Group.
The principal elements of the Group's internal control system include:

»  management of the day to day activities of the Group by the executive Directors; aided by the Group‘s bespoke management
information system, Phoenix 2;

= an organisational structure with defined levels of responsibility;

+ aforecasting process at each quarter end;

»  anannual budgsting process which is approved by the Board;

*  detailed weekly and monthly reporting of performance against budget and the prior year using Cognos;
= central control over key areas such as capital expenditure authorisation, contracts and financing facilities;
»  formal accounting policies and procedures which are regularly reviewed and publicised in the business;

*  aninternal audit department which monitors compliance of Company processes and procaduras and whose programme of
work is overseen by the Audit Committee;

» a newly created role of Head of Compliance to assess and monitor the Company's comptiance with its regulatary
responsibilities with a particular focus on compliance with FCA requirements.

The Group continues to review its system of internal control to ensure compliance with best practice, whilst also having regard
to its size and the resources available.

The principal risks and uncertainties identified by the Board are set out on pages 24 to 27.

By order of the Board
Stephen Jones
Company Secretary

13 March 2018




Audit Committee Report

Alan Ferguson
Senior Independent
Director and Chair of
the Audit Committee

Audit Committee Members

The Company's Audit Commitlee was established on
Admission and comprises myself, Sarah Dickins, Francesca
Ecsery and Christopher Sawyer,

With the exception of Christopher Sawyer (given his position
as a nominated director of MCHL), all members of the Audit
Committee are considered {0 be independent.

It is considered that the Audit Commillee possesses the
necessary skills and experience fo fulfil its responsibifities
effectively with its members, through their other business
aclivities, having a wide range of financial and commercial
expertise. In particular, as set out on page 29, my background
was as an experienced Finance Director serving on the
boards of a number of large companies throughout my
execulive career. | am the current chair of the audit comimittees
of Johnson Matthey Plc and Croda International Plc and, until
my retirement in April 2018, The Weir Group Plc.

Audit Committee Responsibilities
The Audit Commiitee’s principal responsibilities are lo;

+ monitor the integrity of the Company's financial
statements (including its annual and interim reports,
interim management statements results’ announcements
and any olher formal announcement relating to its
financial performance);

- review significant financial reporting issues and
judgements as described in Note 4 of the financial
statements,

«  keep under review the eflactiveness of intemal controls
and risk management systems,

+  review arrangements for its employees lo raise concerns,
in confidence, about possible wrongdoing in financial
reporling or other matters;

»  monitor and review the effectiveness of the internal audit
function, review and approve the internal audit function’s
planned work and meet privately with the head of internal
audit without the presence of management; and

Marshall Motor Holdings plc | Annual Report & Accounts 2017

+  make recommendations to the Board in relation to the
appointment of the external auditor and oversee the
relationship with the external auditor including approving
the annual audit plan, assessing audit quality,
effectiveness and approving the audil fee.

The Audit Commitiee’s responsibilities, its pracedures and its
authority are set out in formal terms of reference approved by
the Board.

Audit Committee Meetings

Tha Audit Committee has an annual agenda of matters fo be
considered and is scheduled lo meel three times each year
and al any other time when it is appropriate to consider and
discuss audit and accounting related issues.

Audit Committee meelings are attended by all Cornmittee
Members {see below). At the discretion and invitation of the
Committee Chair other Execulive and Non-Executive
Directors, the Head of Internal Audit and representatives of
the Company's external auditor may also attend.

During the Year, the Audit Commitiee mel formally three times,
each member's attendance at those meetings being set out
below:

Committee Attendance
Member Role record
Alan Ferguson Chair of the Committee 33
Sarah Dickins Non-Executive Dirsctor 33
Francesca Ecsery Non-Executive Director 3/3
Christopher Sawyer  Non-Executive Director 3/3

Between the end of the Year and the date of this repoft there
was a further meeting of the Audit Committee which was
altended by all members.

Activities During the Period
During the period since the last annual report to the date of
this report, the Audit Committee has:

»  reviewed and made some minor amendmenis to its terms
of reference and operaled in accordance with an annual
agenda of matters to be considered by it;

+ reviewed the public announcements refaling to its
financial position including the accounting issues, key
accouniing judgements and going concern assessment
in caonnection with the full year and interim resulis
announcements,
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+ reviewed and afier challenge, approved the external
auditor’s audit plan for 2017, including their proposed fee
and statement of independence. The Audit Committee
also reviewed the quality of the external audit and
recommended the re-appointment of the external auditor;

*  reviewed non audit fees paid {o the exlernal audilor in the
Year. These fees totalled £36k and related solely to the
review of the Group's interim resuits;

» considered the accounting issues arising as & result of
the disposal of Marshall Leasing Limited,

+ considered the polential impact of future changes to
accounting standards, including IFRS 15 and IFRS 16;

« considered and subsequently recommended the taking
of an exempfion from an audit pursuant to §479A
Companies Act 2006 in respect of the year ending
31 December 2017 for certain subsidiary companies as
set out on page 69;

+  approved the programime of work for the internal audit
function in 2017 and considered the output of that work.
In addilion, it approved the internal audit plan for 2018;

- considered the Group's risk management process and its
effectiveness;

» discussed the Company's arrangements to enable
employees to raise concerns about possible improprielies
confidentially including the use of an independent
organisalion to provide a confidential 'whistleblowers’
hotline; and

» received a presentation from the Head of Retail Finance
covering the structure of the finance function, key financial
controls and planned future development.

The Committee receives reports from executive direclors and
also receives reports from, and periodically meets with the
external audilor and the head of internal audit in the absence
of management. In addition, as chair of the Audit Committee,
| also meet with the external and internal auditor outside of
the formal meelings.

Audit issues considered by the Commitiee

The Audit Committee considered areas of significant judgment
and estimation applied in the preparaticn of the Group's 2017
financial slalements. It received a papers from the Chief
Financial Officer and the exlernal auditer, which covered
amongst other matters Goodwill and Intangible asset
impairment reviews, taxation, inventory, closure costs and
provisions and the disposal of Marshall Leasing. The
Commiliee discussed these issues with management and took
comfort from the work of the external auditor. The Commitiee
concluded that these matters had been dealt with appropriately
in the 2017 financial slatements. The Committee reviewsd the
potential impact of new standards, IFRS 15 and 16, and
concurred with the disclosures made in this regard. The
Committee also reviewed a paper on going concern and
agreed with the conclusion that the financial statements be
prepared on the going concern basis.

Alan Ferguson
Chair of the Audit Committes
13 March 2018

fi
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Remuneration Committee Report

Sarah Dickins
Non-Execulive
Director and
Chair of the
Remuneration

| am pleased to present, on behalf of the Board, the
Remuneration Commitlee’s (the “Committee™) Remuneration
Report providing details of the remuneration of the Direclors
for the financial year ending 31 December 2017 and of our
remuneration policy and principles.

Remuneration policy

The Commitiee regularly reviews its remuneration policy to
ensure it supports achievement of the Company’s short-term
financial goals and longer term strategic objeclives, including
transformational activity such as the acquisition of SG Smith,
and Ridgeway in 2016, and disposal of Marshall Leasing
Limited during the year Although not bound by the same
reguiation as main market listed companies, including the
requirement to put remuneration policy to shareholder vote at
least every three years, the Commitiee continues to monitor
developments in regulation, governance and best practice and
considers the current remuneration policy appropriate to the
Company's circumstances.

Remuneration outcomes for the period to 31 December
2017

As outlined in the operating review the Company has
continued its excellent track record of performance in 2017.
Financial highlights include like-for-like revenue growth of
3.5% and underlying PBT of £29.1m representing an increase
of 14.4% versus 2016. In addition, the disposal of Marshall
Leasing has further strengthened the balance sheet.

As set out in the remuneration report last year for the year
under review base salaries, annual bonus opportunily and
Performance Share Plan ("PSP”) opportunities for both Daksh
Gupta and Mark Raban remained the same as the previous
year.

Annual bonus opportunity during 2017 was based on the
achievement of underlying PBT targets with bonuses of 96%
of maximum awarded to the Chief Execufive and Chief
Financial Officer respectively in respect of performance in the
year ended 31 December 2017.

The Executive Direclors also received a PSP Award under the
Company's PSP which is subject to demanding three year
EPS targetls set post the announcement of the sale of
Marshall Leasing Limited. Subject to the performance
condition being met PSP awards will vest on the third
anniversary of grant with any vested shares required lo be
held for a further 12 months post vesting.

Key remuneration decisions for the year to 31 December
2018

The Committee believes that the remuneration policy remains
appropriate and having reviewed base salaries for the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer in the context of
increases for the wider workforce the Commillee have
approved increases of 2.2%. The maximum annual bonus
potential for 2018 will be 125% of salary for the CEQ and
100% of salary for the CFO based on PBT in line with the
stretching business plan.

The Commiltee intends to make awards in 2018 under the
PSP subject to a maximum of 125% of salary in respect of
the Chief Executive Officer and 100% of salary in respect of
the Chief Financial Officer Vesting will be subject to the
achievement of demanding three year EPS targets. Any
shares awarded this year to Executive Direclors that vest
under the PSP must be retained for a further year before they
can be sold.

Conclusion

The Direciors’ remuneration policy which follows this annual
staterment sets out the Commitiee’s principles on remuneration
for the future and the annual report on remuneration provides
details of remuneration for the period ended 31 December
2017. The Committee will continue to be mindful of
shareholder views and interests, and we believe that the
Directors’ remuneration policy is aligned with the achievernent
of the Company's business objectives.

Sarah Dickins

Chair of Remuneration Committee
13 March 2018
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE

Thraughout the period 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017, the Commiltee comprised three independent Non-Execulive
Directors: Sarah Dickins (Chair of the Committee), Alan Ferguson, Francesca Ecsery alungside Christopher Sawyer who is an
appointed representative of MCHL.

The table below sets oul each member's attendance record at Committee meetings during the financial year.

Cominittee member Role Attendance record
Sarah Dickins Chair of the Committee 55
Alan Ferguson Non-Executive Director 515
Francesca Ecsery Non-Executive Director 45
Christopher Sawyer Nan-Executive Directoc 4/5

The Chalr, members of the managernent leam, as well as the Committee’s advisers, are invited to attend meetings as appropriate,
unless there is any potential conflict of interest.

The Remuneration Committee: Responsibilities
The terms of reference of the Commiltee cover such issues as: commillee membership; frequency of meetings; quorum
requirements; and the right to attend meetings. In addition, the Committee has responsibility for, amongst other things:

*  making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy on remuneration for the Group;

* determining and monitoring specific remuneration packages for the Chairman, each of the Executive Directors and certain
senior management in the Group, including pension rights and any compensation payments;

*  recommending and monitoring the Jevel and struclure of remuneration for senior management;
»  recommending and overseeing lhe implementation of share refated schemes, including scheme grants;

»  ensuring the Commitiee has access to independent remuneration advice ineluding responsibility for appointing a suitably
qualified adviser

The Board remains responsible for the approval and implementation of any recommendations made by the Committee. The
remuneration of Non-Executive Directors other than the Chairman is determined by the Chairman of the Board and the Executive
Directers.

The Committee's Advisers

*  The Commiltee engages external advisers to assist it in meeting its responsibilities and retained Willis Towers Waison lo
provide independent remuneration advice to the Committee. Willis Towers Watson are a signatory 1o the Remuneration
Consultants' Code of Conduct, and {he Commiittee is salisfied thal the advice that it receives is objective and independent.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The overall aim of our remuneration policy is to provide appropriate incentives that reflect the Group's performance cutture and
values, through a number of specific remuneration components (detailed in the table on the following pages). In summary, we
aim to:

« allract, relain and molivate high calibre, senior management and to focus them on the delivery of the Group's strategic and
business objectives;

» set base pay having had due regard to the competitive talent market in which the Company operates with incenlive pay
structured so that top quartile pay can be achieved for top quartile performance;

+  be simple and understandable, both externally and to colleagues; and

»  achieve consistency of approach across the senior management population to the extent appropriate.

In determining the practical application of the policy, the Committee considers a range of internal and external factors, including
pay and conditions for employees generally, shareholder feedback, and appropriate market comparisons with remunesation
practices in FTSE-listed, AlM-listed and other automaotive-based companies.

The Committee is satisfied that this policy successfully aligns the interests of Executive Directors, senior managers, and other

employees with the long-term interests of shareholders, by ensuring that an appropriate proportion of tolal remuneration is
directly linked to the Group's performance over both the short and the long term.
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REMUNERATION POLICY (continued)

Future Policy Table

The main elements of the remuneration package of Execulive Diractors are set out below:

Purpose and link to
strategy

BASIC SALARY

Altract and retain high calibre
Executive Directors to deliver
strategy.

Incentivises achievement of
business objectives by
providing reward for
performance against annual
financial targets.

{ONG-TERM INCENTIVES ~

Alignment of interests with
shareholders by providing
long-term incentives
designed to incentivise and
recognise execution of the
business strategy over the
longer-term.

Operation

Paid in 12 equal monthly
instalmants during the year,

Paid in cash after the end of
the financial year to which it
relates.

Recovery and withhelding
provisions apply.

Maximuim opportunity

Raviewed annually to reflect role,
responsibility and performance
of the individual and the Group,
and to take into account rates of
pay for comparable roles in
similar  companies. When
selecting comparators, the
Cormmittee has regard (o, infer
alia, the Group's revenue,
profitability, market worth and
business sector There is no
prescribed maximum increase.
Annual rates are sel o in the
annual report on remuneration
for the current year and the

following year.
ANNUAL BONUS

It is the pgclicy of the
committee to cap maximum
annual bonuses. The levels
of such caps are reviewed
annualfy and are set at an
appropriate percentage of
annual salary. Currently the
maximum bonus is 125% of
base salary in respect of the
Chief Executive Officer and
100% in respect of the Chief
Financial Officer,

MMH PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN

Grant of £nil cost options
under the PSP Oplions
normally vest 3 years from
grant subject to the
achievement of performance
conditions and continued
employment.

A 12 months post-vesting
holding pericd applies for
awards made from 2016.

150% of base salary (up lo
200% of base salary in
exceptional circumstances) in
any financial year.

Current award levels are set out
in the Annual Reporl on
Rermuneration.

Performance metrics

Performance is normally
measured over oOne year,
based solely on financial
targets (e.g. profit before tax).

The Committee sels
threshold and maximum
targels on an annual basis.

A sliding scale operates
between threshold and
maximum performance. No
bonus is payable where
performance is below the
threshold,

Payment of any bonus is
subject to the overriding
discretion of the Committee.

Vesting is subject to continuous
employmentand targets linked
to the strategy of the business.
Current fargets are based on
achievement of growth in
earnings per share, but the
Committee may vary the
targets. 25% vests for achiaving
threshold  performance, 100%
vests for achieving maximum

performance.
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Future Policy Table (continued)
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Purpose and link to
strategy

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES —

with role and in support of the
personal health and weltbeing
of employees.

Attract and retain Executive
Directors for the long term by
providing funding for
retirement.

Increase alignment between
the Executive Directors and
shareholders.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

To atiract NEDs who have a
broad range of experience
and skills to oversee the
implementation of  our
strategy and provide strong
performance stewardship.

SHARE OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES

Operation

Maximum opportunity

MH PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (CONTINUED)

A dividend equivalent applies.

Recovery and withholding
provisions apply at the
discretion of the Committee
within three years of vesting

holiday entillement, health

insurance, life assurance
premiums and  income
protection insurance. The

Committee reviews the level
of benefit provision from time
to time and has the flexibility to
add or remove benefits to
reflect changes in market
practices or the operalional
needs of the Group.

All Executive Direclors are
entitled to participate in the
Company's defined
contribution pension scheme
or to receive a cash allowance
in lieu of pension contributions.
Only base
pensionabie.

salary is

Executive  Direclors  are
expected to retain 50% of the
net of tax vesled PSP shares
until the guidsline level is met.

FEES (“NED")

NED fees are determined by
the Board (excluding NEDs)
within the limits set out in the
Articles of Association and
are paid in 12 equal monthly
instalments during the year.

is borne by the Company and
varies from time 1o time.

The Chief Execulive receives a
16% of base salary contribution.

The Chief Financial Officer
participales in the Company's
defined contribution pension
schame whereby the
Company makes an 8% of
base salary contribution,
conditiona! upon the Chief
Financial Officer making a
malched contribution of 8%.

Al least 100% of base salary
for Executive Direclors.

Annual rate set out in the
annual report on
remuneration for the current
year and the following year.
No prescribed maximum
annual increase.

Performance metrics

Provide benefits consistent | Currently these consist of | The cost of providing benefils | Nene.

None.

None.

None.
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REMUNERATION POLICY {continued)

Directors' Service Contracts, Notice Periods and Termination Payments

Provision

Detalls

Notice pericds in Executive Directors’
service contracls

Maximum of 12 months by Company or Executive Director. Executive Directors
may be required to work during the notice period.

Compensation for loss of office

In the event of termination, service contracts provide for payments of base salary,
pension and benefits only over the notice period.

Treatment of annual bonus on
termination

There is ho contractual right fo any bonus payment in the event of termination
althoughin certain "good leaver” circumstances the Remuneration Committee may
exercise ils discrelion to pay a bonus for the period of employment and based on
performance assessed after the end of the financial year

Treatment of unvested PSP awards

The default treatrment for any Ordinary Share-based entitements under the PSP
is that any oulstanding awards lapse on cessation of employmeni. However, in
certain prescribed circumstances, or at the discretion of the Committee “good
leaver” status can be applied. in these circurnstances a participant's awards vest
subject to the satisfaction of the relevant performance crileria and, ordinarity, on a
time pro-raia basis, with the balance of the awards lapsing.

Quitside appointments

Other directorships are permitted with prior agreement:
— Daksh Gupta is a director of BEN — Motor and Allied Trades Benevolent Fund.
— Mark Raban is a direcior of Precise Finance Limited. Precise Finance Limited

is the company owned by Mr Raban and used tc provide consultancy services
ptior 1o his appointment ta Marshall Motor Holdings plc.

Non-executive direclors

All Non-Executives are subject to re-election every three years. No compensation
payabie if required fo stand down.

In the event of the negotialion of a compromise or seltlement agreement between the Company and a deparlting Director, the
Committee may make paytnenis it considers reasonable in seltlement of potential fegai claims. Such payments may also include
reasonzble reimbursement of professional fees in connection with such agreements.

The Committee may alsa include the reimbursement of fees for professional or outplacerment advice in the termination package,
if it considers it reasonable to do so. it may aiso allow the contimiation of benefits for a limited period.

Dates of appointiment

Director Date of appoiniment
P Johnseon 27 June 2014

D Gupta 1 October 2008

MD Raban 2 April 2015

A Ferguson 11 March 2015

S Dickins 11 March 2015

F Ecsery 25 March 2015

C Sawyer 2 April 2015

C Walkinshaw 12 July 2016

Copies of Direclors’ service contracts and letters of appointment are available for inspection at the Company's registered office.
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Annual Report on Remuneration

Single total figure of remuneration
The table below sets out the single total figure of remuneration and breakdown for each Director in respect of the 12 month
period ending 31 December 2017.

Basic Annua! Longterm

salary Fees Benefits Penslon bonuses Incentives Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
D Gupta 408 - 18 65 491 223 1,205
MD Raban 255 - 4 22 246 a7 564
Totat 663 - 22 87 737 260 1,769
PW Johnsen - 133 - - - - 133
AM Ferguson - 58 - - - - 58
DSM Dickins - 48 - - - - 48
FE Ecsery - 40 - - - - 40
CJ Sawyer - 40 - - - - 40
CMH Walkinshaw? - 40 - - - - 40
Total - 359 - - - - 359
Aggregate directors
emoluments 663 359 22 87 737 260 2,128

The benefits above include items such as medical cover, life assurance premiums and income protection insurance.

1 Christopher Walkinshaw is a nominated director of Marshall of Cambridge {Holdings) Lid with the fee payable in respect of his underlakings as a Non-Executive
Director payable {o Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings} Lid.

LTIP awards
Details of LTIP Awards granted during the year are as follows:
Market
value on
Earliest Exercise date of Number of
Date of exercise price grant options
Scheme grant date (pence) {pence}) granted
D Gupta 2017 LTIP award! 29-Sept-17  29-Sept-20 £Nil 167.0 305,289
MD Raban 2017 LTIP award! 29-Sept-17  29-Sept-20 ENil 167.0 152,695

1 Awards vest for achiaving growih in EPS from 2017 to 2019; 25% vest for achieving growth of CPI plus 1% per annum increasing lo 100% vesting for achieving
EPS growth of CPI plus 5% per annum,

The movement in directors’ LTIP Awards during the year are as follows:

Numberat Numberlapsed Numbergranted Number exercised Number at

1 January 2017  durihg the year  during the year during the year 31 December 2017

D Gupta 1,182,314 - 305,389 - 1,487,703
MD Raban 434,558 - 152,695 - 587,253
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REMUNERATION POLICY (continued)

Statement of Directors’ Shareholding

Our Executive Directors are expecied to build up and maintain a 100% of salary shareholding in the Company and are expected
to retain 50% of the net of 1ax vested PSP shares until the guideline level is met. The Directors who held office at 31 December
2017 and their connected persons had interests in the issued share capiial of the Company as at 31 December 2017 as follows:

Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary LTIP Interesis
shares Optlons Market shares With Without

beneficially ised purch Disposals beneficially performance conditions performance conditions Total
held as at  duringthe duringthe duringthe held asat Vested but Vestedbut  interestin
3112116 year year year AT Unvested' unexercised Unvested? unexercised: shares
P Johnson 175328 - . - 175,328 - - - 175,328
D Gupta 843128 - - - 843,138 1.219.247° - 134,228 134,228 2,330,841
MD Raban 61,726 - - - 61726 542 510" - 22372 22,371 648,979
A Ferguson 58,557 - - - 58,557 - - - - 58,657
S Dicking 6711 - - - 6,711 - - - - B, 711
F Ecsery 2013 - - - 2,013 - - - - 2,013
C Sawyer 214,458 - - - 214,498 - - - - 214,488

The middle market price of the shares as al 29 December 2017 was 167.5p and the range in respect of the 12 month pericd
ending 31 December 2017 was 134.0p to 178.5p.

1 These include the 2017 and 2016 LTIP Awards along with the IPO Performance Awards which vest subjec! to growih in the Company’s underlying basic Earnings
Per Share (EPS). 25% of Ihe award vesls for achieving growth in underlying basic EPS of CPI plus 1%, 3% and 4% pa. respectively increasing to 100% vesting
for achieving growth of CPI plus 5%, 8% and 10% p.a. respeclively over a three year performance period. 50% of the IPO Perfarmance Awards vesl on the third
anniversary ol Admission and the remaining 50% on the fourth anniversary subject lo conlinued empleyment. A 12 month holding period applies to the 2016 and
2017 LTIP Awards.

2 These includa the vested and unvesled IPO Reslricled Share Awards which are subject only lo employment al the relevanl vesling dale. These oplions vesl and
become exercisable in three equal ranches on the first, second and third anniversaries of the dale of grant. The final ranche of oplions is due o vest on the 2 April
2018.

The Committee has discretion to adjust the aforementioned performance targels lo reflecl the impact of events which ocour after the date of grant in order to take

into accaunt the impact of events such as material acquisitions and dispesals made by the Group and o ensure lhal lhe adjusted largels aré no more difficult or

easier to salisfy than they would have olherwise been.

Implementation of remuneration policy for the year ending 31 December 2018
The annual salaries and fees fo be paid to directors in the year ending 31 December 2018 are set aut below, together with any
increase expressed as a percentage.

31 December 2018 31 December 2017 Increase

£'000 £'000 %

PW Johnson 135.5 i32.8 22
D Gupta 416.9 408.0 22
MD Raban 260.6 255.0 22
AM Ferguson 59.5 57.5 35
DSM Dickins 495 475 42
FE Ecsery 42.0 40.0 5.0
C.J Sawyer 42,0 40.0 5.0
CMH Walkinshaw? 420 40.0 5.0

1 Christophar Watkinshaw is a nominated direclor of Marshall of Cambridge {Holdings) Lid with the fee payable in respect ol his underiakings as a Non-Execulive
Direclor payable lo Marshall of Cambridge {Holdings) Lid.

The maximum potential annual bonus for the year ending 31 Decembear 2018 will be 125% of salary for the CEO and 100% of
salary for the CFO, Awards are determined based on PBT iargets. Recovery and withholding provisions will apply.

The Committee intends to grant oplions under the PSP in 2018. These options wili be £nil cost options over a value of shares
subject to a maximum of 125% of salary in respect of the Chief Executive Officer and 100% of salary in respect of the Chief
Financial Officer where the vesfing is subject to targets based on the achievement of earnings per share targets.

By order of the Board

Sarah Dickins
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
13 March 2018

A -

.
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Diectors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations.

The Directors are required 1o prepare Consolidated financial statements for each financial year in accordance with Internationai
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Unicn. The Directors have elected to prepare the parent
company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless
they are salisfied that they give a true and fair view of the Group and Company and of the profit and loss of the Group for that
period. In preparing those Consolidated financial statements, the Directors are required to:

+ select and apply accounting policies in accordance with IAS 8;

+ present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
undersiandabie information;

«  provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's financial position and financial
performance; and

+ state that the group has complied with IFRS, subject o any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements.

In preparing the Company financial statements, the Directors are required to:
»  select suitable accounting policies and appiy them consistently;
+  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

» state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject lo any malerial departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements; and

»  prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will not
continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which are sufficient to disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Arlicie 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the members
of Marshall Motor Holdings plc

What we Have Audited
We have audited the financial statements of Marshall Moter Holdings plc for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2017 which comprise:

Group Parent Company

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Company Stalement of Financial Position

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Related notes 1 to 36 to the financial statements, Related notes 1 to 16 to the financial statements including
including a surmmary of significant accounting policies a summary of significant accounting policies

The financial reporling framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 *The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”
{United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Opinion
in our opiniort:

= the financial statemenis give a frue and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Parent Company's affairs as at 31
December 2017 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;

+ the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;

« the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Praclice; and

= the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with international Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable taw, Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described inthe Auditor’s responsibilities for the audi of the finandial slatements
section of our report below. We are independent of the Group and Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial staternents in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed
entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibiliies in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our apinion,

Conclusions Relating to Going Concern
We have nothing 1o report in respect of the foliowing malters in relation to which the 1SAs (UK) require us to report 1o you where:

«  the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate;
or

+ the directars have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified matertal uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt about the group’s or the parent company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
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Overview of our Audit Approach

Materiality .

Overall group materiality of £1.45m (2016: £1.27m} which represents approximately 5%
(2016: 5%) of Underlying Profit Before Tax.

Any audit differences in excess of £73k (2016: £64k} are reported to the audit committee.

Audit scope -

We performed an audit of the complete financial information of 14 (2016: 15) full scope
components and performed audit pracedures for a further 22 (2016: 21) review scope
componenis.

The full scope componenis accounted for 92% (2016: 95%) of Underlying Profit Before Tax,
92% (2016: 93%) of External Revenue and 97% (2016: 95%) of Total Net Assels.

Key audit matters .

Valuation of inventory

Assessment of the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets
Misstatement of central provisions

Revenue recognition, including manufacturer's rebates and bonuses

Qur Application of Materiality
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified misstatements on
the audit and in forming our audit opinion.

Materiality

The magnitude of an omission or misstaloment that, individually or in the aggregale, cotid reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materiaiity provides a basis for determining the nature and

extent of our audit procedures.

We determined materiality for the Group to be £1.45m (2016: £1.27m), which is approximately 5% (2016: 5%) of Underlying
Profit Before tax. The rationale for using Underlying Profit Before Tax as our basis for materiality is that it provides a consislent
year on year approach, excluding gains and losses from transactions which are considered one off in nature and that are unlikely
to reoccur, which can be significant compared to underlying trading. There were no changes in the approach year on year.

See breakdown below for detaits of adjustments made

.“
+ Profit Before Tax - £53,1m (2018: £22.2m)
Slarting
Basls
« Non-Underlying ltems - £24.1m )
» Profil on disposal of subsidiary - £36.9m
* Post-retirement benefils charge - {£6.0m}
* Restrucluring costs - (£6.8m) )
"\
* Underlying Profit Before Tax - £29m {2016: £25.4m)
« Materiality of £1.45m {2016: £1.2Tm)
Materiality }

As part of our audit planning, we reported to the Audit Commitiee on 13 October 2017, an initial materiality calculation of £1.4m.
This amount was based on the eslimated annualised Profit Before Tax.

During the course of our audi, we reassessed inltial materiality and calculated an uplift from £1.4m to a final figure of £1.46m.
This was primarily the result of estimation used when annualising the materiality base during the planning phase of the audit
when compared to the actual full year results observed.
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Performance Materiality
The application of malterialily al the individual account or balance level. It is sel at an amount to reduce lo an appropriately low
level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetecled misstalements exceeds matediality.

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group's overall control environment, our judgement
was that performance materiality should be set at 50% {2016: 50%} of our planning materiality, namely £725k (2016: £635k).

Audit work at component locations for the purpose of obtaining audit coverage over significant financial statement accounts is
undertaken based on a percentage of lotal performance materiality. The performance materiality set for each component is
based on the relative scale and risk of the component to the Group as a whole and our assessment of the risk of misstatement
at that component. in the current year, the range of performance materiality aliocated fo components was 30% to 100%
(2016: 30% to 100%) of total performance materiality or £218k to £725% (2016: £190k to £635k).

Reporting Threshold
An amount below which identified misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial. (ISA 400)

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them ali uncorrected audit differences in excess of £73k (2016:
£64k), which is set at 5% of planning materiality, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting
an qualitative grounds.

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatiements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in light
of other relevant qualitalive considerations in forming our opinion.

An Overview of the Scope of our Audit

Talloring the Scope

Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our allocation of performance materiality determine our audit
scope for each component within the Group. Taken together, this enables us to form an opinion on the financial statements. We
lake into account size, tisk profile, the organisation of the group, the effectiveness of group-wide controls, and changes in the
business environment when assessing the level of work to be performed at each component.

After assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial statements we ensured we had adequate quantitative
coverage of significant acgounts in the financial statements. Of the 36 reporting components of the Group, we selected 14
components all within the UK, which represent the principal business units within the Group.

We performed an audit of the complete financial information of all 14 components (*full scope components”) of which 8 were
selected based on their size or risk characteristics and the remaining 6 components on the basis that these entities are required
to file statutory accounts in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

The full scope accounted for 92% (2016: 95%) of the Underlying Profit before Tax, 92% (2016: 93%) of External Revenue and
97% (2016: 95%) of Total Net Assels.

Of the remaining 22 components that together represent 8% of the Group's Underlying Profit Before Tax. none are individually
greater than 2% of Underlying Profit Before Tax. For these components, we performed overall analytical review lo respond to
any potential risks of material misstatement to the Group financial statements.
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The charls below illustrate the coverage obtained from the work performed by our audit teams.

Underlying Profit Before Tax Profit Before Tax
m 92% Full scope = 94% Full scope
components components
= 8% Review scope ® 6% Review scope
Revenue Total Net Assets

n 92% Full scope #97% Full scope
components components
= 8% Review scope = 3% Review scope

Changes from the Prior Year
There were no changes in the approach and no significant changes in terms of coverage year on year.

Involvement with Component Teams
All audit work performed for the purposes of the audit was undertaken by the Group audit team

Our Assessment of the Risks of Material Misstatement

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those maltters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement {whether or not due
to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation
of resources in the audit; and direcling the efforts of the engagement team. These matiers were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in expressing our opinion thereon, and we do not pravide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Key observations

communicated to
Risk Qur response to the risk the Audit Committee
Valuation of inventory {Gross ~ We undersiood the method applied by management in performing  Our audit procedures
inventory — £410.4 million, its inventary provisioning calculation and waiked through the indicate that the
2016: £389.4 million; Inventory  controls over the process. provision is consistant

provision — £9.2 million, 2016:
£9.4 million)

The group has a significant vafue
of new and used vehicle
inventary.

Vehicles have the potential to
experience significant value
declines in short time periods.

Value volalility is a response to
market conditions impacling
dernand and is deemed a higher
risk in relation to used,
demonsiration and pre-reg
vehicle inventory.

The valuation of vehicle
inventory is therefore subject to
significant judgement. Given this
judgement, there is a risk that
inventory is misstated.

Refer to Accounting policles
(page 67); Significant accounting
Jjudgements and estimales
{page 82) and Note 20 of the
Consolidated Financial
Statements (page 102).

with prior years and
thal it is based on
reascnable
assumptions

We performed Analytical Review of the level of provision held to regarding the

We recalculated management's provision and agreed vehicle
prices included through to sales invoices where sold post year end
and to third party CAP values for all other vehicles.

identify any significant provisions on a particular vehicle type or underlying exposures
brand in the portfolio. A particular focus was given in this area to in the UK used car
used, demanstration and pre-rag vehicles for any significant market.

indicalors of value decline.

We evaluated the accuracy of previcus period’s provision to assess
management's long term forecasting ability

We performed full scope audit procedures over this risk area in 10
statutory locations, which covered 93% of the risk amount. Further,
we performed extensive procedures in relation to the inventory
provision in place for ali statutory entities, to address the significant
accounting judgement used in its calculation.




Risk

Qur response to the risk
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Key observations
communicated to
the Audit Committee

Assessment of the carrying
value of goodwill and other
intangible assets (£121.6
million, 2016: £122 million)

The group has a significant value
of goodwill that has arisen from
acquisitions as well as other
intangible assets in the form of
{franchise agreements.

Goodwill is allocated to cash
generating units ({CGUs") based
on groups of dealerships
connected by manufacturer
brand.

A number of brands have
expetienced challenging trading
conditions driving poor financial
performance.

There is a risk that these cash
generating units {{CGUs') may
not achieve the anticipated
financial performance to support
their carrying value, leading to an
impairment charge that has not
been recognised by
management.

Significant judgement is required
in forecasting the future cash
flows of each CGU, together with
the rate at which they are
discounted.

Refer to Accounting policies
(page 69); Significant accounting
judgements and estimates
(page B1) and Note 15 of the
Consdlidated Financial
Statements (page 93}.

We understocd the methed applied by management in performing
its impairment test for each of the relevant CGUs and walked
through the controls over the process.

For all CGUs we calculated the degree to which the key inputs and
assumptions would need to change before an impairment was
iriggered and considered the likelihood of this occurring, We
performed our own sensitivities on the group's forecasts and
determined whether adequate headroom remained.

For CGUs where there were indicators of impairment or low levels
of headroom we performed detailed testing to critically assess and
corroborate the key inputs to the valuations, including:

«  Analysing the historical accuracy of budgets to actual results
to determine whether forecast cash fiows are reliable based
on past experience;

*  Corroborating the discount rate by obtaining the underlying
data used in lhe calculation and benchmarking it against
market data and comparable organisations; and

*  Validaling the growth rates assumed by comparing them to
economic and industry forecasts.

We assessed the disclosures in Note 15 against the requirements
of 1AS 36 Impairmeni of Assels, in particular in respect of the
requirement to disclose further sensitivities for CGUs where a
reasonably possible change in a key assumplion would cause an
impairment.

We have performed full scope audit procedures over this risk area
in alt relevant stalutory locations, covering 100% of the risk
amount. We have performed specified procedures to identify any
indicators of petential impairment of intangible assets, and
determined the impaci of these indicators where such
circumstances arise.

We concur that group
goodwill and
intangible assets have
been appropriately
assessed for
impairment and no
impairment charge in
the year is necessary.
Of the group's assels,
there are no CGU's
which are particularly
sensitive to
reasonably possible
changes {o key
assumptions.
Management
describes these
sensilivities
appropriately in the
goodwill and
intangibles note to the
group financial
statements, in
accordance with

IAS 36.
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Risk

Qur response to the risk

Key observations
communicated to
the Audit Committee

Misstatement of central
provisions (£6.8 million, 2016:
£6.7 million)

The nature of the group's system
architecture and individual site
accounting functions resulis in
the requirement for central group
provisions primarily in relation lo
its property sites.

Management applies judgement
in assessing provisions held in
respect of individual sites or for
the group as a whola. Given this
judgement, there is a risk thal
provisions are misstated.

Refer to Accaunting policies
(page 73} and Note 26 of the
Consalidated Financial
Statements {page 106).

We understood the group's process for determining the
completeness and measurement of provisions along with
management’s conlrols associated to the process.

We assessed the level of provisions and challenged
management's judgments in relation ta the recognition
requirements of 1AS 37. We referred 1o pre and post year end third
party evidence where appropriate to validate existence and
valuation.

As part of our procedures specifically desfgned to address the risk
of management override of controls we reviewed journal postings
related to central provisions to identify unusual patterns, significant
releases and postings around the year end which may be
indicative of management override.

The use of the audit team's industry knowledge was utilised to
identify any new pravisions that in our professicnal judgement
would be considered unusual.

We have performed full scope audit procedures over this risk area
in all relevant statutory locations, which covered 99% of the risk
amount.

We consider the
central provisions (o
be within an
appropriate range.
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Key observations
communicated to

Risk Qur response to the risk the Audit Committee
Revenue recognition, We understood the business’s revenue recognition policy and how Based on the
including manufacturer's this was appiied including the relevant controls. procedures

rebates and bonuses (£2,269
million, 2016: £1,899 million)

Thare continues to be pressure
on the group to meet
expeciations and targels.

Employee reward and incentive
schemes based on achieving
revenue targets may also place
pressure to manipulate revenue
recognition,

The majority of the group’s sales
arrangements are generally
straightforward, being on a point
of sale basis where vehicles are
handed over lo customers or
servicing takes place at an
agreed point in time, requiring
little judgement to be exercised.

There is a risk that management
may avertide controls to
intentionally misstate revenue
fransactions, either through the
judgements made in estimating
manufacturer rebates and
bonuses or by recording fictitious
revenue transaclions across the
business.

Refer lo Accounting policies
(page 74) and Note 5 of the
Consofidated Financial
Statements (page 83).

performed, including

As Il ue 1 nition testing we used data
part of our overall revenue recog q those in respect of

analysis tools on 100% of revenue from continuing operations in

the year lo test the correlation of revenue to cash receipts to verify manufacturer rebates
. , . . and bonuses, we are
the ocourrence of revenue. This provided us with a high level of tisfied that the
assurance over £2.22 billion (99.7%) of revenue recognised from salis a
L R revenue was
continuing operations. .
appropriately

We performed high level Analytical Review of revenue by recognised during the
dealership. We considered margins in compatrison to prior yearand year.

similar dealerships in order lo identify unusual changes in

performance.

We performed cut-off testing for a sample of revenue transactions
around the period end date, to check that they were recognised in
the appropriate period.

Other audit procedures designed to address the risk of
management override of controls included journal entry testing,
applying particular focus to the manual entries associated to
revenue accounts.

. We discussed key contractual arrangements with management

and obtained relevant documentation, including in respect of
manufacturer rebate and bonus arrangements.

Where rebate arrangements exisled we reviewed coniracis,
recalculated rebates and agreed values lo post year end credil
notes and cash receipts. We performed analysis over changes lo
prior period rebale estimates to challenge assumptions made,
including assessing estimates for evidence of managemenit bias.

We assessed the disclosures against the requirements of IAS 18, in
particuiar in respect of the requirement to disclosure rebate and bonus
arrangements.

We performed full scope audit procedures over revenue for the
92% of revenue within full scope components and our review
procedures obtained a further 6% coverage over revenue
recognised in relation to review scope components.
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Our Opinion on Other Matters Prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our apinion based on the wark undertaken in the caurse of the audit:

0 the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial period for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial slatements; and

o the Strategic Report and the Directors' Repori have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on Which we are Required to Report by Exception

ISAs (UKand  We are required (o report ¢ you if we idenlify material misstatements in the Strategic Report  We have no

Ireland}) or Directors’ Report in light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and its exceptions to
reporting environment obtained in the course of the audit. report.
Companies We are requiired to report to you if, in our opinion: We have no
Act 2006 exceptions to

adequale accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, o returns

adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or port.

reporting
* the parent company financial stalements are not in agreement with the accounting
records and returns; or
+  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by Yaw are not made; or

+  we have not received all the information and explanalions we require for our audit,

Other Information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report set out on pages 8 to 51, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information.

Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated
in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge cbtained in the audit or
otherwise appears o be materially misstaled. If we ideniify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements,
we are reqguired 1o determine whether there is a malerial misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of
the other information. if, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other
information, we are required to report that fact.

Ve have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 51, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as
the direclors defermine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from materiat misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.




1

In preparing the financlal statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group and parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concem and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate
the group or the parent company or o cease operations, or have no reallstic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
Includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatenents can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reaschably be expected to influence the economic decislons of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a bady, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part
16 of the Companles Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no
olher purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financlal statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council's website at hitps://www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

(e
fndt
Nige! Meredith (Seniﬂory auditor)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor

Birmingham
13" March 2018

Notes:

1. The maintenance and integrity of the Marshall Motor Holdings PLC web site Is the responsiblility of
the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does nol involve consideration of these matters and,
accordingly, the audilors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the
financial statements since they were initially presented on the web sife,

2. Legisiation In the United Kingdom govemning the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Consoclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Continuing  Discontinued Contlnuing Discontinued
operations operations Total operations operations Total
2047 2017 2047 2016 2016 204§
Note £°'000 £'000 £°'000 £'000 £'000 £°000
Revenue 5 2231979 36,969 2,268,948 1,860,056 39,349 1,899,405
Cost of sales (1,973,678) (30,159)  (2,003,837) (1,647,957} (30,992)  (1,678,949)
Gross profit 258,301 6,810 265,111 212,099 8,357 220,456
Nel operating expenses 6 (238,204} (2,524) {240,728) (188,698) (2.704) (191,402)
Group operating profit 20,097 4,286 24,383 23,401 5,653 29,054
Other income —
gain on disposal
of subsidiary 778 - 36,851 36,851 - - -
Net finance coslis 11 (7,519} {580) (8.099) (6,154) (749) (6.803)
Profit before taxation 12,578 40,557 53,135 17,247 4,904 22,451
Analysed as:
Underlying profit before tax 25,364 3,706 29,067 20,496 4,804 25,400
Non-underlying items 7 {12,783} 36,851 24,068 {3,249) - (3,249}
Taxation 12 (3.080) (7186} {3,796) (3.214) (1,183) (4,397)
Profit for the year 9,498 39,841 49,339 14,033 3,721 17,754
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 9,519 39,841 49,360 14,041 3,721 17,762
Non-controlling interests {21) - (21} (8) - (8)
9,498 39,841 49,339 14,033 3, 17,754
Total comprehensive
income for
the year net of tax 9,498 39,841 49,339 14,033 3,721 17,754
Attributable to:
Qwners of the parent 9519 39,841 49,360 14,041 KN A 17,762
Non-controlling interests (21) - {21) 8) - (8)
9,498 39,841 49,339 14,033 3,721 17,754
Earnings per share
(expressed in pence per share)
Basic earnings per share 13 123 51.8 63.8 18.1 4.9 23.0
Diluted earnings per share 13 1.9 49.8 61.7 17.6 4.7 22.3
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Balance at 1 January 2016

Profit for the year
Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners

Dividends paid

Issue of share capital

Share-based payments charge
Deferred tax on share based payments
Balance at 31 December 2016

Profil for the year
Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners
Dividends paid

Share-based payments charge
Balance at 31 December 2017

Note

30
31
27

14
31

Equity
attributable
to Non-
Share Share Retained owners of controlling Total
capital premium earnings the parent Interests equity
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
49,431 19,672 60,781 129,884 29 129,913
- - 17,762 17,762 (8) 17,754
- - 17,762 17,762 () 17,754
- - (3,251) (3.251) - (3.251)
100 - {100} - - -
- - 1,313 1,313 - 1,313
- - (70) (70) - (70)
49,531 19,672 7E,435 145,638 29 145,659
- - 49,360 49,360 {21) 49,339
- - 49,360 49,360 (21) 49,339
- - (4,527) {4,527) - (4.527)
- - 739 739 - 739
49,531 19,672 122,007 191,210 - 191,210
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2017

2017 216

Note £000 £'900
Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets 16 121,596 122,033
Property, plant and equipment 16 142,428 201,811
Investment property 17 2,590 2,590
Investments - 10
Deferred tax asset 27 39 36
Total nen-current assets 266,653 326,480
Current assets
Inventories 20 401,260 380,018
Trade and other receivables 21 92,141 95,073
Cash and cash equivalents 22 4,867 83
Assets classified as held for sale 23 750 -
Total current assets 499,018 475,172
Total assets 765,671 801,652
Sharsholders’ equity
Share capital 30 49,531 49,531
Share premium 30 19,672 19,672
Retained earnings 122,007 76,435
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 191,210 145,638
Share of equity attributable to non-contralling interests - 21
Total equity 194,210 145,659
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 25 6,466 41,364
Trade and other payables 24 4,281 7462
Provisions 26 4,015 1,450
Deferred tax liabilities 27 20,448 20,803
Total non-current liabilities 35,210 71,079
Current liabilitles
Loans and borrowings 25 642 77,730
Trade and other payables 24 527,614 497,340
Provisions pail 8,815 5,242
Current tax liabilities 2,180 4,602
Total current liabilities 539,251 584,914
Total liabilities 574,461 655,993
Total equity and Habillties 765,671 801,652

The consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 124 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 13 March 2018.
Daksh Gupta Mark Raban
aor]

4 Chief Financial Officer M D R/Lv
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016
Note £'000 £'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation 53,136 22,151
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 15186 25,183 24,233
Finance cosls 11 8,099 6,903
Share-based payments charge 31 739 1313
Loss/(profit} on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6 1,085 (38)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 945 -
Impairment of investment 10 -
Profit on disposal of dealerships 6/7 - (285)
Profit on disposal of subsidiary 8 {38,664) -
Increase in fair value of investment properties 7 - (670)
50,532 53,607
Changes In working capital:
Increase in inventories {21,223) (14,814)
Decrease/(increass) in trade and other receivables 450 (271)
Increase in trade and other payables 33,703 56,299
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 26 6,138 (2,940)
19,068 38,274
Tax paid (7.,443) (4.669)
Interest paid (8,099) (6,903)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 54,058 80,309
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, equipment, leased vehicles and software 15/16 (57.549) (61,927)
Acquisition of businesses, net of eash acquired 15 (77) (94,495)
Net cash flow from sale of businesses - 3,145
Net cash flow from sale of discontinued operation 8 44,695 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
and leased vehicles 11,985 11418
Net cash outflow from investing activities (946) (141,859)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 41,778 85,444
Repayment of borrowings (85,579) {44,690)
Dividends paid 14 (4.527) (3,251)
Net cash (outflow)linflow from financing activities {48,328) 37,503
Net increasef(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,784 (24,047)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 83 24,130
Cash and cash equivalents at year end 22 4,867 83
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Net Debt Reconciliation
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

Net increase / (decrease) in net cash and cash equivalents
Proceeds from drawdown of RCF

Repayment of drawdown of RCF

Proceeds of asset backed borrowings

Repayment of asset backed borrowings

Repayment of other borrowings

Repayment of bank overdraft

Repayment of / (acquired} debt with acquisitions
Repayment of / (acquired) derivatives with acquisitions
Decrease / (increase) in net debt

Opening net debt

Net debt at year end

Net debt at year end consists of:
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and borrowings

Note

25
25
25
25

25

22
25

2017 2016
£'000 £000
4,784 (24.047)

(10,000} {35.000)
45,000 -
(31,778) {50,444)
68,185 37,308
2,791 7382
10,825 -
25,705 (25.705)
1,258 (1,258)
116,770 {91,764)
(119,011) (27,247)
(2,241) (119,011)
4,867 83
(7.108) (119,094)
(2.241) (119,011)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Presentation of the financial statements

General information

Marshall Motor Holdings Pic (the Company) is incorporated and domiciled in the Unfted Kingdom. The Company is a public
limited company, limited by shares, whose shares are listed on the Alternative Investment Market (AlM) of the London Stock
Exchange. The Company is registered in England under the Companies Acl 2006 (registration number 02051461) with the
address of the registered office being; Airport House, The Airport, Cambridge, CB5 8RY, United Kingdom. The financial statements
of Marshall Motor Holdings Plc were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 13 March 2018.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS} as adopted by the European Union and in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
applicable to entities reporting under IFRS.

The consolidated financial statements include the resuits of the Company and its subsidiaries (together “the Group®); a schedule
of all subsidiaries is contained in Note 6 ‘Investments in Subsidiaries’ of the Company financial statements (page 130). The
consolidated financial statemenis have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of
investment properties and assets held for sale.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Sterling which is both the functional and presentational currency of the
Group and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£'000) excepl where otherwise indicated.

Like-for-like businesses are defined as those which traded under the Group’s ownership throughout both the period under review
and the whole of the comparative period.

Going concern

The consolidaled financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis. After making appropriate enquiries, the Direclors
have a reasonable expectlation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future and for at least one year from the date that these consolidated financial statements are signed. For these reasons they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consclidated financial statements.

2. Accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlied by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group Is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the abllily to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
Specifically, lhe Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has: a) power over the invesiee (i.e., exisling righls that give
it the current ability to direct the relevant aclivities of the investee); b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and c) the ability to use its power over the investee lo affect its returns.

In assessing control potential volting rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. Generally, there
is a presumption that a majority of voling rights results in control. The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of lhe elements of control detailed above.

The financial information of subsidiaries is included in the consolidated financial information from the date that control commences
until the date that conlrol ceases. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consclidated financial stalements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases
to contral the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Accounting policies (continusd)
Basis of consolidation (continued)}

The Group applies the acquisition methad to account for business combinations, The consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assels transferred, the ligbilities incurred 1o the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement.

Any contingent consideration 1o be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed fo be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance
with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in the Income Statement, Conlingent consideration that is
classified as equity is nol re-measured and its subsequent settlement is accounted far within equity.

Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred and are excluded from underlying profit before tax,

On the acquisition of a business, fair values are aftributed to the identiffable assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities unless
the fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which case the value is subsumed into goodwill. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that meet the recognition criteria under [FRS 3 Business
Combinations are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Measurement period adjustments

The Group assesses the fair value of assets acquired and finalises purchase price ailocation within the measurement period
following acquisition and in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations. This includes an exercise to evaluate other material
separately identifiable intangibie assets such as franchise agreements, favourable leases and order backlog.

The finalisation of purchase price allocalions may result in a change in the fair value of assets acquired. In accordance with
IFRS 3 Business Combinalions measurement period adjustments are reflecled in the financial statements as if the final purchase
price aflocation had been completed at the acquisition date.

Transactions eliminated on caonsoljdation

Intragroup balances and any gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in
preparing the consolidated financial information. Losses are eliminated in the same way as gains but only to the extent that there
is no evidence of impairment.

Nan-controlling interests

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition by acquisition basis, either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Subsidiary audit exemption

The consclidated financial statements include the resulls of all subsidiary undertakings owned by the Company as listed in Note 6
‘Investments in Subsidiaries’ on page 130 of the Annual Report.

Certain of the Group's subsidiaries, listed below, have taken the exemption from an audit for the year ended 31 December 2017
by virtue of s479A of the Companies Act 2006. In order to allow these subsidiaries to take the audit exemption, the parent
company, Marshall Motor Holdings plc, has given a statutory guarantee of all the outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2017
of the subsidiaries listed below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Subsidiary audit exemption (continued}

The subsidiaries which have taken an exemnption from audit for the year ended 31 December 2017 by virtue of s479A of the
Companies Act 2006 are:

Tim Brinton Cars Limited {reg no. 01041301) S5.G. Smith (Motors) Limited (reg nc. 00287379)

Marshall of Scunthorpe Limited {reg no. 01174004) $.G. Smith (Motors) Beckenham Limited (reg no. 00648395)
CMG 2007 Limited (reg no. 06275636) S.G. Smith (Motors) Forest Hill Lirnited (reg no. 00581710}
S.G. Smith Automotive Limited (reg no. 00622112) S.G. Smith (Motors) Crown Point Limited (reg no. 00581711)
Exeter Trade Parts Specialists LLP {regno. OC329331)  S.G. Smith (Motors) Sydenham Limited (reg no. 006600686)
Astle Limited (reg no. 01114983} Prep-Point Limited (reg no. 00660067)

Crystal Molor Group Limited (reg no. 04813767) 5.G. Smith Trade Parts Limited (reg no. 01794317)
Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of; the consideration translerred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired.

Where the fair value of the consideration received is less than the fair value of the acquired net assets, the deficit is recognised
immediately in the income statemenl as a bargain purchase. Goodwill is capitalised and subject to an impairment review at least
annually and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed in subsequent
periods.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets, when acquired separately from a business combinalion, include computer softiware and licences. Cost
comprises purchase price from third parlies and amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over the assets' expected
economic lives, which varies depending on the nature of the asset. Licenses are amortised over the length of the licence and
software is amortised between 3-6 years.

Intangible assels acquired as part of a business combination include franchise agreements, favourable leases and order backlog.
These items are capitalised separately from goodwill if the asset is separable and if its fair value can be measured reliably on
initial recognition. Such assets are stated at fair value less accumulated amortisation.

Amartisalion is charged on a straight-line basis aver the following periods:

+ Favourable leases — 3 years
*  Order backlog — as the orders are fulfilied
+  Franchise agreements — indefinite life, are nol amortised.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful economic life are lested annually for impairment. Amortisation is included within net
operating expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Property, plant and equipment

ltems of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and less any recognised impairment
loss. Cost includes the original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition
for its intended use. When paris of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful iives those companents are
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment. Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefils associated with the
itern will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Accounting policles (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is charged to write assets down to their residual values over their estimated useful economic lives. Depreciation is
charged on a straight-line basis over the following periods:

+  Leasehold improvements — shorter of the lease term or 10 years
»  Fixture and fittings — 5 years

«  Computer equipment — 2-5 years

*  Freehold and long-leasehold buildings - 50 years

*  Land - indefinite life, is not depreciated

*  Assels under construction are not depreciated.

The residual values and useful economic lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, al each balance sheet date.
The gains and losses on disposal of assels are determined by comparing sales proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset
and are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Gomprehensive Income.

Investment property

Land and buildings are shown at fair value based on formal valuations by external independent valuers performed at least every
{hree years and updated each year for the Directors’ estimate of value. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to
ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount. Investment praperty is not
depreciated. Any surplus or deficit on revaluation is taken to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and is not
included within underlying profit before tax.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets not subject to amortisation are tested annually for impairment, or more freguently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. Assels that are subject to amortisation are reviewed forimpairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset's carrying amount exceeds ils recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment assels are grouped al the lowest levels for which
there are sepatately identifiable cash flows {cash generating units). Non-financial assels ather than goodwill that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Goodwill and franchise agreements are not subject to amortisation but are assessed for impairment. For the purpose of
impairment tesling, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocaled tc each of the cash generating units ("CGUs"), ar
groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The group of CGUSs te which the goodwill
is alfocated (being groups of dealerships connected by manufacturer brand) represents the lowest leve! within the entity at which
the goodwill Is monitored for internal management purposes.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location
and condition are included and cost is based on price including delivery costs less specific trade discounts. Net realisable value
is based on estimaled selling price less further costs to be incurred to disposal. Provision is made for obsolete, siow-moving or
defective items where appropriate.

Inventories held on consignment are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Pesition with a corresponding liability
when the terms of a consignment agreement and industry practice indicate that the principal benefit of owning the inventory (the
ability to sell it) and principal risks of ownership (stock financing charges, responsibility for safekeeping and some risk of
ohsolascence) rest with the Group. Stock financing charges from manufacturers and other vehicle funding facilities are presented
within finance costs. These charges are expensed over this periad that vehicles are funded.
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Inventories (continued)

The Group finances the purchase of new and used vehicle inventories using vehicle funding facililies provided by various lenders
including the captive finance companies associated with brand partners. These finance arrangements generally have a maturity
of 90 days or less and the Group is normally required to repay amounts cutstanding on the earlier of Ihe sale of the vehicles that
have been funded under the facilities or the stated maturity date. Consistent with industry practice, amounts due to finance
companies in respect of vehicle funding are included within trade payables and disclosed under vehicle financing arrangements.
Related cash flows are reported within cash flows from operating activities within the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.
Vehicle financing facilities are subject to LIBOR-based (or similar) interest rates. The inlerest incurred under these arrangemenis
is included within finance costs and classified as slock holding interest.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from custorners for goods sold or for services performed by the Group in the ordinary course
of business. Credit terms are less than one year, as such they are recognised as current assets. Trade and other receivables are
initially recognised at fair value and subsequently held at amortised cost, less provision for impairment. Appropriate allowances
for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the income statement when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired. When a trade recaivable is considered uncollectable, it is wrillen off. Subsequent recoveries of amounts praviously
writlen off are credited to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Changes in the carrying amount of receivables
are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivatents comprise cash at bank, cash in hand and credit card payments receivable in clearing accounts.
Assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classifled as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. This classification is used where a sale is considered highly probable. Assets held for sale
are measured al the lower of their carrying amount and their fair value less costs to sell.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset to fair value less cosis to sell. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value less costs to seil of an asset is recognised where it is not in excess of any cumulative
impairment Joss which has been previcusly recognised. Non-current assets are not depreciated while they are classified as held
for sale.

Assels classified as held for sale are presented separately from other asset classes in the current assets section of the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Financial instruments

The Group classifies ils financial assets as loans and receivables and has financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. The
classification of financial instruments is determined at initial recognition in accordance with the substance of the contractuaf
arrangement into which the Group has entered.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivalive financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that arise principally through the
provision of services to customers. They are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently stated at amartised cost using
the efiective inlerest method. They are included in current assets except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of
the reporting period. Loans and receivables comprise mainly cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables (see
above for the separalte accounting policies for each specific financial asset).
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2. Accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments {continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Impairment of financial assets are recognised when there is objective evidence (such as significant financia! difficullies on the
part of the counterparty, or default or significant delay in payment) that the Group will be unable to coliect all of the amounts due
under the terms receivable. The amount of such a provision is the difference between the net carrying amount and the present
value of the fulure expected cash flows associated with the impaired financial assel.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost include non-derivative financial liabilities which are held at ariginal cost, less
amorlisation. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise mainly trade and other payables and borrowings (see
below for the separate accounting policies for each specific financial liability).

Fair value measurement

The Group measures non-financial assels such as investment properties, at fair value at each balance sheet date. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal markel for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advaniageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial
asset takes into account a market participant’s abllity to generate econamic benefits by using the asset in ils highest and best
use or by selling it to another market participant that wouid use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valualion technigues that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available lo
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inpuls and minimising the use of uncbservable inputs. All assets
and liabifities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant lo the [air value measurement as a whole:

»  Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

*  Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which Lthe lowest level input that Is significant lo the fair value measurement is directly or
indirectly observable

»  Level 3 ~Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value an a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

External valuers are involved for valuation of investment properties and assets held for sale. At each reporting date, the Valuation
Commiittee analyses the movements in the values of assels and liabilities which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed
as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the Valuation Committee verifies the major inputs applied in the latest
valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracls and other relevant documents.

The Valuation Committee, In conjunction with the Group's external valuers, also compares the change in the fair value of each
asset and fiability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable. On an interim basis, the Valuation
Committee and the Group's external valuers present the valuation results to the Audit Commitiee and the Group's independent
auditors. This includes a discussion of the major assumptions used In the valuations.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assels and liabilities on the basis of the nature,
characteristics and risks of the asset or fiability and the level of the fair value hierarchy, as explained above.
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Fair value measurement (continued)

Fair-value related disclosures for financial instruments and non-financial assets that are measured at fair value or where fair
values are disclosed, are summarised in Note 29 ‘Fair Value Measurement'.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in share
premium as a deduction from the proceeds.

Dividend distribution

Final dividends to the Group's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved by the Group's shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid.

Dividend income

income is recognised when the Group's right to receive the payment is established, which is generally when shareholders approve
the dividend. All of the Company's income is generated in the UK.

Trade and cother payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have heen acquired in the ordinary course of business. These
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due in one year or less. if payment is due at a later date they are presented as
non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method.

Trade payables include the lability for vehicles held on consignment with the corresponding asset included within inventories.
Borrowings

Borrowings comprise asset backed finance, mortgages and bank borrowings; they are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemplion value is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Bank overdrafts, which form an integral part of the Group's cash management, are included as a component of loans and
borrawings for the purpose of presentation in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Bank overdrafts are presented within
borrowings in current liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the Consolidated Staterent of Financial Position when the Group has; a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past evenl, itis probable that an outfiow of economic benefits will be required to settle the cbfigation and
a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. If the effect is material provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects currenl market assessments of the lime value of money and, when appropriate, the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due te the passage of lime is recognised in finance cosls.
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Provisions (continued)

Dilapidation provisian

The Group operates from a number of leasehoid premises and is typicaily required by the terms of the lease to restore leased
premises to their original condition on vacation of the premises at the end of the lease term. Estimates of dilapidation costs are
calculated in accordance with the specific remedialion requirements stipulated in each lease contract. At the point at which these
remediation costs can be refiably estimated, a provision is recognised.

Restructuring provision

Provisions for restructuring costs are recognised at the point when a detailed restructuring plan is in pltace and the Group has
either started to implement the plan or has announced the main features of the plan to those affected. Restructuring provisions
include only direct expenditures necassarily entaiied by the restructuring.

Vacant property provision

The Group recognises provisions for all vacant leasehold property which the Group has substantially ceased to use for the
purpose of its business and where subletting is unlikely, or would be at a reduced rental compared to that being paid under
the head lease. The provision recognised represents the estimated future unavoidable costs of meeling the obligafions under the
leases during the remaining lease term.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration: received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for goods
supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes. The Group recagnises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured, when itis probable that future economic benefits will flow lo the entity, and when specific crileria have
been met for each of the Group’s activilies, as described below,

Revenue comprises sales and charges for vehicles sold and services rendered during the year including sales to other Marshail
of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited group companies but excluding inter-company sales within the Group. Revenue from the sale
of new and used vehicies is recognised at the point at which a customer takes possession of a vehicie. Revenue in respect of
other services is recognised once the service has been provided. Income received in respect of warranty policies sold and
administered by the Group is recognised over the period of the policy on a straight line basis.

Where the Group acts as an agent on behalf of a principal, the assogiated income is recognised within revenue in the period in
which the product is sold and receipt of payment is cerlain. Revenue also comprises commissions receivable for arranging vehicle
financing and related insurance products. Commissions are based on agreed rates and the income is recognised when the
vehicle is recognised as scld.

Rental income

Vehicles leased out under finance leases, which are leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assels are passed (o the lessee and hire purchase conlracts, are shown as debtors in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position at the amount of the net investment in the lease. The interest elements of the rental obligations are credited to the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income over the pesiod of the lease and are apportioned based on a pattern reflecting
a constant periodic rate of return. Finance lease income is presented in revenue.

Rental income arising from operating leases on vehicles and investment properties is recognised in revenue on a straight line
basis over the period of the lease. Vehicles leased out under operating teases are held within property, plant and equipment at
their cost to the Group and are depreciated to their residual values aver the terms of the leases. The vehicle assets held for
contracl rental are transferred into inventory at their carrying amount when they cease lo be leased out and become available
for sale in the Group's ordinary course of business.

Deferred income

Where the Group receives an amount in advance of fulure income streams the value of the receipt is amortised over the period
of the contract as the services are delivered. The unexpired element is disclosed in other liabilities as deferred income.
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Supplier income

In line with industry practice, the Group receives income from brand partners and other suppliers. The Group receives income
from its suppliers based on specific agreements in place. These are generally based on achieving certain objectives such as
specific sales volumes and maintaining agreed operational standards. This supplier income received is recognised as a deduction
from cost of sales at the point when it is reasonably certain that the targets have been achieved for the relevant period and when
income can be measured reliably based on the terms of each relevant supplier agreement.

Supplier income that has been earned but not invoiced at the balance sheel date is recognised in frade receivables and primarily
relates to volume-based incentives that run up to the period end.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that has been disposed of and that either represents a separate major
fine of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or
geographical area of operalions or is a subsidiary which was acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of discontinued
operations are presented separately in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

lLeases

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee, in return for a payment or a seties of payments, the right to
use a specific asset for an agreed period of fime. [_eases under which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the underlying asset are classified as finance leases. All olher leases are classified as operating leases.

Group as lessee

Rental charges payable under operating leases are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on a
straight line basis over the lease term.

Group as lessor

Where the Group is a lessor under an operating lease, the asset is capitalised within property, ptant and equipment and
depreciated over its useful economic life or is capitalised within investment property. Payments received under operating leases
are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Where the Group is a lessor under a finance lease, the amount due from the lessee is recognised as a receivable at the amount
of the Group's net invesiment in the lease. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods to reflect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Group's net investment outstanding in respect of the lease.

Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plans through which the Group allows employees
to receive shares in the Company.

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (calculated excluding the effect of service and non-market
based performance vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The share-based payment charge to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted and is recognised as an emplayee expense within underlying earnings, with
a corresponding Increase in equily.

The share-based payment charge is recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period (being the period over which afl
vesting conditions are to be satisfied). An award subject to graded vesting is accounted for as though it were multiple, separate
awards, the number of awards being determined in direct correlation to the number of instalments in which the options vest.

The share-based payment charge is based on the Group's estimate of the number of options that are expected to vesl. At each
balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimales of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market
performance vesting conditions and service conditions. The Group's remuneration policy gives the Remuneration Committee
discretion to revise performance conditions lo adjust for the impact of Group restructurings and reorganisations on incentive
outcomes. The impacl of any revisions lo original vesting estimates or performance conditions is recognised in the Consolidated
Statermnent of Comprehensive Income with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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Share-based payments (continued)

Secial security contributions payable in connection with share oplions granted are considered lo be an integral part of the grant
and are, therefore, treated as cash-setlled transactions.

When the oplions are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received, net of any directly attributable
transaclion costs, are credited to share capilal (nominal value) and share premium.

Where shares options are forfeited, effective from the dale of the forfeiture, any share-based payment charge previously
recognised in both the current and prior periods in relation to these options is reversed though the Consolidated Sialement of
Comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment through the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

Net finance costs

The Group has no borrowing costs with respect to the acquisition or construction of qualifying assels, therefore, no borrowing
costs are capitalised. Qualifying items of property, plant and equipment are considered to be those which take a substanfial
period of time to get ready for their intended use. These would include assels which are under construction for periods in excess
of a year; the Group's dealership development programmes are not considered to qualify

Finance costs

Finance costs comprise interest payabte on borrowings, stock financing charges and other interest,

Finance income

Finance income comprises Interest receivable on funds invested. Interest income is recognised in the Consclidated Stalement
of Comprehensive Income as it accrues using the effective interest method.

Taxation

The taxation charge comprises corporalion lax payable, deferred tax and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Current taxation

The current tax payable is based on the Group's taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of income or expenditure that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items of income ar expenditure that are never taxable income or tax deductible expenditure. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and their tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred taxalion
is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assels are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deduclible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabililies are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initiai recognition of goodwili or from the
initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affecis neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit,

Deferred tax is provided on temporary dilferences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred ax liabilities where

the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and itis probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Taxation (continued)

Deferred taxation (continued)}

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

The Group's deferred tax balances are calculaled using lax rates that have been enacled or subslantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred lax Is charged
ar credited in the income statement, except where it relates to items charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income
ar equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity respectively.

Deferred tax assets and liabililies are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assels against current
tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assats and liabilities relate to income taxes fevied by the same taxation authority on either
the taxable enlity or different laxabte enlities where there Is an intention to seltle the balances on a net basis.

Pensions

Defined contribution pension plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the employer/femployee pays confributions info a separate fund managed
and administered by a third parly. The employer has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund
dees not hold sufficient assets to pay employees the benefits relating to their service and contributions in current and prior periods.

The Group operates the Marshali Motor Holdings Defined Contribution Pension Scheme.

The Group alsp parlicipates in the defined contribution section of the Marshall Group Executive Pension Plan {"the Plan™) which
is operated by Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited acting as principal employer. The Plan also has a defined benefit section.

Where the Group makes contributions, the Group's contributions to both sections of the Plan are charged lo the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income as they become payable.

Defined benefit pension plan

A defined benefit plan is a pension ptan which defines the amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on relirement,
usually dependant on one or more factors such as age, years of service and remuneration.

By virtue of historic employment relationships, the Group is a participating employer in the defined benefit section of the Plan.
The Plan is non-sectionalised, therefore, the assets of the Plan are nol allocated to or directly associated with individual
parlicipating employers of the Plan.

As there is no contraciual agreement or stated policy for charging the net defined benefit cost between the participating employers
in the Plan, the Group accounts for its contributions as if it were a defined contribution scheme.

Details of the latest actuarial valuations of the Plan are disclosed in the financial statements of the principal employer, Marshall
of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited an extract of which is shown in Note 34 ‘Pensions’,

Alternative performance measures

Certain items recognised in reporled profit or loss before tax can vary significantly from year to year and therefore create volatility
in reported earnings which does not reflect the Group's underlying performance. The Directors believe that the ‘underlying profit
before tax' and ‘underlying basic earnings per share’ measures presented provide a clear and consistent presentation of the
underlying performance of the Group's on-gaing business for shareholders, Underlying profit is not defined by IFRS and therefore
may not be directly comparable wilh the 'adjusted’ profit measures of other companies.
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Alternative performance measures (continued)
Non-underlying items are defined as follows:

—  Acquisilion costs

— Profitlosses arising on closure or disposal of businesses

— Restructuring and reorganisation costs —these are one-off in nalure and do not relate to the Group's underlying performance.

—  Investrment property fair value movements — these reflect the difference between the fair value of an investment properly at
the reporting date and its carrying amount at the previous reporting date.

—  One-off tax items and pensions

—  Asset impairments.

3. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

Except where disclosed otherwise in this note, the accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial
stalements are consistent with those applied when preparing the consolidated financial stalements for the year ended
31 December 2016.

New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group

The following new amendments have been adopted in the consolidated financial statements for the first time during the year
ended 31 December 2017. These have been assessed as having no financial or disclosure impact on the numbers presented.

|AS 7 Cash Flow Statements (disclosure initiative — amendments to JAS 7)
New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted by the Group

The following standards, amendments and interpretations were in issue, but were not yel effective at the balance sheet date,
These standards have not been applied when preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2017.

Effective for

accounting periods

Date issued beginning on or after

IAS 40 Transfers to Investment Property (amendments lo [AS 40) December 2016 1 January 2018
IFRS 2 Classification and Measurements of Share-based Payment

Transactions {(amendments to IFRS 2) June 2016 1 January 2018

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments July 2014 1 January 2018

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers May 2014 1 January 2018

IFRS 16 Leases January 2016 1 January 2019

Impact on future periods of the adoption of new standards, amendments and interpretations
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The IASB issued IFRS 9 Financial instruments in July 2014 to replace |AS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities,
introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new Impairment madel for financial assets. IFRS 9 is effective for accounting
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018. The Group will apply IFRS 9 for the first time in the interim report for the six
months ending 30 June 2018 and the annual report for the year ending 31 December 2018. The Group will apply the new rules
retraspectively from 1 January 2018, by applying the practical expedients permitted by the standard, and therefore comparatives
for 2017 will not be restated.
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Impact on future periods of the adoption of new standards, amendments and interpretations (continued)
IFRS 9 Financial instruments (continued}

Financial assels

The Group expects that its financial assets will qualify for classification al amortised cost under IFRS 9 and therefore no impact
on retained earnings as a result of the reclassification is expected. The new impairment madel requires the recognition of
impairment provisions based on expected credit losses rather than incurred credit losses as is the case under IAS 39. Based on
an initial assessment using the 30 September 2017 receivables ledger and taking into account the short-term nature of the
Group's trade receivables, the impairment losses estimated under the new methodology are expected lo increase by an immaterial
amount, such that an immaterial transition adjustment will be recognised in opening retained earnings as at 1 January 2018.
The full impact and transition adjustment required is dependent on the receivables balance at the transition date.

Financial liabilities

Due to the classification of the Group's financial liabilities, the adoption of IFRS 9 will have no impact on the Group’s accounting
for financial liabilities.

The Group has reviewed ils financial assets and financiaf liabilities and is not expecting any material impacts from the adoption
of IFRS 9.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, a new standard covering the measurement
and timing of revenue recognition; which replaces IAS 18 Revenue and IAS 11 Construction Contracts. IFRS 15 requires
revenue to be recognised in accordance with the timing of when control of a good or service transfers to a customer at an amaount
which represents the consideration to which the Group is expected to be entilled to receive in exchange for the goods or services
transferred. IFRS 15 also requires additional disclosures.

IFRS 15 is effective for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018. The Group will apply IFRS 15 for the first
time in the interim report for the six months ending 30 June 2018 and the annual report for the year ending 31 December 2018.
The Group intends to adopt the standard using the cumulative effect method; therefore, the cumulative impact on transition witt
be recognised in retained garnings as of 1 January 2018 and comparatives for 2017 will not be restated.

Animpact assessment has been carried out during which sales agreements and contractual documents from each of the Group's
core revenue sireams have been reviewed. The five-step model in IFRS 15 has been assessed, including identifying when a
confract exists, identifying distinct performance obligations and determining and allocating the transaction price.

The Group has reviewed its revenue from contracts with customers and is not expecting any material impacts from the adoption
of IFRS 15.

{FRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 Leases was issued by the JASB in January 2016 and will replace IAS 17 Leases. IFRS 16 is due to lake effect for
accounting periods comimencing on or after 1 January 2019. The Group will adopt the new standard in 2019 and will apply
IFRS 16 for the first time in the interim report for the six months ending 30 June 2019 and the annual report for the year ending
31 December 2019.

Lessee accounting

IFRS 16 removes the current distinction between operating leases and finance leases and requires that, for all leases,
a right-of-use asset and a financial liability are recognised in the Consclidated Statement of Financial Position — with certain
oplional exemptions available for short-term leases and leases for low-value items. The asset represents the right to use the
leased asset and the financial liabilily represents the commitments payable under the lease.
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Impact on future periods of the adoption of new standards, amendments and interpretations (continued)
IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Lessee accounting (continued)

Operating lease rental charges in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income will be replaced by interest charges
and depreciation expenses. The timing of the recognilion of these lease costs will also change on adoption of IFRS 16, with
increased costs being recognised in the earlier years of the lease due to interest being recognised at a constant rale on the
carrying value of the lease liability. The transition method chosen influences the magnitude and timing of the charges recognised
in the Income Statement subsequent to adoption, for leases in place at the transition date.

The classification of lease payments in the Consolidated Staterment of Cash Flows changes from being exclusively operating
cash flows lo a combination of operating cash flows {reflecting the interest portion of lease payments) and financing cash flows
{reflecting the principal portion of the lease liability).

The Group is currently finalising a detailed impact assessment to determine the impact and transition adjustments that the
adoption of IFRS 16 will have on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows and the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Based on analysis of the Group's current lease portfolio, initial
assessments indicate that the adoption of IFRS 16 will have a significant impact cn key metrics and profitability measures used
by the Group.

The transition adjustments required will be dependent on the transition method adopted by the Group and the lease portiolio in
existence at the transilion date. As a result of initial assessments, the Group currently expects to adopt the standard using the
retrospective method. Therefore, the cumutalive impact of adoption will be recognised in retained earnings as of 1 January 2018
and comparatives for 2018 will be restated. Based on analysis of the Group's current lease portfolio, and the size of the Group's
commitments under non-cancellable operaling leases (£124m as at 31 December 2017 (see Note 32 ‘Commitments and
Conlingencies')), the Group expects an adjustment lo reserves as well as the recognition of significant right-of-use assets in
non-current assets and significant lease labilities in financial liabilities.

Lessor accounting

With the exception of where the Group is an intermediate lessor, the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases does not significantly change
the Group's lessor accounting. On adoption of IFRS 18, in situations where ihe Group is an intermediate lessor, the Group will
account for its interests in head leases and sub-leases separately. .

Based on initial impact assessments completed 1o date, the Group anticipates that the majority of properties for which the Group
is an intermediate lessor (i.e. sublets property in which it has an inlerest as lessee in a head lease) will meet the definition of a
finance lease and will be accounted for and disclosed as such on adoption if IFRS 16. As a resull, new finance iease receivables
will be recognised on adoption of IFRS 16.

4. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the future whan applying the Group's
accounting policies (as detailed in Note 2 ‘Accounting Policies') to determine the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses reported in the consolidated financial statements. Actual amounts may differ from these estimales.

The Directors regularly review these judgements, estimates and assumplions and any resulting revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which lhe estimate is revised. If the change in estimation impacts future accounting periods, the
revision is recognised in the current and future periods.

Critical accounting judgements

The accounting judgements and assumpticns (excluding those which also invelve estimales which are covered in the key sources
of estimation uncerlainty section below) included in the consolidated financial statements which have a material impact on
amounts reported are as delailed below:
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4. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Critical accounting judgements (continued)

Allocation of goodwill and other indefinite life assets

The Group reviews the goodwill and intangible assets arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses and values each
identifiable asset separately. Intangible assets are then allocated to cash generating units (CGUs); this allocation exercise requires
a high level of judgement and the Group consults with independent experts as required.

Determination of indefinite useful economic life

Goodwill and franchise agreements are intangible assets acquired through business combinations. An assel is considered to
have an indefinite useful economic life if there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate
net cash inflows for the Group. Each franchise agreement is different; each confract being for varying durations, with varying
renewal or termination options. Previous franchise agreements acquired have historically either been renewed without substantial
cost or not had termination options exercised. This past experience, coupled with the strength of the Group’s relationships with
brand partners, determines that these assets have indefinite useful economic lives.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The accounting eslimates included in the consolidated financial staternents which have a material impact on amounts reported
are as detailed below.

Goodwill and other intangible asset impairment

Goodwill is deemed to have an indefinite usefuf economic life and is, therefore, not amorlised. As a resutlt, the Group reviews
goodwill for impairment on at least an annual basis and more frequently where there are indicators of potential impairment. The
impairment review requires the value-in-use of each CGU to be estimated; these calculations are based on a number of
assumptions, Areas of significant judgement include:

— the estimation of future cash flows

—  Ihe selection of risk and the estimation of risk adjustment factors to be applied to cash fiows
— lhe selection of an appropriate discount rate to calculate present value

— the selection of an appropriate ierminal growth rate.

The assumptions used in the impairment test are detailed in Note 15(c} ‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets'. The value-in-use
eslimated for each CGU indicates that the Group has sufficient headroom to support the carrying amounis reported and the
sensitivity analysis supports that an impairment is unlikely to be triggered by a range of reasonably possible changes to the key
assumptions. The assumptions relating to future cash flows, estimated useful economic lives and discount rales are based on
forecasts and are, therefore, inherently judgemental. Future events could result in the assurnptions used needing to be revised,
changing the outcome of the impairment test and resulting in impairment charges being recognised.

Pension provision valuation

As described in Note 2 ‘Accounting Policies’, the Group is a participating employer in the defined benefit section of the Marshall
Group Executive Pension Plan {"the Plan”) of which Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited is the principal employer. The last
acluarial valuation for this section of the Plan was undertaken as at 31 December 2016 and the Group has settled in full all
obligations payable under the associated recovery plan.

As described in Note 34 '‘Pensions’, the Group is currently undertaking a strategic pension review which may result in the Group
ceasing to be a participant in the defined benefit section of the Plan. Based on the status of discussions to date, current
expectations are that it is reasonably probable that this review will result in the Group ceasing participation in this pension scheme.
Therefore, a provision has been recognised for the estimated amount which would become payable in accordance with Section 75
of the Pensions Act 1995 were the Group o cease fo parlicipate in this scheme (the “Employer Debt”).

The Employer Debt has been estimated using assumplions delermined with independent actuarial advice. The liability is sensitive to
the market value of the assels held by the scheme, the discount rate used in assessing liabilities, the actuarial assumptions {which
include price inflation, rates of pension and salary increases, mortality and other demographic assumptions) and 1o the level of
contributions. The provision recognised is based on scheme data, actuarial assumptions and interest rates as at 31 December 2017.
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4. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (confinued}

In the event that an Emplayer Debt is triggered, the final amount payable will be determined by reference to equivalent information
at the date the Group ceased to participate in the defined benefit section of the Plan. As such, the assumptions used in the
current estimate may need to be revised, changing the amount ultimately payable by the Group.

Inventory valuation

Inventories are stated at the lower of their cost and their net realisable value (being the fair value of the motor vehicles less cosls
to sell). Fair values are assessed using repulable industry valuation data which is based upon recent industry activity and forecasts.
Whilst this data is deemed representative of the current value of vehicles held in inventory it is possible that the price at which
the vehicles are actually sold will differ from the vehicles' industry valualions. Where this is the case, adjustments arise in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on the sale of vehicles held in inventory.

Industry valuations are sensitive to rapid changes in regulatory and market cenditions which are difficult to anticipate. In light of
the materiality of the inventory balance in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, this uncertainty is considered to
represent a key source of estimation uncertainty. The inventory provision as at 31 December 2017 represents 2.1% of the gross
invertory balance (2016: 2.4%). A 100bps change in this ratio in 2017 would have changed the charge to the Income Slatement
by approximately £4 million.

Taxation

The Group is subject to both direct and indirect taxes in the ordinary course of its business. Significant judgement is employed
to determine the income tax provision.

Where the final tax treatment applied on finalisation of the Greup's corporation tax returns differs lo the assumptions used when
calculating the amounts currently recognised, these differences impact the current andior deferred lax provisions in the period
in which the fina! tax treatment is delermined. No single ftem is expected 1o give rise to a malerial adjustiment in subsequent
years, however, individual differences when laken in aggregate could have a material impact on the Group's taxation charge in
the next accounting period.

Current tax is provided at the amounts thai are expected to be paid. Deferred tax is provided at the rates that have been enacted
af substantively enacted by the balance sheel date and is provided on temporary differences between the tax bases of assels
and liabilities and their carrying amounts. Faclors affecling the tax charge in future years are set out in Note 12(c} ‘Taxation'.
A 100bps change in the Group's effective tax rate in 2017 would have changed the total tax charge for the year by approximately
£0.5 million.

The recognition of deferred tax assets is determined by reference to expected levels of future taxable profits as estimated in
forecasts. If actual profitability levels differ significantly from those forecast, this could impact the leve! of taxable profit against
which future lax benefits could be relfeved, therefore, requiring the impairment of previously recognised deferred tax assets.

The Group has open tax issues with the tax authorities. Whare an outflow of funds is believed o be probable and a reliabie
estimate of the ocutcome of the issue can be made, a ptovision is recognised based on the best estimate of the liability. These
estimates take into account the specific circumstances of each issue and retevant advice from external experts. These estimates
are inherently judgemental and could change substantially over time as new facts emerge and discussions progress. Where
open issues exist the ultimate liability for such matters may vary from the amounts provided and is dependent upon the outcome
of negoliations with the relevant tax authorilies.

Reassessment of previous areas of estimation uncertainty

Following a review of the Group's sources of eslimalion uncertainty, it has been concluded that the following are no longer key
areas of estimation which have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment in the next financial year to the amounts
currenily reported.

Assets held for contract hire

Following the disposal of Marshall Leasing Limited, the Group no longer owns assets held for contract hire; therefore, there is no
future estimation uncertainty.
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4. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continuved)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimated useful economic life of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

In accordance with IAS 38 Intangible Assets and IAS 16 Property, Plant & Equipment, the Group reviews the estimates of the
useful economic life and the residual value of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment at the end of each accounting
period. Due to the lack of revisions required in pricr periods following these reviews, past experience suggests thal estimates of
the useful economic lives of assets do not represent a key source of estimation uncertainty. As such, this area is no longer
considered to represent a significant risk of a material adjustment being required to the carrying amount of these assets within
the next accounting period.

5. Segmental information
a) Operating segments

Operating segmenis are reported in a manner consistent with the internal management reporting provided to the Chief Operaling
Decision Makers who are responsible for allocating resources and assessing the performance of the operating segments.
Management have identified the Chief Executive Officer as being the Chief Operating Decision Maker in accordance with the
requirements of IFRS 8 Operating Segments.

Management has determined the operating segments based on the operating reports reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer
that are used to assess both performance and strategic decisions. These resulls have been determined using accounling policies
consistent with those used in the consolidated financial staternents.

The Group's business is split info iwo main revenue-generating operating segments and a third support segment. No significant
judgements have been made in determining the reporting segments.

Retaif

This segment includes sales of new and used vehicles, together with the associated ancillary aftersales services of; servicing,
body shop repairs and paris sales.

Leasing

This segment includes the leasing of vehicles to end consumers and fleet customers.

Unaliocated

This segment includes the Group's head office and central management functions including; the Board, group finance functions,
the human resources department and all governance and compliance related functions in support of the wider business. Also
included is rental income arising from investment properties.

From 1 January 2018, the Group is organised into one business segment being the retall segment. The leasing segment was
discontinued on the sale of Marshall Leasing Limited on 24 Navember 2017 (see Note 8 ‘Discontinued Operations').

Depreciation presented in the segmental note is restricted to assets other than assets held for contract rental, on the basis that
depreciation on aur leasing fleet is presented within cost of sales.

All segment revenue, profit before taxation, assets and liabilities are attributable to the principal activity of the Group being the
provision of car and commercial vehicle sales, leasing, vehicle service and other related services.

Geographical Information

Revenue earned from sales is disclosed by origin and is not materially different from revenue by destination. All of the Group's
revenue is generated in the UK,
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5. Segmental information (continued)

a) Operating segments (confinued)

Retail Leasing
{note 5b} (Discontinued)  Unallocated Total
For the year ended 31 December 2017 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Total revenue from external customers 2,231,696 36,969 2383 2,268,948
Depreciation and amortisation {9,190) 4) (27) (9,221)
Segment operaling profit{{oss}) 34,714 4,286 {14,617) 24,383
Other income — gain on disposal of subsidiary - 36,851 - 36,851
Net finance cosis (6,586) (580) (933) {8,099)
Underlying profit/{loss) before tax 34,911 3,706 (9,550) 29,067
Non-underlying items {6,783) 36,851 {6,000) 24,068
Profiti(loss) before taxation 28,128 40,557 (15,550) 53,135
Totai assets 762,304 - 3,367 765,671
Total tiabilities 537,064 - 37,397 574,461
Additions in the period
Property, plant, equipment and software assets 24,365 34,700 - 59,065
Retail Leasing
(note 5b) (Discontinued) Unallocated Total
For the year ended 31 December 2016 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Total revenue from external customers 1,859,734 39,349 322 1,899,405
Depreciation and amortisalion (6.862) (6) {22) (6,890}
Segment operating profit/(loss) 32,637 5,653 (9,2356) 29,054
Net finance costs (5,319) (749) {835) (6,903)
Underlying profit/(loss) before tax 28,900 4,804 (8,404) 25,400
Non-underlying items (1,582) - (1,667) (3,249)
Profit/{loss) before taxation 27,318 4,904 (10,071) 22,151
Total assets 620,365 91,512 88,775 801,652
Total liabilities 417,622 73,454 164,917 655,993
Additions in the period
Property, plant, equipment and software assets 94,344 35,637 - 129,881
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5. Segmental information (continued)

b) Retail segment revenue

Retait revenue is derived from a number of service lines, principally being new vehicle sales and aftersales, as set out below,

Revenue Gross Profit
For the year ended 31 December 2017 £000 mix* £'000 mix
New Car 1,166,471 51.2% 84,086 32.6%
Used Car 869,733 38.2% 59,918 23.2%
Aflersales 243,064 10.6% 113,975 44.2%
internal (47,572) - - -
Total 2,231,696 100% 257,979 100%
Revenue Gross Profit

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £'000 mix* £'000 mix
New Car 983,314 51.6% 68,885 32.5%
Used Car 718,329 37.7% 50,667 23.9%
Aftersales 202,568 10.7% 92,284 43.6%
Internal {44,477) - - -
Total 1,859,734 100% 211,846 100%
*mix calculation excludes internal sales
6. Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/{(crediting):

2017 2016

£000 £000
Depreciation of assets held for contract rental {nole 16} 15,962 17,343
Depreciation of property, piant and equipment (note 16) 8,917 5,838
Amortisation of other intangibles {note 15) 304 1,062
Profit on disposal of business units - {285}
Loss/(profit} on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,085 (38)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment {note 16} 945 -
Operating lease rentals — property 11,698 10,324
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7. Non-underlying items

2017 2016

£'000 £'000
Profit on disposal of subsidiary (36,851} -
Post-retirement benefits charge 6,000 -
Acquisition costs - 2,163
Profit on disposal of business units - (285)
Amortisation of acquired order back - 769
Gain on interest rate swap termination - (294)
Restructuring costs 6.783 1,566
Investment property fair value movements - (670)
Non-underlying Items (24,068} 3,249

Profit on disposal of subsidiary

See Nole 8 '‘Discontinued Operations' for further delails of the transaction giving rise tc the profit on disposal of subsidiary.

Paost-retirement benefits charge

See Note 34 'Pensions’ for further details of the transaction giving rise to this post-retirement benefits charge.

Acquisition costs

Acquisition cosls were incurred in connection with the acquisition of Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limited in 2016. See Note 15
‘Goadwill and Cther Intangibles’ for further details of the transaction,

Profit on disposal of business unils

During 20116, the Group disposed of two Toyota dealerships and one Nissan dealership realising a profit of £285,000.

Amortisation of acquired order book

Amortisation of acquired order book is considered exceptional by virtue of its nature, having been recognised as an intangible
asset on acquisition and realised immediately afterwards as the orders were fulfilled.

Gain on Interest rate swap termination

At the point of the acquisition, Ridgeway had a claim in progress in respect of the mis-selling of certain histaric interest rate swap
products. These claims, settled in 2016, gave rise to a gain on termination of £294,000,

Restructuring costs

Restructuring costs during the current year represent the costs incurred as a result of the closure of five franchised dealerships
and one used car centre. Three of the franchised dealerships impacted were in relatively small markels and within close proximity
of other existing Group dealerships of the same franchise. Two of the impacted businesses shared a subscale site in Oxford
with a high fixed cost base which was nol sustainable in the longer term, The final closure was the Citroén Cambridge new car
sales franchise which was the last remaining representation point with this particular brand partner. Restructuring costs include
vacant property related costs of £4,309,000, redundancy costs of £344,000 and £2,130,000 of tangible and intangible asset
impairment losses and write offs,

Restructuring and reorganisation costs in the prior period relate to one-off costs of integration and reorganisation (following the
acquisitions of Ridgeway and SG Smith).

Investment property fair value movements

See Note 17 ‘Investment properties’ for further detail of these movements.
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8. Discontinued operations

On 24 November 2017 the Group disposed of Marshall Leasing Limited and its subsidiary {Gates Contract Hire Limited). Marshall
Leasing Limited operated the Group's leasing segment.

A profit after tax of £36,851,000 on the sale, being the difference between sale proceeds and the carrying value of the net assets,
less settlement of pension liability, transaction costs and taxation. This profit is disclosed within non-underlying items (Note 7
‘Non-Underlying tems’). The resuits of the discontinued operation are disclosed in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

a) Details of the sale of the subsidiary

The carrying value of the assets and net cash generated on disposal are detailed below

2017

£'000
Gross disposal consideration in cash 42,500
Pension retention (1,500)
Net disposatl consideration in cash 41,000
Less carrying value of nel assets sold at 24 November 2017:
- Property, plant and equipment 78,959
— Deferred tax 1,647
— Trade and other receivables 2,510
— Bank overdraft {3,695)
— Trade and other payables {8,120}
~ Asset backed borrowings (68,185)
-~ Corporation tax (680)

2,336
Gain on sale of subsidiary before income tax 38,664
Transaction cosls (1,813)
Net gain on sale of subsidiary before income tax 36,851
Income tax expense on gain -
Gain on sale of subsidiary after iIncome tax 36,851
Cash inflow on disposal of subsidiary:
Net disposal consideration in cash 41,000
Disposal of bank overdraft 3,695
Net cash flow from sale of discontinued operation 44,695
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8. Discontinued operations (continued;

b) Discontinued cash flow information

The cash flow information is for the period ended 24 November 2017, the date of the disposal of Marshall Leasing Limited.

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Purchase of properly, plant, equipment and software
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equiprnent
Net cash outflow from investing activities

Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Dividends paid

Net cash {outflow)/inflow from financing activities

Net {decrease)/increase in cash generated by the subsidiary

9. Auditor's remuneration

During the year the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditors:

Audit services:

~ fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audit of the parent Company
and consoiidated financial statements

— audit of Group’s subsidiaries

Fees payabie to the Company's auditors for other services:

- review of interim financial statements

Total auditor's remuneration

2017 2016
£000 £000
16,027 20,555
(34,700) (35.540)
9,474 10,870
(25,226) (24,570)
31,778 50,444
(28,106) (37,307)
(18,712} -
{15,040) 13,137
(24,239) 9,122
2017 2016
£'000 £000
251 251

78 79

36 36

365 366
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10. Employees and directors

a) Employee costs for the Group during the year

The aggregate remuneration of employees and directors was:

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Wages and salaries 115,905 101,678
Social security costs 13,653 10,613
Other pension costs 8,059 1,714
Share based payments 1,005 1,313
138,522 115,318
Employee costs are included in:

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Cost of sales 13,750 12,835
Net operating expenses 124,772 102,483
138,522 115,318

The average number of employees (including Executive Direclors) was:
2017 2016
Retail 3,616 3,193
Leasing (Discontinued) 43 413
Unallocated 264 259
3,923 3,495

The average number of Group employees axcludes temporary and contract staff.
b} Directors’ emoluments

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, their share incentives and pension entitlements are set out in the Directors’
Remuneration Report on pages 44 and 50.

c) Key management compensation

The following table detaits the aggregate compensation paid in respect of key management personnel —which comprises both
senior management who sit on the enlarged operational beard and statutory direclors.

2017 2016

£'000 £'000

Wages and salaries 4,805 3,600
Post-employment benefits 273 175
Compensation for loss of office 52 83
Share-based payments 1,005 1,313
6,135 5171

Deltails of the share option schemes are provided in Note 31 *Share-Based Payments'.
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11. Net finance costs

2017 2016

£'000 £'000
Interest income on short term bank deposils (11) (40)
Net interest payable on asset backed finance (Discontinuad) 580 749
Stock financing charges and other interest 5,385 3,958
Interesl payable on bank borrowings 2,145 2,236
Net finance costs 8,099 6,903
12. Taxation
a) Taxation charge

2017 2016

£'000 £'000
Current tax
Current tax on profits for the year 5,691 5,598
Adjustments in respect of prior years 50 316
Total current tax charge 5,701 5914
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (2,015} (18)
Impact of change in tax rates - {1,334)
Adjustments in respect of prior years 110 (165)
Total deferred tax credit {(note 27) (1,905) {1,517)
Total taxation charge 3,796 4,397
Income tax expense is atiributable to:
Profit from continuing operations 3,080 3,214
Profit from discontinued operation 716 1,183
Total taxation charge 3,796 4,397

The 1ax charge on discontinued operations amounting to £716,000 (2016: £1,183,000) all relales to tax payable on profit from
operations.
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12. Taxation (continued)

b) Reconciliation of tax charge
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The taxation charge for the year reconciles to the profit per the Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as follows:

2047 2017 2016 2018

£'000 % £'000 %
Prof befora taxation 53,135 22,151
Notlonal taxation charge at corporation tax rate of 19.25% {2016: 20,00%) 10,228 18.25% 4,430 20.00%
Effacts of:
Tax effect of items nol deductible for tax purposas! 630 1.19% 1,122 5.07%
Acquisition costs - - 433 1.95%
Non-taxable gain on sale of subsidiary {7.094) (13.36%) -
Prafil on disposal of non-qualifying assats (145) (0.27%) {341) {1.54%)
Recognition of deferred lax previously unrecognised - - (64) {0.29%;)
Adjustments in respect of prior years 160 0.30% 151 0.68%
Utilisation of broughl forward losses previously unrecognised (31) {0.06%) -
Deferred tax credil relaling lo reduclion in tax rates - - (1,385) (6.25%)
Efiecl of difference between closing defarred tax rale and current lax rale 48 0.09% 51 0.23%
Taxation charge and effective tax rate 3,796 T.14% 4,397 19.85%

! Expenses not deduclible predeminantly consist of depreciation charges on non-qualifying assets.

The applicable corporation tax rate is calculated at 19.25% (2016: 20.00%) of the estimated taxable profit for the year. The

standard rate of corporation tax reduced from 20.00% to 19.00% on 1 April 2017,

The analysis of the Group’s effective tax rate between underlying and non-underlying activities is as follows:

2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016

Non- Non-
Underlying underlying TJotal Underlying underlying Total
E'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'009 £'000
Praofit before taxation 29,067 24,068 53,135 25,400 (3,249) 22,151
Taxation 5,270 (1.474) 3,796 5,153 {758) 4,397
Effective tax rate 18.13% (6.12%) 7.14% 20.29% 23.27% 19.85%

Non-recurring items

The Group's total effective tax rate for 2017 of 7.14% was influenced by the significant non-taxable gain on disposal of a subsidiary,
due to the chargeable gain falling within the substantial shareholding exemption. Excluding this item, the total effective tax rate

for the year would have been 23.31%.

The prior year total effective tax rate of 19.85% was impacted by the change in fulure tax rates enacted during 2016, reducing
the rate by 6.25%. This reduction was partially offset by a 1.95% increase in the rate resulting from non-deductible acquisition

cosls.
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12. Taxationh (continued)
c) Factors affecting the taxation charge of future years

Future tax charges, and therefore the Group's effective tax rate, may be affecled by factors such as acquisitions, disposals,
restructuring and tax regime reforms.

There have been no changes to the standard rate of corporation tax announced during 2017.

In the budget of 16 March 2016, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a further 1% reduclion 1o the standard rate of
corporation tax which will be applicable in the financial year beginning 1 April 2020. The Finance Act 2016, which was substantively
enacted when it received Royal Assent on 15 September 2016, reduced the corporation tax rate to 19.00% with effect from 1 April
2017 decreasing to 17.00% with effect from 1 April 2020. These changes to the rate of corporation tax will impact the amount of
future cash tax paymenits for which the Group will be responsible, These changes also impacted the valuation of deferred tax
assets and liabilities, altering the deferred tax charge and closing deferred tax position for 2016,

13. Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share are caiculated by dividing the earnings attributable to equity shareholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares during the year and the diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue in the

vear after taking account of the dilutive impact of shares under option of 2,866,231 at 31 December 2017 (2016: 2,380,040).

Underlying earnings per share are based on basic earnings per share adjusted for the impact of non-underlying items.

2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016
Continuing Discontinued Continuing Dlscontinued
operations operations Total operations operations Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Profit for the year 9,519 39,841 49 360 14,041 3,721 17,762
Non-controlling inleresls 21 - (21} (8) - (8}
Basic earnings 9,498 39,841 49,339 14,033 3,721 17,754

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue for the
basic earnings per share 77392862 77,392,862 77392862 77,326,970 77,326,970 77,326,970

Diluted weighted average
number of shares in issue

for diluted earnings per share 79,929,238 79,929,238 79,929,238 79,500,548 79,500,548 79,500,548
Basic garnings per share

{in pence per share} 12.3 51.5 63.8 18.1 4.9 23.0
Diluted earnings per share

(in pence per share) 11.9 49.8 61.7 17.6 4.7 22,3
Underlying earnings per share

{non GAAP measure) 26.9 3.9 30.8 213 4.9 26.2
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14. Dividends

A final dividend of £2,864,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016 was paid in May 2017. This represented a payment of
3.70p per ardinary share in issue at that time.

An interim dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 of £1,663,000 (2016: £1,393,000), representing a payment
of 2.15p per ordinary share in issue at that time, was paid in September 2017.

A final dividend of 4.25p per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 is o be proposed at the annual general
meeting on 22 May 2018. The ex-dividend date will be 26 April 2018 and the asscciated record date will be 27 Aprit 2018. This
dividend will be paid subject to shareholder approval on 25 May 2018 and these financial statements do not reflect this final
dividend payable.

15. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Franchise Favourable Order
Goodwill agreements  Soflware leases backlog Tetal
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost
At 1 January 2016 26,782 13,5652 623 - - 40,957
Additions - - 506 - - 506
Additions on acquisition 23,516 58,563 - 172 769 83,020
Disposals (1,222) - (50) - - (1,272)
At 31 December 2016 49,076 72,115 1,079 172 769 123,211
Additions - - 235 - - 235
Additions on acquisition - 22 - - - 22
Write-offs (447) - - - {769) (1,216)
Transfers from Property, plant and equipment - - 57 - - 57
At 31 December 2017 48,629 72,137 1,371 172 - 122,309
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2016 - - 170 - - 170
Charge for the year - - 250 33 769 1,052
Disposals - - {44) - - (44}
At 31 December 2016 - - 376 33 769 1,178
Charge for the year - - 247 57 - 304
Disposals - - - - (769) (769)
At 31 December 2017 - - 623 90 - 713
Net book value
At 31 December 2016 49,076 72,115 703 139 - 122,033
At 31 December 2017 48,629 72137 748 82 - 121,596
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
15. Goodwill and other intangible assets {continued)

a) Acquisitions and disposals — 2017

Acquisitions

On 2 June 2017 the Group acquired the trade and assets of a Volvo dealership which operates in Leeds.

The estimated net assets at the dalte of the acquisition are stated at their provisional fair value as set out below.

NBV

at 2 June 2017

£'000

Intangibie assets 22
Property, ptant & equipment 32
Inventories 21
Trade and other receivables 28
Trade and other payables (26)
Net assets acquired 77
Total cash consideration 77

The results of the Volvo dealership were consolidated into the Group's results from 2 June 2017. For the period from acquisition
to 31 December 2017, revenues of the Volvo dealership were immaterial in the context of the Group's revenues, as was its loss
before tax.

If the acquisition had taken effect at the beginning of the reporting period in which the acquisition cccurred (1 January 2017), on
a pro forma basis, the change in revenue of the combined Group for 2017 would have been immaterial in the context of the
Group, as would have been the change in profit before tax. This pro forma information does not purport o represent the results
of the combined Group that actually would have occurred had the acquisition taken place on 1 January 2017 and should not be
taken to be representative of future resulls.

Acquisition costs arising on acquisitions in 2017 were immaterial,

Measurement period adjustments

On 25 May 2616 the Company acquired the entire share capital of Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limited (*Ridgeway"). Ridgeway
itself is the parent company of six wholly owned subsidiary companies, Pentagon Limited, Pentagon South West Limited,
Ridgeway TPS Limited, Ridgeway Bavarian Limited, Wood in Hampshire Limited and Woad of Salisbury Limited.

In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the measurement period adjustment has been reflected in these financial
statements as if the final purchase price allocation had been completed at the acquisition date. The acquisition accounting has
been finalised in the period and the net assets at the date of acquisition are stated at their fair values as set out in section b)
hetow.

There has been no significant movement in the value of net assets acquired and gocdwill between 31 December 2016 and
31 December 2017. The only movements being reclassifications between properly, plant and equipment {£133,000 increase),
trade and other receivabies (£279,000 decrease) and trade and other payables {£146,000 decrease).

Write-offs

In November 2017, the decision was made to close five franchised dealerships and one used car centre. Three of the franchised
dealerships closed were in relatively small markets and within close proximity of other, existing Group dealerships of the same
franchise. Two of the impacted businesses shared a subscale site in Oxford with a high fixed cost base which was not sustainable
in the longer term. The finaf dealership closure was the closure of the last remaining representation point with a particular brand
partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
15. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

a) Acquisitions and disposals — 2017 (continued)

Write-offs (continued)

As a result of these closures, there were the following write-offs of goodwill: £22,000 associated with the Honda CGU, £5,000
associated with the Vauxhall CGU and £420,000 associated with the Nissan CGU.

The order backlog was fuffilled and fuliy amortised in 2016, and subsequently written off during the current year.
b) Aecquisitions and disposals — 2016

Acquisitions
Ridgeway Group

On 25 May 2016 the Company acquired the entire share capilal of Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limited ("Ridgeway”}. Ridgeway
itself is the parent company of six wholly owned subsidiary companies, Pentagon Limited, Pentagon South West Limited,
Ridgeway TPS Limited, Ridgeway Bavarian Limited, Wood in Hampshire Limited and Wood of Salisbury Limited.

Separately identifiable intangible assels lotalling £59,504,000 were acquired as part of the acquisition of Ridgeway. A valuation
of these infangible assels has been performed by Globalview Advisors, an independent external specialist. These intangible
assets have been assigned indefinite lives on the basis thal these arrangements are expected lo be renewed for the foreseeable
future. The goodwill arising on the acquisition of the above company is attributable to the anticipated profitability of the distribution
of the Group's products in new markets and the anticipated operating synergies derived from the combination.

The fair value of the net assels at the date of acquisition are set out below:

Ridgeway

Garages

{Newbury)

Limited

Acquisition

balance

sheet at

NBYV at Fair value 31 December

31 May 2016 adjustment 2017

£'000 £'000 £'000

Goodwill 2,600 (2,600) -
Intangible assets - 59,504 59,504
Deferred tax on acquired intangible assets - (10,728) (10,728)

Property, plant & equipment 65,414 (303) 65,111
inventories 124,124 (724) 123,400
Trade and other receivables 51,627 (279) 51,348
Cash and cash equivalents 12,664 - 12,664
Trade and cther payables (175,041) {3,103) (178,144}
Debt (25,705) - (25,705}
Provisions - (5,026) {5,026)
Deferred tax (954) (6,645) (7,599)
Derivatives (1,258) - {1.258)
Net assets acquired 53,41 30,096 83,567
Goodwill 23,380
Total cash consideration 106,947
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
15. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continved)

b} Acquisitions and disposals —- 2016 (continued)

Acquisitions (continued)
Ridgeway Group {continued)

As disclosed al the lime of acquisition, Ridgeway's consolidated statutory accounts for the year ended 2015 included a contingent
liabilily note in respect of various film {ax planning initiatives. Settlement of this liabilily was agreed subsequent to the year ended
31 December 2016 and the liability of £4.2m is included as a fair value adjustment in the preceding table and was carried within
provisions at 31 December 2018, Fair value adjustments alsc include provisional adjustments for property related matters,
inventory valuations, deferred tax, intangible assets and goodwill.

Acquisition costs of £2,163,000 have been charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2016.

The table below summarises the amount of revenue and profit of the acquiree since the acquisition dale included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the period from acquisition to the year ended 31 December 2016.

Profit

Revenue before tax

£'000 £000

Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limited 414,643 5,557

Scratch Match Accident Repair Centre

On 2 November 2016 Marshall Molor Group Limited acquired the trade and assets of Scralch Match Accident Repair Centre
from RLMO Limited. The fair value of the net assets at the date of acquisilion are set out below.

Scratch Match
Accident Repair

Centre

£'000

Property, plant & equipment 76
Net assets acquired 76
Goodwill 136
Total cash consideration 212

The results of the Scratch Malch Accident Repair Centre were consolidated into the Group's results from 2 November 2016.
For the period from acquisition to 31 December 2016, revenues of the Scratch Malch Accident Repalr Centre were immaterial
in the context of the Group's tevenues, as was iis loss before tax.

if the acquisition had taken effect at the beginning of the reporting period in which the acquisition occurred (1 January 2016,
on a pro forma basis, the change in revenue of the combined Group for 2016 would have been immalerial in the context of the
Group, as would have been lhe change in profit before lax. This pro forma information does not purport to represent the results
of the combined Group that actually would have occurred had the acquisition taken place on 1 January 2016 and should not be
taken to be representative of future results.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
15. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

b) Acquisitions and disposals - 2016 (continued)

Measurement perlod adjustments

On 16 November 2015 the Company acquired the entire share capital of SG Smith Holdings Limited ("SGS”). SGS itself is the
holding company of 9 wholly owned subsidiary companies, SG Smith Automotive Limited, SG Smith (Motors) Limited, SG Smith
{Motors) Beckenham Limited, SG Smith (Motors) Forest Hill Limited, SG Smith (Motors) Crown Point Limited, SG Smith (Motors)
Sydenham Limited, SG Smith (Molors) Croydon Limited, SG Smith Trade Paris Limited and Prep-Point Limited. Within the
measurement period following acquisition of SGS, and in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the purchase price
allocation was finalised. The resulting adjustments consisled of; a reclassification of £13,522,000 from goodwill io franchise
agreements, and an increase in goodwill of £2,543,000, an increase in trade payables of £314,000 and an increase in deferred
tax liabilities of £2,439,000. These adjustmenis were made within 12 months from the date of acquisition by restating the
1 January 2016 balances.

Disposals

During 2018, the Group disposed of two Toyola dealerships and one Nissan dealership (resulting in the disposal of goodwill of
£1,222 000 assaciated with the Nissan CGU).

c) Impairment testing

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and franchise agreements are allocated to a cash generaling unit ("CGU"), or to
the smallest group of CGUs where it is not possible to apportion the goodwill ar intangible assets at the individual CGU level,
Each CGU or group of CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill
is monitored for management purposes. Goodwill and intangible assets arising on business combinations are allocated to CGUs
by determining which CGU is expected io benefit from the synergies of the business combination.

The Group's CGUs are groups of dealerships connected by manufacturer brand.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicale that the
carrying amount may nol be recoverable and a potential impairment may be required. Impairment reviews have been perfermed
for all groups of GGls for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 20186.

Valuation basis

The recaverable amount of the Group’s CGUs is determined by reference to their value-in-use to perpetuity calculated using a
discounted cash flow approach, with a pre-tax discount rate applied to the projected, risk-adjusted pre-iax cash flows and terminal
value.

Period of specific profected cash flows

The value-in-use of each CGU is calculated using cash flow projections for a five-year period; from 1 January 2018 to
31 December 2022, These projections are based on the most recent budget which has been approved by the Board; the budget
for the year ending 31 December 2018. The key assumptions in the most recent annual budget on which the cash flow projections
are based relate to expectations of sales volumes and margins and expectations around changes in the operating cost base.
The assumptions made are based on past experience, adjusted for expected changes, and external sources of informalion, The
cash flows include ongoing capital expenditure required to maintain the Group's dealership network, but exclude any growth
capital expenditure projects to which the Group was not committed at the reporting date.

A flat, long-term growth rale of 5% (2016: 5%) has been used to extrapolate cash flows for a further four years beyond budget,

through la 31 December 2022. This growth rate reflects the products and markets in which the relevant CGU, or groups of CGUSs,
operate. Growth rates are internat forecasts based on bath internal and external market information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
15. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

c) Impairment testing (continued)

Discount rate

The cash flow projections have been discounted using a rate derived from the Group's pre-tax weighted average cost of capital
adjusted for industry and market risk. The discount rate used is 10.4% (2016: 10.0%).

Terminal growth rate

The cash flows after the forecast period are extrapolated into the future over the useful economic life of the group of CGUs using
a steady or declining growth rate that is consistent with that of the preduct and industry. These cash flows form the basis of what
is referred to as the terminal value, The growth rate to perpetuily beyond the initial budgeted cash flows applied in the value-in-use
calculations lo arrive al a terminal value is 2% (2016: 2%). Terminal growth rates are based on management's astimate of future
long-ferm average growth rates.

Conclusion

On completion of the value-in-use calculations and cn comparison to their carrying amount, each of the Group's CGUs had
significant headroom under the annual impairment review; no impairments are considered to be required.,

Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions

impairment testing is dependent on estimates and judgements, particularly as they relate to the forecasting of future cash flows,
the discount rates selected and expecled long-term growth rates.

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis on the impairment tests using two scenarios; firstly, where the discount rate
increasas by 200bps and, secondly, where EBITDA decreases by 50%. These scenarios represent the upper limit of what is
considered reasonably possible. Neither scenario resulted in the need to recognise an impairment.
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16. Property, plant and equipment

Cost

At 1 January 2016
Additions at cost
Additions on acquisition
Disposals

Transfers

At 31 December 2016
Additions at cost
Addilions on acquisition
Disposals

Disposal of subsidiary
Transfers

Transfers to Software
Transfers to Assets held
for sale

At 31 December 2017

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2016
Charges for the year
Disposals

Transfers

At 31 December 2016
Charges for the year
Disposals

Disposal of subsidiary
Impairment

Transfers

Transfers to Soflware
At 31 December 2017

Net book value
At 31 December 2016
At 31 December 2017
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Freehold
and long Assets
leasehold heid for Assets
land and Leasehold Plant and contract under
buildings improvement equipment rental construction Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
37.381 12,372 27,177 96,890 - 173,820
1,370 236 3,545 35,637 23,633 64,321
53,276 2,872 5,007 - 3,899 65,054
(1,397) (278) (3,443} (30,483) - {35,601)
17,857 (187) 2,840 - {20,510) -
108,487 15,015 35,126 101,944 7,022 267,594
47 829 5,206 34,700 18,016 58,798
- - 32 - - 32
(2,485) (673) (2,734) (23,148) - (29,040)
- (42) {45) (113,49¢6) - {113,583}
16,052 2,555 1,308 - {19,915) -
- - (349} - - (349)
(750) - - - - (750}
121,351 17,684 38,544 - 5,123 182,702
9,121 2,540 20,445 34,429 - 66,535
934 1,146 3,758 17,343 - 23,181
(1,103} {259} (3,057} (19,514) - (23,933)
44 (44) - - - -
8,996 3,383 21,1486 32,258 - 65,783
1,434 1,913 5,570 15,962 - 24,879
(53) (608) (2,083) (13.673) - (16,417)
- (42) {35) (34,547) - (34,624)
194 332 419 - - 945
(405) 138 267 - - -
- - (292) - - (292)
10,166 5116 24,992 - - 40,274
99,491 11,632 13,980 69,686 7,022 201,811
111,185 12,568 13,552 - 5,123 142,428

As at 31 Decernber 2017, the Group had capitat commitments totalling £7.7m (2016: £11.7m} relating to ongoing construction

projects.
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16. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Transfers to software

On integration of the Ridgeway businesses into the Group, certain items of software were identified in the tangible fixed assets
records of the recently acquired businesses. These software assets have heen reclassified from property, plant and equipment
to inlangible assets (see Note 15 ‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assels’) consistent with the Group’s accounting policies.
Transfers to assets held for sale

In Decermnber 2017, the Group ceased commercial activilies al one if its freehold properties; as the property was no longer used
for the commercial activity of the business and is being marketed for sale, the asset has been written down to its fair value and
transferred to assets classified as held for sale (see Note 23 'Assets Classified as Held for Sale’).

impairments

The impairment loss of £787,000 represented the write-down of certain property, plant and equipment in the five franchised

dealerships and one used car centre which were announced as closing in November 2017. This loss was recognised in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in net operating expenses.

17. Investment property

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Fair value at 1 January 2,590 1,920
Change in fair value - 670
Fair value at 31 December 2,590 2,590

Investment properties are stated at fair value; a formal valuation is carried out at least every three years by a Chartered Surveyor
or an open market value basis. The most recent fulf valuation of investment properties was carried out as at 31 December 2016
by Rapleys, Chartered Surveyors. The Group's leasehold investment property was valued on a fair value basis as at 31 December
2016 at £590,000 and the Group's freehold investment property on a fair value basis as at 31 December 2016 at £2,000,000.
A revaluation surplus of £670,000 was taken o the consolidated staterment of comprehensive income in 2016 and is included in
non-underlying items in Note 7 ‘Non-Underlying items’.

No formal valualion was required as at 31 December 2017, A desktop review of the properties was carried out by Rapleys,
Charfered Surveyors as at 13 Novernber 2017; no indicators were identified which signalled a maferial change in the fair vaive
of investment properties and as such, investment properties continue to be held at their 3% December 2016 valve.

The properties are rented out to third parties. Rental income of £283,000 was recognised in 2017 (2016: £322,000), cosl of any
repairs and maintenance were incurred and made by the lessees. There are no restrictions on the Group's ability to dispose of
the investment properlies or use any funds arising on disposal. There are no contractual commitments for further development
of the investment properties.
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18. Finance leases — Group as lessor

Lease agreements in which the other party, as lessee, is regarded as the economic owner of the leased assels give rise to
accounts receivable determined by reference to lhe discounted future lease payments.

The Group leased out vehicles under finance leases through one of its subsidiaries Marshall Leasing Limited. This subsidiary
was disposed of on 24 Novemnber 2017 (Note 8 ‘Discontinued Operations’} and finance leases as a lessor activities were
discontinued from this dale.

At 31 December 2017 these receivables amounted to £nil (2016; £494,000).

2016

Unearned
Total future interest Present
payments income value
£'000 £'000 £'000
Within 1 year 234 (3) 231
Between 1 and 5 years 308 {45} 263
542 {48) 494

The majority of the leases typically ran for a non-cancellable period of one Lo five years. Under the contracts, title either passed
fo the lessee at the conclusion of the lease period, or the arrangements included an option 1o purchase the leased equipment
after that period.

19. Operating leases — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into nen-cancellable operating leases, as lessor, on a number of its assets held for contract rental included
in property, plant and equipment and property included in investment property. The terms of these leases vary.

The Group leased oul vehicles under operating leases through one of its subsidiaries Marshall Leasing Limited, which was
disposed of on 24 November 2017 {Nole 8 ‘Discontinued Operations'). Operaling leases as lessor aclivilies (assets held for
contract rental under non-cancellable operating leases) were discontinued from this dale.

Future minimum lease payments receivable for assets held for contract rental under non-cancellable operating leases are as set
out below.

2017 2016

£'000 £'000

Within 1 year - 26,408
Between 1 and 5 years - 71,891
- 98,299

Fulture minimum lease payments receivable for property under non-cancellable operating leases are as set out below.

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Within 1 year 593 275
Between 1 and 5 years 1.520 813
After 6 years 2,057 908
4,170 1,996
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
20. Inventories

2017 2016

£'000 £'000
Finished goods 410,423 389,372
Less: Provisions (9.163) (9,356)
Inventories 401,260 380,016

Finished goods include new and used vehicles held for resale, vehicle parts and other inventory. As at 31 December 2017
£380,641,000 (2016: £364,695,000) of finished goods are held under vehicle financing arrangements (see Note 24 ‘Trade and
Other Payables').

Inventory recognised in cost of sales during the year as an expense was £1,943 million (2016: £1,630 miltion).

21. Trade and ather receivables

2017 2016

£'000 £'000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables due but not past due 51,542 54,509
Trade receivables past due 21,508 18,441
Trade receivables past due bul impaired {1,542) (1,944}
Trade receivables — net 71,508 71,006
Other receivables 11,774 13,648
Amounts due from related undertakings (ncte 33) - 7
Prepayments 8,859 10.412
Trade and other recelvables 92,141 95,073

The creation and the release of the provision for impaired recelvables have been included in net operating expenses. More
information in respect of principal risk management is provided in Note 28 ‘Financial Instruments — Risk Management'.

All financial assets included within trade and other receivables are held at amortised costs. The carrying amount of trade and
other receivables approximates fair valye.

Trade receivables include suppiier income receivables of £17,700,000 (2016: £17,164,000).
Other receivables include finance lease and hire purchase receivables (discontinued — see Note 18 ‘Finance Leases ~ Group as

Lessor’) of £nil (2016 £494,000). Of these £nil (2016: £263,000) are amounis due in more than one year,

22, Cash and cash equivalents

2017 2016
£'000 £'0300
Cash at bank and in hand 4,867 83

Cash and cash equivalents are held at amortised cost. Fair value approximales carrying value.

Cash at bank earns interest at floating interest rates delermined by reference to short-term benchmark rales.
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23. Assets classified as held for sale

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Non-current assels held for sale
Freehold land and building 750 -

Following the closure of the one of the Group's dealerships in December 2017, the decision was {aken to sell the freehold property
owned by the Group and used by the dealership. Based on current market conditions, the sale is expected to be completed within
one year from the balance sheet date. As a result, the freehold property has been reclassified as held for sale and lransferred
from property, plant and equipment into current assets. On reclassification, the freehold property was measured at the lower of
its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell at the date of reclassification (fair value as determined by a deskiop valualion
from Chartered Surveyors). This remeasurement resulted in an impairment loss of £194,000 being recognised in the Consclidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The asset is presented within total assets of the Retail segment in Note 5 ‘Segmental Information’.

24, Trade and other payables

2017 2016
£°000 £'000
Current — trade and other payables
Trade payables:
— vehicle financing arrangements 380,641 364,695
— other trade payables 89,281 85,206
Amounts owed to related undertakings (note 33} 149 102
Other tax and social security payable 4,500 3.601
Other payables 8,205 10,634
Accruals and deferred income 44,838 33,102
Totat current trade and other payables 527,614 497,340
Non-current — other payables
Accruals and deferred income 4,281 7.462
Total non-current other payables 4,281 7,462

Ali financial liabilities included within current trade and other payables are held al amortised costs; carrying value is a reasonable
approximation of fair value.

The Group finances the purchases of new and use vehicle inventories using vehicle funding facilities’ provided by various lenders
including the captive finance companies associaled with brand pariners. These finance arrangements generally have a maturity
of 90 days or less and the Group is normally required to repay amounts outstanding on the earlier of the sale of the vehicles that
have been funded under the facilities or the stated maturily date.

Consistent with industry practice, amounts due to finance companies in respect of vehicle funding are included within trade
payables and disclosed under vehicle financing arrangements. Related cash flows are reporting within cash flows from operating
aclivities within the consofidated statement of cash flows.

Vehicle financing facilities are subject to LIBOR-based {or similar} interest rates. The interest incurred under these agreements
is included within finance costs and classified as stock holding interest.
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25. Loans and borrowings

2017 2016
Nominaland Nominal and
book value book value
£'000 £'000
Current loans and borrowings

Assel backed financing (leasing — discontinued) - 30,680
Mortgages 642 1,225
Bank joan - 35,000
Bank overdraft - 10,825
642 77,730

Nen-current loans and borrowings
Asset backed financing (leasing - discontinued} - 33,833
Marlgages 6.466 7,531
6,466 41,364
Total loans and borrowings 7,108 119,094

Mortgages comprise amounts borrowed from commercial financial institutions and are secured by fixed charges over specified
property assets of certain subsidiaries.

Bank loans and overdrafts comprise amounts borrowed fram commercial banks.

Asset backed financing was secured by a fixed charge over specific vehicles held for leasing. The related finance comprises
chatiel morigages.

Committed facilities

The Group has a revolving credit facility of £95,000,000 of which £nil was drawn at 31 December 2017 (2016: £35,000,000).
The Group also has access to an overdratft facility of £25,000,000 of which £nil was drawn at 31 December 2017 (2016;
£10,825,000). These facilities are available for general corporate purposes inckiding acquisitions or working capital requirements.
Both faciliies are hekd in cash pooling arrangements and balances have been offset in the Consolidated Statemesnt of Financial

Pasition.

The facilities are secured by cross guarantees granted by the certain members of the Group. The facilities are available until
May 2020.The Group is also able to extend the term of the facilities by up to 12 months.

More information in respect of principal risk management is provided in Note 28 ‘Financial Instruments — Risk Management'.

The carrying amount of current loans and borrowings approximate fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
25. Loans and borrowings (continued)

The carrying amounts and fair vaiue of the non-current foans and borrowings are as below. The fair values are based on cash
flows discounted using the prevailing rales.

2017 2016

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

amount value amount value

£'000 £'000 E'000 £'000

Asset backed financing (leasing — discontinued) - - 33,833 32,032

Morlgages 6,466 4,917 7.531 5,254

a) Interest rate profile of borrowings

2017 2017 2016 2016

Average Average

Debt effective Debt effective

£'000 interest rate £'000 interest rate

Asset backed financing (leasing - discontinued} - - 64,513 1.94
Mortgages 7,108 163 8,756 1,75

Bank loan and overdraft - - 45,825 1.75

Weighted average cost of drawn borrowings 7,108 1.63 119,084 1.85

All loans and borrowings are subject to floating rates of interest which are determined by reference to official market rates such
as LIBOR or the Finance House Base Rate.

b} Maturity profile of borrowings

The Group's borrowings have the following maturity profile;

2017 2016

£'000 £'000
& months or less 321 57,484
6 — 12 months 321 20,246
1-5years 2,565 36,340
Over 5 years 3,901 5,024
Total bank borrowings 7,108 119,094
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26. Provisions

Closed Vacant
Other Pension Tax sites Dilapidations property Total
£'000 £°000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Al 1 January 2017 - - 4.242 195 1,094 1,161 6,692
Teansfer from accruals and
deferred income 200 - - - - - 200
Charged lo income statlement
in the year - 6,000 - 428 660 4,442 11,530
Reversed and credited to income
stalement in the year - - - - (701) (46) {747)
Utilised during the year - - (4.005) (96) - (744) (4,845)
As at 31 December 2017 200 6,000 237 527 1,053 4,813 12,830
Provisions have been allocated between current and non-current as below.
2017 2016
£°000 £'000
Current 8.815 5,242
Non-current 4,015 1,450
Total provisions 12,830 6,692

Tax

On acquisition of Pentagon Limited and Ridgeway Garages {(Newbury) Limited during the year ended 31 December 2016, the
Group inherited a potential setilement in respect of various film tax planning initialives previously entered into pre-acquisition.
The estimated seltlement was provided for as at 31 December 2016. In February 2017 a satllement with HMRC was agreed
with most instaiments paid during the year; the final instalment was paid subsequent to the year-end in January 2018.

Closed sites, dilapidations and vacant property

The Group manages its portfolio carefully and either closes or sells sites which no longer fit with the Group's strategy. When sites
are closed or sold provisions are made for any residual costs or commitments,

The Group operates from a number of leasehold premises under full repairing leases. The provision recognises that repairs are
required to put the buildings back into the state of repair required under the leases.

Where property commitments exist at sites which are closed or closing the Group provides for the unavoidable cost of those
leases post closure.

Pension

See Nole 34 ‘Pensions’ for full details of the circurmnstances giving rise to the recognition of this provision. The provision is expected
to be fully utilised within 12 months of the balance sheel dale.
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27. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as below.
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2017 2016

E'000 £'000
Deferred tax assels:
— Deferred tax assel 39 36
Deferred tax liabilities:
— Delerred tax liability to be recovered after more lhan 12 months {20,448) (20,803}
Net deferred tax liabilities {20,409) (20,767)
The gross movement on the deferred tax account is as follows:

2017 2016

£'000 £'000
At 1 January (20,767) (4,266)
Deferred tax arising on acquisition (note 15) - (17,373)
Deferred tax acquired - (563)
Deferred tax disposed (note 8) (1,547} -
Income statement charge (note 12) 1,805 1,517
Credited direclly to equity - (82)
At 31 December {20,499) {20,767)




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
27. Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

a) Deferred tax liabilities

The movement in deferred tax liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offselting of balances within the

same tax jurisdiclion, is as follows:

Fixed assets Assets
Accelerated acquired ona previously
tax business Roll over qualifying for nvestment Intangible
depreciation combination relief iBAs properties assets Goodwill Total
£'000 £°000 £°000 £'000 £'000 E"000 £'000 £000
At 1 January 2016 - 1,773 1,424 362 - 2,437 544 6,540
Acquisition of subsidiaries - 5715 - - - 10,728 930 17,373
Charged/{credited) to the
income statement — current year - (117) {139) {21) 104 (160) 151 {182)
Charged/{credited) 1o the
incorme statement — prior year - - - - 60 - - 60
impact of corporation
tax rate reduction - (571) (79) (38) - (722) (61) (1471}
At 31 Decamber 2016 - 6,800 1,206 303 164 12,283 1,564 22,320
Charged/(credited) to the
income slatement — current year 80 (710) (3) {81) (8) (8) 179 (551)
Charged/{crediled) ta the
income statement — prior year 5 235 - - {71) - (367} {198)
Transfers to deferred tax
assel 720 - - (57) - 663
At 31 December 2017 805 6,325 1,203 222 28 12,275 1,376 22,234
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27. Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

b) Deferred tax assets

The movement in deferred tax assets during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same

tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Accelerated Disposals Other
tax Tax Share-based Investment . Capital ona sale temporary
depreciation losses payments  properties losses basis  differences Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 January 2016 1,510 58 189 71 7 245 130 2,274
Acquisilion of subsidiaries (852) - - - - - 289 (563)
(Charged)/credited to
lhe income statement
— current year 222 - 161 (10} (122) (245) (169) (163)
{Charged)/crediled to
the income statement
— prior year 119 (16) - - 168 - (47} 224
Impact of corporation
tax rate reduction (112} (6} - (4} (1) - (14) (137)
Charged directly lo equity - - (82) - - - (82)
At 31 December 2016 887 36 268 57 116 - 189 1,553
Credited to
the income statemant
— curreni year 41 2 3 42 1,376 1,464
(Charged)/credited to
the income siatement
— prior year (103) 1 (268) - 44 - 18 (308)
Transfers from deferred {ax
liabitity 720 - - (57} - - - 663
Disposal of subsidiaries
{note 8) (1.545) - - - - (2) (1.547)
At 31 December 2017 - 39 - - 163 42 1,581 1,825

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through

future taxable profils is probable.

Trading losses
Available indefinitely
At 31 December

2097 2017 2016 2016
Unrecognised Unrecognised

deferred deferred

Tax losses tax asset Tax losses tax asset
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
1,133 192 1.549 263
1,133 192 1,549 263
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28. Financial instruments - risk management

The Group’s principal financial instruments consist of: cash and cash equivalents, bank averdrafts and loans and borrowings.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is lo manage the Group's funding and liquidity requirements. The Group has
other financial assets and liabtlities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from ils operations.

The Group's aclivilies expose it to the following financial risks:

*  Market risk;
«  Credit risk; and
+  Liquidity risk.

Each of these risks are managed in accordance with Board-approved policies. Risk management policies and systems have
been established and are reviewed regularly fo reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. These policies

are set out below.

The Group's financial risk management processes seek to enable the early identification, evaiuation and effective management
of the significant risks facing the business.

The Group does not use financial derivatives and does not enter into trade financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for speculative purposes.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of movements in the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument or forecast transaction as
underlying niarket prices change. The only market risk to which the Group is exposed is changes in interest rates. The Group's
business activities neither expose it to commodity price risk nor foreign currency tisk.

Interest rate risk is the risk that a change in inerest rales adversely effects the Group's performance or ability to settle financial
obligations and comprises two elements.

Interest price risk

This risk results from financial instruments bearing fixed interest rates; changes in floating interest rates therefore affect the fair
value of these fixed rate financial instruments,

The Group has no debt subject lo fixed interest rates and is, therefore, not exposed to interest price risk,

Interest cash flow risk

This risk results from financial instrurents bearing floating interest rates. Changes in floating interest rates affect cash flows on
interest receivable or payable.

The Group is exposed lo inleresl rale risk on its floating rate debt, namely all loans and borrowings. The interesl rate exposure
of the Group is managed within the constraints of the Group's business plan and the financial covenanis under its facilities. Due
fo the low value of the Group’s loans and borrowings as at 31 December 2017, the Group does not have significant sensitivities
to the impact of future changes in interest rates on floating rate debt.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.
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28. Financial instruments — risk management (continued)

Credit risk {continued)

The Group is exposed to credit risk on its financial assets which consist of cash balances with banks and trade and other
receivables to the extent thal settlement is cash-related. The Group does not have a significant exposure to this type of financial
risk due to the nature of its customer base and the types of transaction that are undertaken.

The maximum exposure lo credit risk on the Group's financial assets is represented by the assels’ carrying amount.

The table below analyses the Group's assets by credit exposure {excluding prepayments and cash in hand):

2017 2016
£000 £'000
Counterparties without external credit rating:
Group 1 1,587 701
Group 2 81,695 83,960
Total unimpaired trade receivables 83,282 84,661
Counterparties with external credit rating:
A/AA- (stable)* 4,867 83
Cash at bank 4,867 83

* Standard & Poor’s rating {long term)

Group 1 — new customersirelaled parlies {less than 6 months).
Group 2 — existing customers/related parties (more than 6 months) with no defaults in the past.

Trade and other receivables

The Group has a high volume of transactions spread across a large customer base, therefore, does not have a significant exposure
to the credit worthiness of any single counterparty.

The group has an eslablished credit policy applied by each business under which the credit status of each new customer is
reviewed (by reference to external credit evaluations, where possible) before credit is advanced. Credit limits are established for
all significant or high-risk customers, which represent the maxirmum amount permitted to be outstanding without requiring additional
approval from the appropriate level of management. These limits are based on external credit reference agency ratings and the
utilisation of approved credit limits is regularly monitored. Outstanding debts are continualty monitored by each business unit.

Trade receivables are considered to be past due once they have passed lheir contractual due date and are reviewed for
impairment if they are past due beyond 30 days. Based on past experience, the Group believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of trade receivables that are not past due. The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that
represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of specific trade and other receivables where it is deemed that a receivable
may not be recoverable. When the debt is deemed irrecoverable, the allowance account is written off against the underlying
receivable.




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
28. Financial instruments — risk management (cantinued)
Credit risk (continued)

Trade and other receivables (continued)

The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

2017 2016

£'000 £'000
Not past due 51,542 54,509
0 — 30 days past due 18,113 14,603
31 - 60 days past due 1,924 1,970
61 — 90 days past due 578 650
Qver 90 days past due 893 1,218
Trade receivables — gross 73,050 72,950
Trade receivables are staled net of the following provision for irrecoverable amounts:

2017 2016

£'000 £'000
At 1 January 1,944 839
(Decrease)increase in provision for receivables impairment (188} 1,915
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable (214) {810)
At 31 December 1,542 1,944

Cash and cash equivalents

Banking relationships are generally limited to those banks that are members of the core refationship group, These banks are
selacted for their credit status and their ability to meet the businesses’ day-to-day banking requirements. The credit ratings of
these institutions are monitored on a continuing basis.

The Group has not recorded impairments against cash or cash equivalents, nor have any recoverability issues been identified
with such balances. Such items are typically recoverable on demand or in line with normal banking arrangements.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with its financial liabilities as
they fall due.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidily risk managemeni rests with the Board, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk management
framework for the management of the Group's short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements.

Liguidity risk s managed by mainaining adequate levels of easily accessible cash reserves and committed banking facilities.
To assess the adequacy of resources, available headroom is continuously monitored through review of forecast and actual cash
flows and through matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabiities. The Group has access to undrawn banking
facilities in order to further reduce liquidity risk. The Group does not anticipate any issues drawing on the committed, undrawn
banking facilities should this be necessary. Full details of the Group's borrowing facilities are given in Note 25 ‘Loans and
Borrowings'.
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28. Financial instruments — risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below analyses the contractual undiscounted cash flows relating to the Group's financial liabilities al the balance sheet

date. The cash flows are grouped based on the remaining period to the contractual maturity date. The Group has sufficlent funds
to meet these commitments as they fall due.

Due Due Due
between between 1 between
Due within 6 months and 2 2and Due after
6 months and 1 year years S years 5 years Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Moartgages 385 382 753 2,187 4,099 7,806
Trade and other payables
(excluding other taxes and social security) 523,114 - 4,281 - - 527,395
At 31 December 2017 523,499 382 5,034 2,187 4,099 535,201
Due Due Due
between between 1 between
Due within 6 months and 2 2and Due after
€ months and 1 year years 5 years § years Total
£°000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Bank ican and overdraft 46,491 - - - - 46,491
Mortgages 254 1,139 1,349 1,295 5,158 9,195
Asset backed financing
(leasing — discontinued) 11,499 19,181 22,242 11,591 - 64,513
Trade and other payables
(excluding other taxes and social security) 493,739 - 7.462 - - 501,201
At 31 December 2016 551,983 20,320 31,053 12,886 5,158 621,400

The above tables do not include forecast data for liabilities which may be incurred in the future but which were not contracted as
at the balance sheet date,

Capital risk management

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings and shareholders' equity The
consolidated statement of changes in equily provides details on equity, Nole 22 provides details of cash and cash equivalents
and Note 25 provides details of ioans and borrowings.

The Group manages its capital structure with the following objectives:

- tosafeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and maintain sufficient available resources as protection for
unforeseen events;

«  to ensure that sufficient capital resources are available for working capital requiremenis and meeting principal and interest
payment obligations as they fali due;

» o provide flexibility of resource for strategic growth and investrment where opportunities arise; and

» to provide reasonable returns to shareholders and benefils for other stakeholders whilst maintaining a limited level of risk.
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28. Financial instruments ~ risk management (continued)

Capital risk management (continued)
There were ne changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

By virtue of the Group's retail mediation activities, the Group is subject to the capital requirements imposed by the Financial
Conduct Authority on all non-investment insurance intermediaries. The Group's capital adequacy is monitored on a quarterly
basis and its capilal resocurces have been consistently in excess of these requirements.

The Directors monitor the Group's capital structure and determine the teve! of dividends payable to shareholders at least twice
a year prior to the announcement of resulits, taking into account the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and the capital
requirements of its strategic business plans. Consistent with others in the industry, the Directors monitor levels of leverage by
reference (o the ratio of net debt to total shareholders’ equily. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings {including both current
and nan-current borrowings) less cash and cash equivalents. As disclosed in the Net Oebt Reconciliation on page 69, the Group
had net debt of £2,241,000 as at 31 December 2017 (2016: £119,011,000).

29. Fair value measurement

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's assets and liabilities.

Fair value measurement using:
Quoted prices Signfficant Significant
in active observable uncbservable

markets inputs inputs
Date of valuation Tatal (Level 1) (Level 2) {Level 3)
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Assets measured at fair value:
Investment properties (note 17) 31 Becember 2017 2,590 - 2,590 -
Assets held for sale {note 23) 31 Decetnber 2017 750 - 750 -
Liabflities for which fair values are disclosed:
Mortgages (note 25) 31 December 2017 4,917 - 4,917 -
Assets measured at falr value:
Invesiment properties (note 17) 31 December 2016 2,590 - 2,590 -
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:
Asset backed financing
(leasing — discontinued)} (note 25) 31 December 2016 32,032 - 32,032 -
Mortgages (note 25) 31 December 2016 5,254 - 5,254 -

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during 2017 ar 2016.
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30. Share capital and reserves

Share capital and share premium

Number Ordinary Share
of shares shares premium Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2016 77,236,263 49,431 19,672 69,103
Issued 27 May 2016 156,599 100 - 100
At 31 December 2016 77,392,862 49,531 19,672 69,203
At 31 December 2017 77,392,862 49,531 19,672 69,203

On 27 May 2016 156,599 ordinary shares of 64p each were issued as part of the IPO Restricted share opfion scheme. There
were ne shares issued in 2017.

All shares issued are fuily paid.
Details of Directors’ interests in shares are shown in the Directors' Remuneration Report on pages 44 to 50.

Share repurchases

No ordinary shares were repurchased by the Company in 2017 (2016: nif).

Shares held by subsidiaries

No shares in the Company were held by subsidiaries in any year.

Retained earnings

There are no significant statutory or coniraclual restrictions on the distribution of current profits of subsidiaries; undistributed
profits of prior years are, in the main, permanently employed in the businesses of these companies.

Inciuded in retained earnings as at 31 December 2017 is a share-based payment reserve of £2,608,000 (2016: £1,869,000)
representing the cumulative charge for all equity-settied share-based payment arrangemenits.

31. Share-based payments

The Group operates an equily-settied share option scheme for certain senior managers and executive directors of the Group
("the Performance Share Plan™). As at 31 December 2017, four share grants have been awarded under the scheme being (a} IPOC
Reslricted Awards (vesting in three lranches) (b) IPO Performance Awards (vesting in two franches) (c) 2016 Performance Awards
and (d} 2017 Performance Awards. Awards are made annually to eligible employees at the discretion of the Remuneration
Committee; employees receive shares at the end of the performance period, subject to the achievement of the specified
underlying basic earnings per share ('EPS"} performance conditions. Performance conditions are designed to incentivise senior
managers and executive directors o maximise long-term shareholder returns. Each option grant under the scheme is disclosed
separalely below.

The total share-based payment charge recognised during the year ended 31 December 2017 was £1,005,000 (2016: £1,313,000).
This is split as £266,000 in accruals and deferred income and £739,000 in relained earnings.

If an option remains unexercised after a period of ten years from the date of grant, the option expires. The weighted average
remaining contractual life of options outstanding as at 31 December 2017 is 8.2 years (2016: 8.6 years).

The fair value of share options is determined by reference to the market value of the Group's shares al the date of grant. No
valuation model is required to calculate the fair value of awards on the basis that the employees receiving the awards are entitled
to receive the full value of the shares and there are no market-based performance conditions attached o the awards. The weighted
average fair value of options outstanding as at 31 December 2017 is £1.65 (2016: £1.65). The fair value of options granted
during the year was £1.69 (2016; £2.06). The fair value of equily settled share oplions granted was based on market value on
29 Seplember 2017 when the share options were granted.
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Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options vest.
All options issued are nil cost options and all awards have an exercise price of £nil.

The share option scheme is in place to encourage option holders to take appropriate and timely action to maximise the long-term
financial performance and success of the Group. As a result, in accordance with the discretion afforded to them under the Group’s
remuneration policy, the Remuneration Commillee regularly reviews any impact of Group restruclurings and reorganisations on
incentive outcomes to ensure that performance conditions are not distorted by action taken to optimise business performance
for the long-term benefit of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee exercised this discretion during the year. Incentive outcomes on the IPO Performance Awards
and the 2016 Performance Awards were adjusted for the impact of the disposal of Marshall Leasing Limited.

As at 31 December 2017 outsianding share options were as foliows:

Mo of shares

over which Date

options are  Exercise from which Expiry
Award Award date outstanding price exercisable date
{PQ Restricted Share Awards — Tranche 2 2 April 2016 156,599 Nil 2 Aprif 2017 2 April 2025
IPQ Restricted Share Awards — Tranche 3 2 April 2015 166,600 Nil 2 April 2018 2 April 2025
IPO Performance Awards — Tranche 1 2 April 2015 604,028 Nil 2 April 2018 2 April 2025
|PO Performance Awards — Tranche 2 2 April 2015 604,028 Nii 2 April 2019 2 April 2025
2016 Performance Awards 13 June 2016 538,835 Nil 13 June 2020 13 June 2026
2017 Performance Awards 29 September 2017 806,141 Nil 29 September 2020 29 September 2027

a) IPO Restricted Awards

The IPC Restricled Share Awards are not subject to any performance conditions; vesting is purely subject to the service condition
of continuous employment.

These options vest in three equat tranches and become exercisable on the first, second and third anniversaries of the date on

which the Company's shares were admitted to trading on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange
(2 April 2015).

2017 2017 2016 2016

No. WAEP No. WAEP

[IPO Restricted Share Awards
Outstanding as at 1 January 313,199 - 469,798 -
Granted during the year - - - -

Forfeited during the year - - - -
Exercised - - (156,599) -
Expired during the year - - _ .
Outstanding as at 31 December 313,199 - 313,199 -
Exercisable as at 31 December 156,599 - - -
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31. Share-based payments (continued)

b) PO Performance Awards

The IPO Perormance Awards are subject lo non-market performance conditions as detailed below as well as the service condition
of continuous employment.

The options vest for achieving growth in EPS from 2014 to 2017; 25% vest for achieving growth of CP! plus 4% per annum
increasing to 100% vesting for achieving growth of CPi plus 10% per annum.

These options vest in two equal tranches and 50% becoma exercisable on the third anniversary of the date on which the
Company's shares were admitted to trading on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange and the
remaining 50% become exercisable on the fourth anniversary.

2017 2017 2016 2016
No. WAEP No. WAEP

{PO Performance Awards
Outstanding as at 1 January 1,406,040 - 1,459,730 -
Granted during the year - - - -
Forfeited during the year (197,984) - (53,690} -
Exercised - - - -
Expired during the year - - - -
Outstanding as at 31 December 1,208,056 - 1,406,040 -

Exercisable as at 31 December - - - -

¢) 2016 Performance Awards

The 2016 Performance Awards are subject to non-market perfermance conditions as detafled below as well as the service
condition of continuous employment.

The options vest for achieving growth in EPS from 2015 fo 2018; 25% vest for achieving growth of CPI plus 3% per annum
increasing to 100% vesting for achieving growth of CPI plus 8% per annum.

These options all become exercisable on the third anniversary of the grant date.

The 2016 Performance Awards are subjecl to a holding period which starts on the grant date and ends on the fourth anniversary

of the grant date.
?

2017 2017 2016 2016
No. WAEP No. WAEP

2016 Performance Awards
Outstanding as at 1 January 660,801 - - -
Granted during the year - - 675,364 -
Forfeited during the year (121,966) - (14,563) -
Exercised - - - -
Expired during the year - - - -
Outstanding as at 31 December 538,835 - 660,801 -

Exercisable as at 31 December - - - -
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d) 2017 Performance Awards

The 2017 Performance Awards are subject to non-market performance conditions as detailed below as well as the service
condition of continuous employment.

The options vest for achieving growth in underlying, basic EPS from 2018 to 2019, 25% vest for achieving growth of CPi pius
1% per annum and the percentage of options which vests increases on a straight line basis up to 100% vesting for achieving
growth of CPI plus 5% per annum.

These oplions all become exercisable on the third anniversary of the grant date.

The 2017 Performance Awards are subject to a holding period which starts on the grant date and ends on the fourth anniversary
of the grant date.

2017 2017 2016 2016
No. WAEP No. WAEP

2017 Performance Awards
Qutstanding as at 1 January - - - .
Granted during the year 806,141 - - -
Forfeited during the year - - . -
Qutstanding as at 31 December 806,141 - - -
Exercisable as at 31 December - - - .

32. Commitments and contingencies
Operating lease commitments — Group as lessee

The Group, as lessee, has non-cancellable operaling lease agreements. The lease terms vary and the majority of lease
agreemenits are renewable at the end of the lease period at market rate.

The lease expenditure charged to the income statement during the year is disclosed in Note 6 'Profit Before Taxation',

The future aggregate minimum fease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are set out below.

2017 2016

£'000 £'000

Within 1 year 11,822 11,494
Later than 1 year and less than 5 years 41,777 40,909
After 5 years 69,906 72,578
123,605 124,981
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33. Related party transactions
Key management campensation is given in Note 10 ‘Employees and Directors’.

During 2016 and 2017 the Directors were members of an employee car ownership scheme under which the following transaclions
were made in the year. The Directors purchased 15 cars in 2017 (2016: 14) at a price of £1,170,000 (2016: £983,000) and sold
back 12 (2016: 14} at a price of £938,000 (2016: £994,000).

The following table shows the aggregate transactions with companies within Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited other
than those which are subsidiaries of Marshall Motor Holdings plc.

Year-end
2017 Sales Purchases balance
£'000 £'000 £'000
Ultimalte parent undertaking
Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings} Limited 278 332 2
Cther related parties
Marshall of Cambridge Aerospace Limited 62 303 (37)
Marshall Thermo King Limited 327 3 254
Marshall Fleet Solutions Limited 3 B -
Marshall Group Properties Limited 100 1,335 {368)
Aeropeople Limited 2 ) )
Marshall Land Systems Limited 3 - -
775 1,981 (148)
Year-end
2016 Sales Purchases balance
£'000 £000 £'000
Uttimate parent undertaking
Marshall of Cambridge {Holdings) Limited a3 337 (24)
Other related parties
Marshall of Cambridge Aerospace Limited 106 315 (78)
Marshall Thermo King Limited 695 28 7
Marshall Fleet Solulions Limited - 13 -
Marshall Group Properties Limited 134 1,312 -
Aeropeaple Limited T - -
Marshall Land Systems Limited 3 - -
1,056 2,005 {95)

Outstanding balances with group entities are unsecured, interest free and are expected to be setlled in cash. During the year
ended 31 December 2017, the Company has not made any provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related
parties (2016: Enil).
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34. Pensions

a) Defined contribution pension schemes

The Group makes contributions to defined contribution pension schemes; contributions paid are calculated by reference tc a
percentage of each employee’s salary. All defined contribution schemes into which the Group makes contributions are managed
by third party providers. The only abligation of the Group with respect to these schemes is to make the specified contributions.
The iotal income statement charge for contributions for the year ended 31 December 2017 was £2,059,000 {2016: £1,714,000).

b} Defined benefit pension schemes

The defined benefil seclion of the Marshall Group Executive Pension Plan ("the Plan”) has multiple parlicipating entilies which
are under common control. There is no contractual agreement or stated policy for charging the net defined benefit pension cost
for the Plan as a whole fo the various participating employers of the Plan. Therefore, in line with the disclosure requirements of
IAS 19 Empioyee Benefits, the net defined benefit cost is recognised in the financial statements of the principal employer
{Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited) and the other participating emplovers {(including the Group) recognise a cost equal
to their contributions payable for the year. Consequently, the Group accounts for all of ils pension contributions as if the
contributions were made {o a defined contribution pension scheme (see Note 2 ‘Accounting Policies'),

The Group made no contributions to the defined benefit section of the Plan during either the current or prior year.

The most recent triennial actuarial valuation of the defined benefit section of the Plan is as at 31 December 2016. The valuation
was agreed by the Truslees after the Group's year end and revealed a global, scheme-wide deficit on a technical provisions basis
of £8.1 million.

Provision for Section 75 Employer Debt

As a result of the sale of Marshall Leasing Limited during the year, the Group no longer has any current employees who are
members of the defined benefil section of the Plan although employees do still parlicipate in the defined contribution section of
the Plan, This fact, combined with the current triennial valuation process, led the Group to commence a strategic review of its
existing pension arrangements, Based on the status of discussions to date, current expectalions are thal it is probable that this
review will result in the Group ceasing participaticn in this pension scheme.

Ceasing to participate in the defined benefit section of the Plan would trigger a debt for the Group under Seclion 75 of the
Pensions Act 1995 ("Employer Debt"}). Based on Initial acluarial estimates, the estimated Employer Debt would be approximately
£6 million. In light of the current status of the Group's discussions with the Trustees of the Plan and the principal employer, it is
considered appropriate to recognise a provision for this estimated Employar Debt.

If the Group were to cease lo participate in the defined benefit seclion of the Plan and on settlement of the Employer Debt, the
Group would have no further commitments or parlicipation in any defined benefit pension plans.

Extract from Principal Employer's IAS 19 Disclosures

The details betow are disclosure items only and do not correspond to amounts reflected in either the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position or Consolidated Stalement of Comprehensive Income of Marshall Motor Holdings plc.

The information presented below is an extract of the JAS 19 valualion as prepared by the Acluary for the principal employer of
the defined benefit section of the Marshali Group Executive Pension Plan and, thereflore, covers the entire defined benefit section
of that pension scheme. The information does not reflect an apportionment of the scheme between the multiple participating
employers, such an apportionment not being possible due lo the scheme’s structure. Details of the full scheme are included in
the Annual Reporl of Marshall of Cambridge (Hoidings) Limited which can be obtained from: Airport House, The Airport,
Cambridge CB6 BRY.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
34. Pensions (continued)

b) Defined benefit pension schemes (continued}

Extract from Principal Employer’s IAS 19 Disclosures (continued)

2017 2016 2015 2014
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Balance sheet obligations
- Fair value of agsets at end of year 40,417 36,975 34,546 34,119
— Present value of obligations at end of year (51,096) (54,485} {46,062) {46,968)
~ Deficit at 31 December 2016 (10,679) {17.510) {11,516) (12,849)
— Related deferred tax asset 2,097 2,877 2,073 2,570
Liability in the balance sheet {8,582) (14,533} (9,443 (10,279}
Income statement charge included in operating profit
- For defined pension benefits (718) (947} (858) (741}
(718) (947} (858) (741}

Marshall of Cambridge (Heldings) Limited operates the Plan which has a section which provides defined benefits to
members in the form of a guaranteed level of pension payable for life. The level of benelfits provided depends on members'
length of service and their salary in the tinal years feading up lo retirament. In the Plan, pensions in payment are generatly
updated in line with the retaif price index. The Board of Trustees must be composed of representatives of Marshall of
Cambridge (Holdings) Limited and plan participants in accordance with the Trust Deed and Rules and legisiation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
34. Penslons (continued)

b) Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)
Extract from Principal Employer's IAS 19 Disclosures (continued)

The significant actuarial assumptions were as sel out below.

2017

Discount Rate 2.50%
RPI Inflation 3.24%
CP{ inflation 2.24%
Salary Growth Rate 2.87%
Pension Growth Rate — RPI min 0%, max 5% 3.24%
Fension Growth Rate — RPI min 3% 3.35%
Pension Growth Rate - RPI! min 2.7%, max 5% 3.26%
Pension Growth Rate - RP! min 0%, max 8.5% 3.24%
Post retirement mortality 82%S2PMAI78%S2PFA
Post retirement improvements CMI 2016 table with 1.5% p.a.
and 1.25% p.a. long term

improvement trend for males

and females respectively
(rebased o 2G08}

2015

Discount Rate 3.60%
RP{ Inftation 3.00%
CP! Inflation 2.00%
Salary Growth Rate 2.60%
Pension Growth Rate — RPI min 0%, max 5% 3.00%
Pension Growth Rate — RPI min 3% 3.35%
Pension Growth Rate — RPI min 2.7%, max 5% 3.21%
Pension Growth Rate — RPI min 0%, max 8.5% 3.00%
Post retirement mortality 73%S1PXA
Post relirernent improvements CM! 2013 table with 1.25% p.a.

and 1.0% p.a. long term

improvement trend for

males

and fermales respectively
(rebased to 2008)

2016
2.54%
3.31%
2.31%
3.06%
3.31%
3.36%
3.31%
3.31%

73%S1PXA

CMI 2013 table with 1.25% p.a.
and 1.0% p.a. long term
improvement trend for males
and females respectively
(rebased to 2008}

2014
3.50%
3.16%
1.96%
2.90%
3.16%
3.29%
3.21%
3.16%

73%S1PXA

CMI 2013 table with 1.25% p.a.
and 1.6% p.a. long term
impravement trend for males
and females respectively
(rebased to 2008)
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34. Pensions (continued)

b} Defined benefit pension schemes {continued)

Extract from Principal Employer’s IAS 19 Disclosures (continued)

Flan assels are comprised as follows:

2017

UK Equities

Overseas Equities

Property

Liability Driven Investments
Dynamic Asset Allocation
Cash and Net Current Assels
Insured Pensions

Total

2016

UK Equities

Overseas Equities

Property

Liabiiity Driven Invastments
Dynamic Asset Allocation
Cash and Net Current Assets
insured Pensions

Total

2015

UK Equities

Qverseas Equities

Property

Liability Driven Investments
Dynamic Asset Allocation
Cash and Net Current Assels
Insured Pensions

Total
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Quoted Unquoted Total %
£'000 £'000 £'000
5,834 - 5,834 14%
14,388 - 14,388 6%
7,076 - 7,076 18%
3,602 - 3,602 9%
6,421 - 6,421 16%
1,128 - 1,128 3%
- 1,969 1,969 4%
38,449 1,969 40,418 100%
Quoted Unquoted Total %
£'000 £000 £'000
5,320 - 5,320 14%
12,216 - 12,216 33%
6,850 - 6,850 19%
4,311 - 4,311 12%
5,860 - 5,860 16%
120 - 120 -
- 2,298 2,298 6%
34,677 2,298 36,975 100%
Quoted Unquoted Total Y%
£'000 £000 £'000
4,737 - 4,737 14%
10,165 - 10,165 30%
7,159 - 7.159 21%
4,280 - 4,280 12%
5,895 - 5,895 17%
129 - 129 -
- 2,181 2,181 6%
32,365 2,181 34,546 100%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Pensions (continued)
b) Defined benefit pension schemes (continued}

Extract from Principal Employer’s |1AS 19 Disclosures (continued)

2014 Quoted Unquoted Total %
£'000 £'000 £000
UK Equities 9,871 - 8,871 29%
Overseas Equities 5,041 - 5041 15%
Property 6,543 - 6,543 19%
Liability Driven Investmenls 4,223 - 4,223 12%
Dynamic Asset Alfocation 5,997 - 5,997 18%
Cash and Net Currenf Assets 155 - 155 -
Insured Pensions - 2,289 2,289 7%
Total 31,830 2,289 34,119 100%

Through the defined benefit pension plan, the Group is exposed lo & number of risks, the most significant of which are
detailed below:

Asset volatility ~ The Plan holds 80% growth assets and these will not provide a hedge to the movement in the discount
rate, Consequently, the difference in the values of the assels and liabilities will be quite volatile. Simitatly
returns on scheme assels will be affected by changes in gilf yields.

Inflation risk The majority of benefits are linked to inflation and so increases in inflation will lead to higher liabilities
(although in most cases there are caps in place which protect against extreme inflation),

Life expectancy Increases in life expectancy will increase plan liabilities, the infiation linkage of the benefits also means
that inffationary increases result in a higher sensitivity o increases in life expectancy.

35. Events after the reporting period

In February 2018, the Group acquired the remaining 1% of the share capital of the following subsidiary undertakings, taking the
Group's shareholdings in these entities up to 100%. Tolal consideration paid was; Marshall of Peterborough Limited £11,000,
Marshall of Ipswich Limited £13,300 and Marshall of Stevenage Limited £25,253.

36. Ultimate parent company

The parent undertaking of the largest group of underiakings for which consaolidated financial statements are drawn up and of
which the Company is a member is Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings} Limiled. This is both the immediate parent undertaking
and the ultimate parent undertaking. In light of its aggregate shareholding in the capital of the Company, Marshall of Cambridge
(Holdings) Limited has entered into a relationship agreement in order to regulate the relationship between it and the Company
and enable the Company to act independently of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited and its affiliates.

Copies of the consolidated financial statements for Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited can be obtained from Alrport
Hause, The Airport, Cambridge CB5 8RY.
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Company Financial Statements

Statement of Financial Position
Asg at 31 December 2017

Fixed assets
Investments

Current assets
Deblors
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Net current Habllities
Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital
Share premium

Profit and loss account
Shareholiders’ funds

Note

10

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
163,528 163,194
6,265 7,104

- 1,329

6,265 8,433
(30,499) (82,753)
(24,234) (74,320)
139,294 88,874
49,531 49,531
19,672 19,672
70,091 19,671
139,294 88,874

The total comprehensive income of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 was £54,208,000 (2016: £6,539,000).

The Company financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 13 March 2018.

Mark Raban
Chief Financial Officer

M- LA
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Company Financial Statements
Statement of Changes in Equity

Profit
Share Share and loss
capital premium account Total
Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2016 49,431 19,672 15,170 84,273
l.css for the financial year - - (5,961) (5,961)
Dividends received - - 12,500 12,500
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 6,539 6,539
Equity dividends paid - - (3,251) (3.251)
New shares issued 100 - (100) -
Share-based payment charge - - 1,313 1,313
At 31 December 2016 49,531 19,672 19,671 86,874
Profit for the financial year - - 54,208 54,208
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 54,208 54,208
Equity dividends paid 12 - - (4,527) (4,527)
Share-based payment charge - - 739 739
At 31 December 2017 49,531 19,672 70,081 139,294




Marshall Motor Holdings plc | Annual Report & Accounts 2017

Notes to the Company Financial Statements

1. Statement of compliance

Marshall Motor Holdings Plc (the Company) is incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom. The Company is a public limited
company, imited by shares, whose shares are lisled on the Alternative Investment Market (AlM) of the London Stock Exchange.
The Company is registered in England under the Companies Act 2006 (registration number 02051461) with the address of the
registered office being; Airport House, The Airport, Cambridge, CB5 8RY, United Kingdom.

The parent company financial statements have been prepared in compliance with FRS 102, the Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

2. Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in Sterling which is both the funclional and presentational currency of the Company and all
values are rounded lo the nearesl thousand pounds (£'000) except where otherwise indicated. The financial information has been
prepared on the going concern and historical cost basis.

The Company is part of the consolidated financial statements of Marshall Motor Holdings Pic.

Exemptions adopted
The following disclosure exemptions have been adopted as permitled by FRS 102:

Presentation of a cash-flow statement and related notes
Financia! instrument-related disclosures

- Key management personnel compensation disclosures
Share-based payments disciosures

Company profit

As permitted under section 408 of the Companies Acl 20086, the Company has elected to neither present a Company Profit and
Loss Account nor Company Statement of Cemprehensive Income.

3. Accounting policies

Except where disclosed otherwise in this note, the accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Company financial
statements are consistenl wilth those applied when preparing the Company financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2016.

Investments in subsidiaries

Invastmants in subsidiaries are recognised at cost less any impairment. Impairments are recognised directly through the Income
Statement.

Taxation

Current taxation
Current tax is recognised for the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the current or past reporting
periods using the fax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all liming differences which are differences between taxable profits and total comprehensive
income that arise from the inciusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in periods different from these in which they are
recognised in lhe financial stalements. There are the following exceptions.

Where, in a business combination, there are differences between amounts that can be deducted for tax for assets (other than goodwill}
and liabilities compared with the amounts that are recognised in the financial statements for those assets and liabilities, a deferred
tax liability or asset is recognised. The amount attributed to goodwill is adjusted by the amount of the deferred tax recognised.
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements
3. Accounting pelicies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred taxation (continued)

Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is considered probable that they will
be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax fiabilities or other future taxable profits. Deferred tax is measured on an
undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected 1o apply in the periods in which timing differences reverse, based on tax
rates and laws enacted or substantively enacled at the balance sheet date.

With the exception of changes arising on the initial recognition of a business combination, the taxation charge or credit is presented
either in the income statement or the statement of other comprehensive income depending on the transaction thal resulted in the
laxalion charge or credit.

Deferred tax liabilities are presented within provisions for liabifities and deferred tax assels within debtors. Deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities are offset only if.

-~ the company has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities, and

— the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income faxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to setile current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the Fabilities simuftanecusly.

Financial instruments

The Company has non-derivative financial instruments caomprising trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans
and borrowings and trade and other payables.

The Company has no financial instruments measured at fair value. ;
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and in hand.

Short-term debtors and creditors

Deblors and creditors with no stated interest rate and which are receivable or payable within one year are recorded at fransaction
price. Any losses arising from impairment are recognised in the income statement.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All interest-bearing loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the present vaiue of cash payable to the bank (inctuding
interest). After initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effeclive interest rate method, less impairment.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the income staternent.

Share-based payments

The Company cperates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plans through which the Company allows
empicyees to receive shares in the Company.

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (calculated excluding the effect of service and non-market based
performance vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The share-based payment charge to be expensed is determined by referance
to the fair value of share options granted and is recognised as an employee expense within underlying earnings, with a
corresponding increase in equity.

The share-based payment charge is recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period (being the period over which all

vesling conditions are to be satisfied). An award subject to graded vesting Is accounted for as though it were multiple, separate
awards, the number of awards being determined in direct correlation to the number of instalments in which the options vest.
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements
3. Accounting policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The share-based payment charge is based on the Company's estimate of the number of options that are expected to vest. At
each balance sheet date, the Company revises ils estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the
pon-market performance vesting conditions and service conditions. The Company’s remuneration policy gives the Remuneration
Committee discretion to revise performance conditions to adjust for the impact of group restructurings and reorganisations on
incentive cutcomes. The impact of any revisions {o original vesting estimates or performance conditions is recognised in the Income

Statement with a correspaonding adjustment ta equity.

Sacial security contributions payable in conneclion with share options granted are considered to be an integral part of the grant
and are, therefore, treated as cash-seltled transactions.

When the oplions are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction
costs, are credited to share capital (nominat value) and share premium.

Where shares options are forfeited, effective from the date of the forfeiture, any share-based payment charge previcusly recognised
in both the current and prior periods in relation to these oplions is reversed though the Income Slatement with a corresponding
adjustment 1o equity.

Dividend distribution

Finat dividends to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid.

Dividend income

Income is recegnised when the Company's right to receive the payment is established, which is generally when shareholders
approve the dividend. All of the Company's income is generated in the UK.

4, Auditor's remuneration

The auditor's remuneration for audit and other services was £3,000 (2016: £3,000).

5. Employees and directors

Employee costs for the Company during the year:

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Wages and salaries 2,098 1,904
Social security costs 454 326
Other pension costs 115 110
Share-based payments 633 1,313
3,300 3,653

The average number of employees (including Executive Directors) was:
2017 2016
No. No.
Management 3 3

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, their share incentives and pension entitlements are set out in the Directars’
Remuneration Report on pages 44 and 50.
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6. Investments in subsidiaries

2017
£°000
Cast
At 1 January 2017 163,194
Share-based payment awards to employees of subsidiaries 334
At 31 December 2017 163,528

On 24 November 2017 the Company disposed of its investment of £127 in Marshall Leasing Limited and its subsidiary Gates
Contract Hire Limited. |

The Company owns directly or indirecily the whole of the issued and fully paid ordinary share capital of the following subsidiary
underlakings. All subsidiaries are incorporated in England and Wales and are 100% owned except where referenced.

The registered office for all subsidiary companies listed above is Airport House, The Airport, Cambridge, CBS 8RY, United Kingdom.
All subsidiaries listed below are included within the consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 124.

Principal activity
at period end
Franchised molor dealership
Property holding
Property holding
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Holding company
Holding company
Property holding
Franchised molor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Dorrmant
Motor parts safes
Maintenance and repair of motor vehicies
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised molor dealership
Motor parts sales
Dormant
Dormant
Holding company
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant
Motor parts sales

Name of Undertaking

Marshall Motor Group Limited

Marshall of Cambridge (Garage Properties) Limited

Tim Brinton Cars Limited* (reg no. 01041301)

Marshall of Ipswich Limited**

Marshall of Peterborough Limited**

5.G. Smith Holdings Limited

5.G. Smith Automotive Limited* (reg no. 00622112)

8.G. Smith (Motors) Limited* (reg no. 00287379)

$.G. Smith (Motors) Beckenham Limited* (reg no. 00648395)
S.G. Smith (Motors) Forest Hili Limited* (reg no. 00581710)
8.G. Smith (Motors) Crown Point Limited” (reg no. 00581711)
S.G. Smith (Motors) Sydenham Limited* (reg no. 00660066)
S.G. Smith {(Motors) Croydon Limited

S.G. Smith Trade Parts Limited* (reg no. 01794317)
Prep-Point Limited* (reg no. 00660067)

Marshall of Stevenage Limited**

Marshall Commercial Vehicles Limited

Marshall North West Limited

Marshall of Scunthorpe Limited” (reg no. 01174004)

Silver Street Aytomotive Limited

Exeter Trade Parts Specialists LLP* {reg no. OC329331)
Audi South West Limited

Hanjo Russell Limited

CMG 2007 Limited* (reg no. 06275636)

Aslle Limited” (reg no. 011114983)

Crystal Motor Group Limited* (reg no. 04813767)
Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limited

Pentagon Limited

Pentagon South West Limited

Ridgeway TPS Limited

Ridgeway Bavarian Limited
Wood in Hampshire Limited
Wood of Salisbury Limited

Franchised motor dealership
Dormant
Dormant

* subsidiaries for which exemption from audit by virtue of s479A of the Companies Act 2006 has been taken for the year endad

31 December 2017,
** these subsidiaries are 99% owned by the Group.
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements
7. Trade and other receivables

2017 2016

£000 £'000

Trade debtors - 1
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 5,371 6,219
Olher debtors 186 252
VAT 56 10
Prepaymenis and accrued income 552 310
Deferred tax asset (note 8) 100 312
6,265 7,104

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, bear no interest and have no fixed repayment date.

8. Deferred tax assets

The analysis and movernents in deferred lax assets during the year are as follows:

Share- Other
based temporary
payments differsnces Total
Deferred tax assets £'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2016 107 15 122
Credited to the income statement — current year 212 - 212
Charged 1o the income statement — prior year (1) {8) (9
Impact of corporation tax rate reduction (11) {2) (13)
At 31 December 2016 307 5 312
Credited to the income statement — current year - 66 66
{Charged)/credited to the income statement — prior year {307} 29 (278)
At 31 December 2017 - 100 100

The Directors believe that ali dividends paid by the Company's subsidiaries will meet the exemplion conditions set out in tax
legislation and are, therefore, non-taxable income.

9. Trade and other payables

2017 2016

£'000 £000

Bank foans - 35,000
Bank overdraft 6,390 -
Trade creditors 77 56
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 20,561 45,224
Carporation tax 1,554 1,765
Other taxes and social security 60 59
Other creditors - 6
Accruals and deferred income 1,857 643
30,499 82,753

The bank loan relates ta a drawdown of the revolving credit facilily as described in Note 25 ‘Loans and Borrowings’ of the
consolidated financial statements.

13
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements
10. Share capital

2017 2016

£'000 £'000

77,392,862 (2016: 77,392,862} ordinary shares of 64p each 49,531 49,531
2017 2016

Ordinary shares £'000 £000
Al 1 January 49,531 49,431
Issued on 27 May 2016 - 100
49,531 49,531

On 27 May 2016 156,599 ordinary shares of 64p each were issued as part of the IPG Restricted share option scheme.

11. Share-based payments

The Company operates a share-based payment scheme; having adopted the disclosure exemptions permitted by FRS 102, full
details of the scheme are included in Note 31 ‘Share-Based Payments’ of the consolidated financial statements and are not
duplicated here.

The share-based payment expense 'recognised by the Company is caiculated by referenca to the number of options awarded to
the employees of lhe Company.

12. Dividends

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Paid during the year
Final dividend for 2015 - 1,858
Interim dividend for 2018 - 1,393
Final dividend for 2016 2,864 -
Interim dividend for 2017 1,663 -
4,527 3,251

A final dividend of £1,858,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015 was paid in March 2016. This represented a payment of
2.40p per ardinary share in issue at that time. A final dividend of £2,864,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016 was paid in
May 2017, This represented a payment of 3.70p per ordinary share in issue at (hat time,

An interim dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 of £1,393,000 representing a payment of 1.80p per ordinary
share in issue at that time was paid in September 2016. An interim dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 of
£1,663,000 representing a payment of 2.15p per ordinary share in issue at that time was paid in September 2017.

A final dividend of 4.25p per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 Is (o be proposed at the annual general meeting
on 22 May 2018. The ex-dividend date will be 26 April 2018 and the associated record dale will be 27 April 2018. This dividend
will be paid subject to shareholder approval on 25 May 2018 and these financial statements do not reflect this final dividend payable,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13. Pensions

Details of the pension schemes are included in Note 34 ‘Pensions’ of the consolidated financial statements and are not duplicated
here.

14. Related party transactions
Company transactions with subsldiaries

The Company has taken advantage of exemption, under the terms of Section 33 of FRS 102, not to disclose related party
transactions with subsidiaries within the Group.

Transactions with Directors

Details of transactions with Directors are inciuded in Note 33 'Related Party Transactions’ of the consolidated financial staterments.

15. Events after the reporting period

in February 2018, the Group acquired the remaining 1% of the share capital of the following subsidiary undertakings, taking the
Group's shareholdings in these entities up to 100%. Total consideration paid was; Marshall of Peterborough Limited £11,000,
Marshall of Ipswich Limited £13,300 and Marshall of Stevenage Limited £25,253.

16. Ultimate parent company

The parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings for which group financial statements are drawn up and of which the
Company is a member is Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited and is therefore considered to be the ullimate parent company.

Copies of the group financial statements for Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited can be obtained from Airport House, The
Airport, Cambridge CB5 8RY.




SHAREHOLDERS INFORMATION

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting (the “AGM"} of Marshall Motor Heldings ple (the “Company”) will be held
at Airport House, the Airport, Cambridge CB5 BRY on 22 May 2018 at 11.00 a.m. for the following purposes of considering and,
if thought fit, passing tha following resolutions which will all be proposed as ordinary resolutions:

1. Report and accounts
To receive the audited annual accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 together with the directors’ reports
and the auditors’ report on those annual accounts,

2, Declaration of dividend
To declare a final dividend of 4.25p per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2017 payable on 25 May 2018 to
shareholders who are on the register of members of the Company on 27 April 2018.

3. Re-appointment of director
To re-appoint Daksh Gupta as a director, who retires by rotation in accordance with the Company's articles of association and
offers himself for reappointment.

4. Re-appointment of auditors
To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as auditors of the Company to hold office from the conclusion of this Annual General Mesting
until the conclusion of the next general meeting at which accounts are laid before the Company.

5. Auditors’ remuneration
To authorise the direclors to determine the remuneration of the auditors.

Dated 19 March 2018 Registered Office:
By Order of the Board Airport House
The Airport

Fa'

Stephen Jones <%‘ -5 * Cambridge
Company Secretary —\x CBS5 8RY
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Notice of Annual General Meeting (continued)

Notes

1.

Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (as amended), onfy those members registered
in the register of members of the Company at close of business on 18 May 2018 (or if the AGM is adjourned at close of
business, two working days before the time fixed for the adjeurned AGM} shall be entitied to attend and vote at the AGM in
respect of the number of shares registered in their name &t that time. Any changes to the register of members afler such time
shall be disregarged in determining the rights of any person lo attend or vole al the AGM.

If you wish to attend the AGM in person, you should make sure that you arrive at the venue for the AGM in good time before
the commencement of the meeting. You may be asked to prove your identity in order to gain admission.

In the case of joint hofders of shares, the vote of the first named in the register of members who lenders a vote, whether in
person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exciusion of the voles of other joint holders.

A member that is a company or cther organisation not having a physical presence cannol attend in person but can appoint
somecne lo represent il. This can be done in one of two ways; Either by the appointment of a proxy {described in Note &
below} or of & corporate representative. Members considering the appointment of a corporate representative should check
their own legal position, the Company's articles of association and the relevant provision of the Companies Act 2006.

Copies of the executive direclors’ service contracts with the Company and any of its subsidiary undertakings are availabte for
inspeclion at the registered office of the Company during the usual business hours on any weekday (Saturday, Sunday or
public holidays excluded) from the date of this notice until the conclusion of the AGM and will also be available for inspection
at the place of the AGM from 9 a.m. on the day of the AGM until its conclusion.

CREST members who wish to appaoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST proxy appointment service may do sa for the
Meeting (and any adjournment thereof) by following the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal
members or other CREST sponsored members (and those CREST members wha have appointed a voling service provider)
should refer to their CREST spensor or voling service provider, who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf,
In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made by means of CREST to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a
"CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be praperly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & lreland Limited's (*Euroclear”)
specifications and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The
message (regardless of whether it relales to the appointment of a proxy or lo an amendment to the instruction given to a
previously appointed proxy) musl, in order o be valid, be transmitted so as lo be received by Link Asset Services {ID RA10),
by 11.00 a.m. on 18 May 2018, For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp
applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which Link Market Services is able 1o retrieve the message by
enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST, After this time any change of instructions to proxies appointed through
CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means. CREST members (and, where applicable, their
CREST sponsors or voting service providers) should note that Euroclear does not make available special procedures in
CREST for any parlicular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of
CREST Proxy Instructions. it is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned fo take (or if the CREST member is a
CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a voling service provider, to procure that his CREST
sponsor or voting service pravider takes) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means
of the CREST system by any particular lime. In this connection, CREST members (and, where applicabie, their CREST
sponsors or voting service providers) are referred, in particular, to those seclions of the CREST Manual (available at
www.euroclearcom/CREST) concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

The Company may trea! as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5){a) of the
Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (as amended).
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